
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
  

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

19 July 2022 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet on 
Wednesday, 27th July, 2022 at 6.30 pm 

in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR 
 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Paul Skinner 
Deputy Leader – Councillor Nigel Welton 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs and 
Jonathan Noble 

 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 14) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

D   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Friday 22 July 2022.  
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING ITEM)*  
 

2   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) 
(STANDING ITEM)  
 

3   UK SHARED PROSPERITY UPDATE (UKSPF) INVESTMENT PLAN (Pages 15 - 
62) 
 

 (A report by Michelle Sacks, Deputy Chief Executive (Growth)) 
 
Porfolio Holder: Cllr Nigel Welton  
 

4   CULTURAL FRAMEWORK FOR INVESTMENT (Pages 63 - 98) 
 

 (A report by Lydia Rusling, Assistant Director for Economic Growth)  
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Richard Austin  
 

5   GENERAL FUND REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2021/22 (Pages 99 - 122) 
 

 (A report by Chris Ayriss, Strategic Finance Manager PSPS and Peter Davy, 
Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Client) PSPS)  
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Jonathan Noble 
 

6   UPDATE ON THE BOSTON FISHING INDUSTRY  
 

 (A Verbal report from Councillor Nigel Welton, Portfolio Holder)  
 

 
 

* In accordance with the Constitution, recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees referred to Cabinet (if any) shall be included at this point in the 
agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the Cabinet 
deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within six weeks of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its report / recommendations. 

 
Call-In –any decision taken by the Cabinet concerning an item on this agenda can be 
‘called in’ in accordance with the Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision 
notice being published.  It is expected that the decision notice will be published on                                   
Friday 29th July 2022  Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in a decision 
is 5 p.m. on Friday 5th August 2022.  
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Tel. no: 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



 BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
NOTICE OF DECISIONS TAKEN BY CABINET ON 4 JULY 2022 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION: WEDNESDAY, 6 MAY 2022 

 
DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN:  WEDNESDAY, 13 JULY 2022 

 
NOTES: 
 
MINUTE NUMBER 11 HAS BEEN GRANTED EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN ON THE 
GROUNDS OF URGENCY. 
 
A COPY OF THE CABINET AGENDA HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED TO 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL.  IF YOU REQUIRE ANY FURTHER 
INFORMATION ON ANY ISSUE PLEASE CONTACT, IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER OR OFFICER NAMED IN THE RIGHT HAND COLUMN. 
 

 
MEETING OF THE CABINET 4 July 2022 
 
 
Present: 
Councillor Paul Skinner, in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs, 
Jonathan Noble and Nigel Welton 
 
Officers –  
Deputy Chief Executive - Communities, Assistant Director - Planning and Strategic 
Infrastructure, Assistant Director - Regulatory, Assistant Director - Wellbeing and 
Community Leadership, Insights and Transformation Manager, Climate Change and 
Environment Manager, Senior Licensing Officer, Transformation Officer, Democratic 
Services Officer  
 
1  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 4 May 2022 were agreed and signed by the 
Chairman. 
 
2  APOLOGIES 

 
None. 
 
3  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
Councillor Richard Austin declared an interest in the report relating to the S&ELCP 
Crowdfunding Scheme as he was a member of the Boston Woods Trust.  

Page 1

Agenda Item A



 
4  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
A question had been submitted by Mr. Darron Abbott.  
 
Question to the Leader:  
 
“Just in case you have forgotten Boston Borough Council submitted a Bid to gain City 
Status last December which I believe was unsuccessful. At the time I raised the question 
of how much this project had cost the rate payers of Boston in officers time, at the time 
the answer was the "costs were insignificant" and "the officers had done a considerable 
amount in their own time."  
 
The fact that officers felt they had to complete the project in their own time seems totally 
unfair and along with the fact that it is obvious that no one has a scooby do of what time 
is ever taken to complete any project, suggests very poor management of resources an 
time management. 
 
As we are now in the 21st Century do you not think it is about time that Boston Borough 
Council joined the outside world and operated some kind of Job card system in order to 
ensure officers time is used in the most efficient and cost effective manner?” 
 
Response by the Leader:  
 
“The efforts of our staff are frequently recognised and appreciated by Councillors. I 
would not support a job card system.” 
 
Supplementary question asked by Mr. Abbott: 
 
“I think at this point I should thank the Leader for his answer, but I am not sure whether I 
should laugh or cry. 
 
I have a copy of a face book posting where one of your Deputy Chief Executives has a 
stab at the cost of the city bid, this being £393.90, but proves how your senior officers 
have no idea of how to run a business and is quite embarrassing. 
 
Your response does surprise me, with your track record of running so many successful 
businesses even PLCs you must have some system of controlling costs, one of those 
being staff, but I suppose with those businesses the money had to be earned not given 
to you on a plate by local residents.   
 
Is your answer what you really think or is it the fact that you do not want to upset the 
officers of this Council by asking them what they do in exchange for their salaries?” 
 
Response by the Leader:  
 
“I have recently spent the afternoon at the S&ELCP Employee Awards event where staff 
efforts were recognised. People who won awards were nominated by their peers. I have 
no fear that all staff are dedicated to their jobs. 
 

Page 2



 
 

The city bid is layered like an onion, there are many different layers that need to be set 
out. The city bid wasn’t a failure, it raised the profile of Boston which was the main point 
of the exercise. The LGA Conference in Harrogate were aware of Boston and the work 
that officers have been doing recently. We are starting to gain traction.” 
 
 
5  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING 

ITEM)* 
 

Reports had been considered by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
comments were included as appropriate.  
 
6  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE 

(BTAC) (STANDING ITEM) 
 

There were no recommendations from the Boston Town Area Committee.  
 
7  REVIEW OF MAXIMUM HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARE STRUCTURE 
  

 
DECISION 
 
That a variation to the maximum hackney carriage fares, as recommended 
by the Regulatory and Appeals Committee and outlined at option 2 in the 
report, be approved, with the addition of continual review by officers.  The 
variation to be subject to the necessary statutory notices being advertised 
and no objections being received.  
 

Portfolio 
Holders 
and 
Officer 
 
PS / 
AMcD 
 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 

The Leader introduced a report by the Senior Licensing Officer setting out proposals for 
variations to be made to the maximum hackney carriage fares, at the request of the Boston 
Hackney Carriage Association (BHCA). 
 
Under the provisions of section 65(1) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 a council may fix fares for time and distance and other charges, in respect of the 
hire of hackney carriages.  For the purpose of setting fares the ‘council’ meant the executive 
by virtue of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 (as amended). 
 
The current hackney carriage tariffs were set out in the report, together with a proposal for 
an increase in the maximum fare submitted by the BHCA and an option formulated by 
Officers.  
 
The proposed options had been considered by the Regulatory and Appeals Committee on 7 
June 2022, and Option 2, the Officers suggested alternative, was recommend to Cabinet for 
approval.  
 
In recognition of the increasing cost of fuel, the Regulatory and Appeals Committee agreed 
a further recommendation that an additional discretionary fee of 20 pence to be paid for 

Page 3



each journey when the cost of diesel exceeded £1.80 per litre with a further 20 pence 
increase for every respective 10 pence per litre in the cost of diesel thereafter.   At the time 
of publication of the Regulatory and Appeals Committee report the cost of diesel per litre 
was £1.78; at the time of publication of the Cabinet report the cost had risen to £1.94 per 
litre. 
 
Taxi proprietors and drivers had been consulted on the proposed fare increases.  Once 
Cabinet had made a decision a public notice would be published in the local press and 
made available to view at the Council offices for the public to inspect, any representations 
would be required to be received within 14 days of the notice being published.  
 
Cabinet proposed that the fares should be kept under regular review by officers.  
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
As set out in the report. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
8  TREE AND HEDGEROW STRATEGY 

 

 

DECISION 

 

That the Tree and Hedgerow Strategy be approved. 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

PS / SB 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Leader introduced a report by the Climate Change and Environment Manager seeking 
approval for the adoption of a Tree and Hedgerow Strategy for the South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP), which set out the ambition and high level 
commitment of the three councils. 
 
The report stated that the development of a Tree and Hedgerow Strategy for the SELCP 
was detailed in the Annual Delivery Plan for 2022-23.  The proposed strategy set out the 

Page 4



 
 

vision: ‘our communities are richer in greener spaces to live, visit and invest through the 
sustainable presence of trees and hedgerows which helped people and wildlife adapt to the 
future challenges of the changing environment.’  This was underpinned by a set of aims and 
objectives to provide the foundations for developing the work programme across the sub 
region.  A copy of the proposed strategy was appended to the report.  
 
The three core objectives of the strategy were to Protect, Plant and Participate; recognising 
the need to manage and enhance existing resources, to ensure a carefully considered 
approach to new planting and to engage local communities and wider stakeholders in the 
delivery of the strategy going forward. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
To not take forward a Tree and Hedgerow Strategy and continue to develop projects, 
policies and procedures in a piecemeal fashion across the sub-region. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
9  QUARTER 4 REPORT – PERFORMANCE, PROJECTS AND RISK 

 

 

DECISION 

 

That the quarterly monitoring information for Q4 2021/22 be noted.  

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

PS /  SR 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Councillor Paul Skinner and Councillor Jonathan Noble jointly introduced a report by the 
Insights and Transformation Manager setting out the performance, projects and risk 
monitoring information for Quarter 4 of 2021/22, as at March 2022).  
 
The report stated that of the 22 KPIs set 8 were on or better than target; 3 were within 
tolerance and 9 were worse than target.  Full details of the performance information was set 

Page 5



out in Appendix A of the report.  
 
A joint project management framework was in place across Boston and East Lindsey 
Councils which included monthly reporting to the Senior Leadership Team and quarterly 
reporting to Cabinet and relevant scrutiny committees.  The end of year update for projects 
was attached at Appendix B of the report. Additional Annual Delivery Plan items and 
progress rating that was not part of the project reporting, was also included in Appendix B 
for completeness. 
 
The Strategic Risk Register had been reviewed and signed off by the Senior Leadership 
Team in May 2022, and was attached at Appendix C of the report.  
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
10  APPOINTMENTS TO EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS 

 

 

DECISION 

 

That the appointments to the external organisations, as listed in 
Appendix A and below, be approved; such appointments to hold good 
only whilst the appointees remain Members of the Borough Council, 
until the next Annual Meeting of the Council, or until the appointment 
of their successors.  
 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

PS /  LB 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Under the Constitution, those appointments to outside bodies connected with functions that 
were the responsibility of the executive (Cabinet) were to be determined by Cabinet rather 
than full Council.  
 

Page 6



 
 

The Leader presented a report, which sought approval for to make appointments to the 
external organisations as indicated in Appendix A as follows: 
 

Organisation Period of 
Appointment 

Previous 
Appointees 

Nominees 

Local Community Framework 
Investment Panel (Empower 
Community Foundation/Lincolnshire 
housing Partnership) 
 

Civic Year P. Skinner P. Skinner 

Local Government Association Coastal 
Special Interest Group 

Civic Year - P. Skinner 
Welton 
(sub) 

PATROL (Parking and Traffic 
Regulations outside London) 
 

Civic Year Noble Noble 

Tritton Knoll Local Liaison Committee 
 

Civic Year Cooper Cooper 

 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Not to make appointments to the external organisations.  

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
11  LEVELLING UP FUND (LUF) – ROUND 2 SUBMISSION 

 

 

DECISION 

 

1. That the purpose of the Levelling Up Fund and its requirements 
be noted; 

 
2. That the engagement with Members in relation to the Levelling 

Up bid - including briefings, Scrutiny (Environment and 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

NW /  MS 

 

Page 7



Performance) and Full Council be noted and note comments 
raised as outcomes from that engagement; 

 
3. That the round 2 Levelling Up Fund bid and its general direction 

of travel be supported and Officers authorised to finalise and 
submit the bid to Government by 6th July deadline; 

 
4. That the set aside of provision for 10% match funding (through 

in kind land contribution to the scheme) plus additional funding 
required to be allocated from the Capital Investment Reserve to 
a total combined value of £2m, be approved, subject to an offer 
of Levelling Up Funding being made from Government. 

 
5. That delegated authority be granted to the Deputy Chief 

Executive – Growth, in consultation with the Deputy Leader, to 
make any necessary amendments to the Council’s proposed bid 
to enable the best possible submission to be made.  

 

 
The above decision has been granted exemption from call-in on the grounds of 
urgency.  
 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Councillor Nigel Welton introduced a report by the Assistant Director – Planning and 
Strategic Infrastructure providing an overview of the direction of travel for the Council’s 
proposed Levelling Up Fund (LUF) round 2 submission which focused on the re-
development of ‘PE21’. 
 
The report stated that the Levelling Up Fund was part of the government’s wider Levelling 
Up agenda.  It was a capital fund designed to invest in infrastructure that improved everyday 
life across the UK.  The £4.8 billion fund would support town centre and high street 
regeneration, local transport projects, and cultural and heritage assets.  It was a competitive 
bid-process where authorities could seek to secure up to £20m from the fund. 
 
The report contained the background to the Council’s round 1 submission, which had been 
unsuccessful, and the feedback received from Government which had been positive with 
minor suggestions being made in respect of narrowing down the focus of the bid to PE21 
only; revisiting values and costs; revisiting engagement with the community and seeking 
support from more partners and the MP.  
 
Taking into account the response from Government to the round 1 bid, the submission had 
been reviewed by external advisors and discussions held with the Scarborough Group to 
consider working up a private/public sector proposal for the entire PE21 area to be delivered 
through a Joint Venture arrangement.   
 
A re-working of the PE21 masterplan for the western end of the site had been 
commissioned, jointly with NHS colleagues and LCC (transport) to look at opportunities for a 
new health centre and how this could be brought forward as a deliverable proposal, working 
alongside neighbouring parcels.  The work was being led by Wilmott Dixon in order to 
provide information to feed into a LUF 2 bid as well as future funding opportunities / scheme 

Page 8



 
 

development.  
 
As work was progressing on the LUF 2 bid it was not possible to provide Members with a 
precise picture of what would be included in the bid and what the financial model and ‘ask’ 
would be, but it was likely to be in the region of £15m.  However, in all eventualities the 
‘match funding’ (10%) requirement would not exceed the £2m previously indicated as being 
acceptable (within LUF 1 to come from land value and a top up if necessary from reserves) 
owing to the maximum £20m bid allowance that could be made.  
 
The likely direction and key elements of the bid were set out in the report under the 
headings of:  
 

• Delivery of a significant enhancement of the public realm (spanning the are between 
the river and the Len Medlock Centre); 

• Crown House – as per round 1; 

• B&M redevelopment – evolution of round 1 
 
Those interventions would use the LUF funding as a catalyst to unlock the remainder of the 
PE21 area, including adjacent sites.  Collectively this would then leverage the ability to bring 
forward other potential interventions in the future which could include:  
 

• New health facilities with linkages to third sector organisations including those hosted 
by the Boston Volunteer Centre Charity; 

• Housing, community / public sector and commercial uses; 

• Improvements to the bus station;  

• Improvements to the wider area including West Street. 
 
It was noted that a number of key stakeholders had offered letters of support for the bid and 
support was also being sought from the MP (a bid gateway criterion).  This was in addition 
to wider community engagement that had been undertaken through a range of social media 
activities.  
 
The bid had been the subject of Member Briefings and consideration by the Environment 
and Performance committee at its meeting held on 21st June 2022. A supplementary paper 
setting out the comments from Members had been circulated for information. 
 
Council considered the proposals for consultation purposes at the meeting held on 27 June 
2022 and unanimously affirmed support for the bid to be submitted. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Do nothing – This would involve the Council not making a bid, and therefore not being able 
to access the up to £20m available.  
 
Amend proposals – There was potential for other alternative proposals to be considered, 
however, this had been discounted owing to the time pressures for the submissions as set 
out in the report.  The proposals had been developed in partnership with external advisors to 
enable the Council to put forward a robust bid, significant changes / deviations to the 
approach were not possible whilst allowing for the bid deadline to be met.  Alternatives could 

Page 9



however be considered for future LUF rounds.  
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
12  SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP (S&ELCP) 

CROWDFUNDING SCHEME  
 

 

DECISION 

 

That: 
 
1. Working with East Lindsey District Council and South Holland 

District Council as partners in the South and East Lincolnshire 

Councils Partnership (S&ELCP), a Crowdfunding scheme be 

established with one or both partners. 

 

2. Boston Borough Council contract with ‘Spacehive’ to provide 

external management of the scheme on behalf of the Councils. 

3. Delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive – 

Communities and the Assistant Director for Wellbeing and 

Community Leadership, in consultation with the relevant 

Portfolio Holders across the Partnership, to agree final 

arrangements for the Crowdfund Scheme, including process, 

criteria, final cost of scheme, and the awarding of grants.  

4. A review of the benefits of the scheme be undertaken after an 

initial period of two years. 

 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

MG /  ES 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Councillor Martin Griggs introduced a report by the Deputy Chief Executive – Communities 
setting out a proposal to procure a crowdfunding partner to develop a South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Crowdfunding Scheme which would enable funds to be 
raised for community based initiatives. 
 

Page 10



 
 

The report stated that civic crowdfunding was becoming increasingly popular due to the 
numerous economic and social benefits it could deliver.  Many local authorities across 
England had successfully used crowdfunding platforms to engage with local residents and 
businesses to develop projects and seek financial support group online pledges to match 
local authority contributions.   
 
The benefits to exploring civic crowdfunding had been identified as:  
 

• Ability to generate additional funds towards projects 

• Improving community capacity and resilience 

• Community engagement and involvement 

• Improved community cohesion and resilience 

• Improved transparency of decision making 

• Improving awareness of issues that were important to local communities 

• Generating significant match funding by the ‘crowd’ for the benefit of the whole 
community, typically three times that pledged by the local authority.  

 
It was proposed that a budget of £41,333 from the externally funded Empowering Healthy 
Communities Programme would be used to maximize the opportunity to support community 
projects and initiatives and to develop a civic crowdfunding scheme. 
 
To facilitate a crowdfunding scheme it would be necessary to partner with a company to 
develop a crowdfunding platform.  Spacehive had been identified as the only dedicated civic 
crowdfunding platform in the UK and was the only provider on the Government’s G Cloud 
procurement framework, which would enable an exemption from a competitive tender 
process.   Detailed information relating to Spacehive was set out in Appendix D to the 
report.   Approval was sought to procure the services of Spacehive on behalf of the 
sovereign councils within the SELCP. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Not to establish a partnership Crowdfunding Scheme 
 
Continuation of the existing Empowering Healthy Communities Councillor Grant Scheme for 
2022/23. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

Page 11



 
13  SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE HEALTHY LIVING BOARD 

 

 

DECISION 

 

1. That the detailed proposals set out in the report, supporting the 
establishment/intended role of the South and East Lincolnshire 
Healthy Living Board (Healthy Lives Priority Partnership) and 
accompanying terms of reference, be approved.  

 
2. The delegated authority be granted to the Deputy Chief 

Executive (Communities) to finalise a programme for the 
development of a Healthy Living Action Plan for the sub-region 
and a programme for the sub-regions Leisure and Culture offer, 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holders for Town Centre and 
Housing and Communities through the ‘Healthy Living Board’. 

 

Portfolio 

Holders and 

Officer 

 

TA / MG / ES 

 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
Councillor Martin Griggs introduced a report by the Deputy Chief Executive – Communities 
seeking approval to the terms by which the South and East Lincolnshire Healthy Living 
Board is established. 
 
Cllr Griggs said following agreement at Full Council on 11th April 2022 to establish a ‘Healthy 
Lives Priority Partnership’, the proposed detail for the partnership in the form of a Healthy 
Living Board was set out in the report.  The intention was to bring partners together each 
with an equal voice to focus on reducing health inequalities and improve health outcomes 
across the sub region.  The draft terms of reference for the Board, including suggested 
membership, was set out in Appendix A of the report.  
 
A proposed key work-stream would be to support the development of a co-ordinated sub-
regional offer for leisure and culture for the benefit of the communities of South and East 
Lincolnshire and those who visited the area. 
 
Many of the conversations that would take place at the proposed Healthy Living Board were 
already ongoing between Members, Partnership Officers and Partners, however the 
approach set out in the report provided a more formalised framework to support the work in 
line with the Partnership’s governance structure.  
 
The proposals also recognised the changes which were being introduced through the Health 
and Care Act 2022, which had received Royal Assent on 28 April 2022, and the 
opportunities to bring greater strength to local plans in relation to the levelling up agenda, 
the towns fund Projects and other initiatives by taking forward a sub-regional co-ordination 
role on matters relating to health and well-being, including leisure and culture. 
 

 

Page 12



 
 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 

The meeting ended at 7.55 pm 
 

 

Signed by the Deputy Chief Executive  
 
 
 

6 July 2022 

 
 

 
These decisions will come into force (and may then be implemented) on the expiry of 
five clear working days after the date of this notice UNLESS the decisions are 
subjected to the Call-In procedure or are starred minutes requiring Full Council 
approval.  
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 27th July 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

UK Shared Prosperity Update (UKSPF) Investment Plan 

To provide an update on UKSPF and Investment Plan 

KEY DECISION: Yes 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Nigel Welton 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Deputy Chief Executive (Growth) 

Deputy Chief Executive (Growth) 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

To present the UK Shared Prosperity Fund draft submission and provide background on the 

consultation process. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To approve the draft UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan. 

 

2. To delegate to the Deputy Chief Executive (Growth), in consultation with the Portfolio 

Holder for Economic Growth, the authority to make any amendments that might arise 

prior to the submission to Department of Levelling Up, Communities and Housing. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To enable the submission of the Investment Plan within the timescales, 1st August at the latest, 

to enable the Council to receive the allocation of £2.2 million for the benefit of the communities 

of  the Borough of Boston. 

 

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

To do nothing would be mean that the Investment Plan would not be submitted and the Council 

would lose the opportunity to receive £2.2 million of funding for the Borough. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is now open and it provides funding for economic 
development across the whole of the UK. The focus of the fund is in part the replacement for 
the old European Social Fund, with an emphasis on skills based training and development. 
However, the UKSPF is wider and more flexible than its EU forerunners.  

1.2 The South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) is to receive £9.3 million over the 
next three years. The Fund is a key part of the Government’s ‘Levelling Up’ agenda, providing 
money for local councils to invest in: 

• Local communities and places 

• Support for local businesses 

• People and skills 

The breakdown of the funding between the Councils is as follows:- 

Boston Borough Council - £2.2 million 

East Lindsey District Council - £4.4 million  

South Holland District Council - £2.7 million. 

1.3 The Investment Plan is a strategy document that details how the allocation of the funding will 
deliver outcomes for our people and place under the three themes, set out above.  

It should be noted the funding element for the people and skills theme does not commence 
until next year.  The funding may be spent on activities or buildings and equipment but is 
predominantly for revenue projects and there is a suggested split between revenue and 
capital for each year; 

2022/23 Revenue 90% Capital 10% 

2023/24 Revenue 87% Capital 13% 

2024/25 Revenue 80% Capital 20% 

1.4 The timescale to deliver has been challenging. From 13th June 2022 until approximately 4th 
July the SELCP has consulted with local stakeholders, partners and the local community to 
identify what our community and stakeholders would like to see delivered - projects and 
initiatives that matter to local people and will really make a difference. Across the partnership 
there have been 756 questionnaires submitted, and taking into account social media, the 
response rate rises to over 1,000. The submissions have been analysed and the summary may 
be found at Appendix 2. 

 

Page 16



The SELCP must submit the Investment Plan to Government by 1st August. 

In October/November 2022 the funding will be confirmed and following a competitive 
process we will be appointing the partners who will deliver the agreed projects over the three- 
year period. 

2. REPORT 

2.1 The UKSPF is a central pillar of the UK government’s ambitious Levelling Up agenda and a 
significant component of its support for places across the UK. It seeks to maximise  
opportunities by investing in domestic priorities and targeting funding where it is needed 
most: building pride in place, supporting high quality skills training, supporting pay, 
employment and productivity growth and increasing life chances. Places are empowered to 
identify and build on their own strengths and needs at a local level, focused on pride in place 
and increasing life chances. Local places will be able to use the Fund to complement funding 
such as the Levelling Up Fund, and mainstream employment and skills provision to maximise 
impact and simplify delivery. 

2.2 The Prospectus sets out the link to the Levelling Up Missions Statements as follows: 

 

 

2.3 The objectives of the three themes are set out in the Prospectus as follows; 

Communities and Place 

• Strengthening our social fabric and fostering a sense of local pride and belonging, 
through investment in activities that enhance physical, cultural and social ties and access 
to amenities, such as community infrastructure and local green space, and community-
led projects. 

Page 17



 

• Building resilient, healthy and safe neighbourhoods, through investment in quality 
places that people want to live, work, play and learn in, through targeted improvements 
to the built and natural environment innovative approaches to crime prevention. 

 
Supporting Local Business 

• Creating jobs and boosting community cohesion, through investments that build on 
existing industries and institutions, and range from support for starting businesses to 
visible improvements to local retail, hospitality and leisure sector facilities. 

 

• Promoting networking and collaboration, through interventions that bring together 
businesses and partners within and across sectors to share knowledge, expertise and 
resources, and stimulate innovation and growth. 

 

• Increasing private sector investment in growth-enhancing activities, through targeted 
support for small and medium-sized businesses to undertake new-to-firm innovation, 
adopt productivity-enhancing, energy efficient and low carbon technologies and 
techniques, and start or grow their exports. 

 
People and Skills 

• Boosting core skills and support adults to progress in work, by targeting adults with no 
or low level qualifications and skills in maths, and upskill the working population, 
yielding personal and societal economic impact, and by encouraging innovative 
approaches to reducing adult learning barriers (Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 
only. In England, this is delivered through the Department for Education’s Multiply 
programme). 

 

• Reducing levels of economic inactivity through investment in bespoke intensive life and 
employment support tailored to local need. Investment should facilitate the join-up of 
mainstream provision and local services within an area for participants, through the use 
of one-to-one keyworker support, improving employment outcomes for specific cohorts 
who face labour market barriers. 

 

• Supporting people furthest from the labour market to overcome barriers to work by 
providing cohesive, locally tailored support including access to basic skills. 

 

• Supporting local areas to fund gaps in local skills provision to support people to progress 
in work, and supplement local adult skills provision e.g. by providing additional volumes; 
delivering provision through wider range of routes or enabling more 
intensive/innovative provision, both qualification based and non-qualification based. 
This should be supplementary to provision available through national employment and 
skills programmes. 

 
2.4 In considering which projects will be selected to be funded through UKSPF, the Prospectus 

has been clear that there must be significant public consultation to ensure the Investment 
Plan meets the needs of the community and stakeholders to fully maximise the benefits of 
the fund. 

 

Page 18



2.5 As detailed above, consultation took part in June and early July and the following stakeholders 
were identified and encouraged to submit ideas and share further. 

Greater Lincolnshire LEP Lincolnshire County Council The 3 MPs Victoria Atkins, 
Matt Warman and John 
Hayes 

Parish and Town Councils The Coastal Business 
Improvement District (BID) 

The Lincolnshire Chamber of 
Commerce 

Boston and Mablethorpe 
BIG Local 

Mablethorpe Coastal 
Community Team 

CLA 

NFU Environment Agency National Trust 

Internal Drainage Boards Institute of Directors University of Lincoln 

Boston College TEC Partnership  Stamford and Grantham 
Colleges 

Historic England Heritage Lincolnshire English Heritage 

Destination Lincolnshire Lincolnshire Voluntary 
Engagement Team 

Lincolnshire Integrated Care 
Board (ICS) 

First Coastal Primary Care 
Network 

Healthwatch Lincolnshire CVS 

Age UK Lindsey Active Lincolnshire Lincolnshire YMCA 

Children’s Links Lincolnshire LIVES Lincolnshire Police 

 

2.6 There have been many opportunities to engage in this process, as set out below; 

14th June Boston Borough Council Corporate Meeting with officer core 

15th June Boston Strategic Partners Meeting – VCS, Business and Public Sector Partners 

21st and 23rd June detailed briefing Boston Borough Councillors 

25th and 29th June Boston Market Public Consultation 

27th June Parish Councils Briefing 

28th June inaugural meeting of Boston Governance Group 

30th June Business Organisation Briefing 

4th July Opportunity to meet East Lindsey and South Holland Councillors for a 3 way strategic 
discussion about joint priorities 

6th July Boston Town Fund Board  

14th July C&C Committee 

25th July Full Council 

2.7 It is noted above there has been a very positive response to the consultation and these have 
been used to form the basis of the investment strategy. There has also been an opportunity 
for suggestions and ideas to be submitted by council teams to meet the outcomes of the 
guidance.  

Page 19



2.8 The UKSPF draft Investment Plan has been considered by the Corporate and Community 
Committee on 14th July 2022 and the decision was taken to recommend to Cabinet for the 
draft Investment Plan to be submitted. A more detailed verbal update can be shared at the 
meeting of Cabinet. 

2.9 The UKSPF draft Investment Plan is to be considered by the Full Council on 25th July 2022 and 
a verbal update can be shared at the meeting of Cabinet. 

2.10 These ideas are in the process of being assessed, in a similar way as to how we managed 
#MyTown suggestions, to narrow down these ideas and support those will deliver maximum 
benefit to the community. They are not available at the time of this report being published 
but will be available for the Committee to note at the meeting. 

The Draft Investment Plan (Strategic Framework) 

2.11 The draft Investment Plan at Appendix 1 sets out the following details; 

• Local Challenges for each theme 

• Local Opportunities for each theme 

• What are the outcomes that are to be delivered for each theme 

• Approach to delivery and governance 

• Examples of some ideas from consultation (for indicative purposes only) 

• Examples of collaboration 

• Capacity and capability   

2.12 This remains a draft document and will continue to be amended until submission, hence the 
requirement for recommendation 2. 

Delivery of the UKSP 

2.13 It would be very challenging to manage hundreds of projects across the SELCP as this would 
be time consuming to manage, measure and monitor spend and outcomes of £9.3million in 
total, and this is likely to be a larger sum when taking into account likely match funding. 
Therefore it is proposed that 6-8 lead bodies will be identified through a competitive process. 
This will commence once the Investment Plan has been submitted to enable the allocation of 
funding, and thereby allowing the lead delivery partners to be in place once the Investment 
Plan is confirmed. This will assist with spending in year as although the funding will not be 
available until October/November, the funding is for the year 2022/23.  

2.14 The lead bodies will each be responsible for a theme within the delivery arrangements for the 
UKSPF. They will report to the local authority and the Governance Board identified below.  

2.15 It is proposed they will be allocated funds and work with individual local providers to deliver 
services to whom they will provide a proportion of the funds they hold. They will identify the 
local projects they will fund through a competitive process. These lead bodies in some cases 
will be individual organisations and in other cases they will be networks of organisations with 
one of their number taking on the role of managing the finance.  The consultation will help 
validate the themes ultimately chosen and set the basis on which an invitation to lead themes 
will go out to stakeholders when we run the competition. 

  

Page 20



2.16 The strategy for managing the UKSPF is to link the approach across the three areas within the 
South East Lincolnshire Council Partnership. Each Shared Prosperity Fund area has to have an 
independent governance group. In East Lindsey, the Connected Coast Board (which already 
has a number of countywide organisations) could be extended to cover the inland areas. In 
Boston the Town Fund Board has be asked to fulfil this role. In South Holland bespoke 
arrangements will be put in place to create a board from established governance groups. The 
role of the governance group is to overview and advise on the evolution and subsequent 
implementation of the UKSPF strategy in its area. 

2.17 These arrangements will demonstrate collaboration across the geography of three districts 
councils of key stakeholder delivery partners but also ensure that projects are locally based 
to meet the needs of individual places and communities. 

Next Steps 

2.18 The Investment Plan will be submitted by the 1st August 2022. The competitive exercise will 
commence very soon thereafter, with a final proposition to be presented to Full Council once 
notification of the Investment Plan being approved is received. 

2.19 There will be further member engagement prior to a final delivery plan being presented to 
Full Council. 

3.  CONCLUSION 

3.1 The UKSPF present an opportunity to secure additional funding for the Borough to continue 
to deliver the Levelling Up ambitions of the Council, following on the success of securing £21.9 
million through the Towns Fund and the submission of the Levelling Up bid. 

3.2 There has been extensive public consultation and there are many positive ideas and solutions 
that have been suggested, ranging from large organisations through to small community 
groups and individuals. 

3.3 The draft Investment Strategy at Appendix 1 sets out the approach to the Investment Strategy 
and to enable the Council to secure this funding, it should be submitted to the Department of 
Levelling Up, Communities and Housing. 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

Through working with lead partners across the geography of the partnership we expect to see 
greater opportunities in some of the following ways: delivering the fund through economies of 
scale, delivering larger programmes across wider geographies with local impact, greater 
opportunities to see what works and what doesn’t and tweak the Investment Plan accordingly, 
create a solid pipeline of future projects. 

IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

Further demonstration of the collaborative working between the three councils to maximise the 
Levelling Up opportunities for our people and places. 

 

Page 21



CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The submission of the Investment Plan and securing the external funding will meet the Corporate 
Priorities in respect of People and Prosperity.  

STAFFING 

One of the reasons to seek lead delivery partners is to reduce the impact on managing and monitoring 
the UKSPF delivery and outcomes. There is a percentage of the fund that may be utilised by the 
council to undertake this task and as a result of the competitive process, the staffing requirements 
will be assessed to determine what any new arrangements may be required. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are none arising directly out of this report as this is a submission to DLUCH for the funding. 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

FINANCIAL 

There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. There is provision for £20K per 
district to be drawn down to support with the preparation of the Investment Plan. 

There is provision for 4% of the funding to be used to support delivery of the projects within the 
Council’s team.  

RISK MANAGEMENT 

None directly arising as this is a draft Investment Plan that sets out the framework. 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Please note paragraph 2.3 above which sets out the dates, locations and  those consulted. 

REPUTATION 

The positive consultation exercise with key stakeholders has been noted and has created a positive 
impression of the partnership for undertaking such meaningful consultation. 

CONTRACTS 

None. 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

Under the “Communities and Places” strand of the consultation (as set out in the section relating to 
Stakeholder Engagement and Support within Appendix 1), there was reference to anti-social 
behaviour and the impact that this may have on a place. It is envisaged that some of the suggestions 
that are taken forward following the competitive process will include projects that have an impact 
on seeking to reduce actual or perceived anti-social behaviour. 

Page 22



EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

These will be considered as part of the wider competitive exercise. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

Health is an underlying outcome within the prospectus and consideration will be given as part of 
the competitive exercise to assess how projects will also have a positive impact on the health and 
well-being of our communities. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

This will depend upon final projects and none arising directly out of this report. 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

MISSIONS 

This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 
paper. 

Living Standards By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of 
the UK, with each containing a globally competitive city, with the gap 
between the top performing and other areas closing. 

Research and 
Development 

By 2030, domestic public investment in Research & Development outside 
the Greater South East will increase by at least 40% and at least one third 
over the Spending Review period, with that additional government funding 
seeking to leverage at least twice as much private sector investment over 
the long term to stimulate innovation and productivity growth. 

Transport 
Infrastructure 

By 2030, local public transport connectivity across the country will be 
significantly closer to the standards of London, with improved services, 
simpler fares and integrated ticketing. 

Digital 
Connectivity 

By 2030, the UK will have nationwide gigabit-capable broadband and 4G 
coverage, with 5G coverage for the majority of the population. 

Education By 2030, the number of primary school children achieving the expected 
standard in reading, writing and maths will have significantly increased. In 
England, this will mean 90% of children will achieve the expected standard, 
and the percentage of children meeting the expected standard in the worst 
performing areas will have increased by over a third. 

Skills By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills 
training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In England, 
this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing high-quality 
skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people completing courses in 
the lowest skilled areas. 

Health By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas 
where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will rise 
by 5 years. 

Wellbeing By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every 
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas 
closing. 

Page 23



Crime By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have 
fallen, focused on the worst affected areas. 

Local Leadership By 2030, every part of England that wants one will have a devolution deal 
with powers at or approaching the highest level of devolution and a 
simplified, long-term funding settlement. 

 

ACRONYMS 

UKSPF - United Kingdom Shared Prosperity Fund 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX 1 UK Shared Prosperity Fund - Draft Investment Plan 

APPENDIX 2 Boston Consultation Analysis - to follow 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund: prospectus - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Michelle Sacks – Deputy Chief Executive (Growth) 

Signed off by: Rob Barlow – Chief Executive 

Approved for publication: Nigel Welton – Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Growth 

 

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus#introduction


Appendix A  

 

 
       

  

  

 

UK Shared Prosperity 
Fund  

 

Investment Plan Drafting Template  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Version 2   

May 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



Your location 

To be eligible for funding, you will need to be applying on behalf of a lead authority in one of 

the delivery geographies. 

Select the lead authority: Boston 

For Scotland and Wales only: Who else is this investment plan being submitted on behalf 

of? Select all that apply 

Your details 

Name Lydia Rusling 

Email address Lydia.rusling@e-lindsey.gov.uk  

Phone number: 07786 313227 

Organisation name South and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership 

 

Local challenges and opportunities 

In this section, we will ask you: 

• If you've identified any challenges or opportunities, you intend to support 

• Which of the UKSPF investment priorities these fall under 

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE 
COMMUNITIES AND PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 
(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible 

Boston has a relatively little known but world class cluster of heritage assets which are 
significantly under valued and exploited. 
 
These include sites such as St Botolph’s Church, which is the largest Parish Church in England, 
the medieval Guildhall and community facilities such as the Blenkin Memorial Hall, iconic 
buildings such as Shodfriars in the town centre, Hussey Tower and the now vacant Black Sluice 
pumping station to the south east of the Town Centre..  
 
In terms of housing Boston has a good ratio of housing costs to salaries, 6.4 compared to a 
national average of 8. Boston has a high proportion of rented properties, at more than a third 
of its housing stock. It has a very low number of full or part owned properties compared with 
other towns in the benchmarking set.  However, the town has a low average house prices and a 
favourable affordability ratio compared with other towns. It has a relatively low overall stock of 
houses, with less than 30,000 houses, this is a relatively smaller number of houses than its 
benchmark towns (those in its Cipfa family group). 
 
According to the 2019 English Indices of Deprivation Boston Scores very poorly on measures 
relating to skills, employment, education, health and living environment as set out in the table 
below: 
 
 
 
 

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-pre-launch-guidance/delivery-geographies
mailto:Lydia.rusling@e-lindsey.gov.uk


 
 

Domain Boston England Average 

Income 92 158 

Employment 85 158 

Education 1 158 

Health 113 158 

Crime  237 158 

Barriers to Services 180 158 

Living Environment 135 158 

 
 
In terms of population Boston is projected to grow rapidly in terms of its population ONS (2018) 
predict that the population of the district will be 82,615 by 2043. A growth from 2018 of 14% 
compared to a projected growth for England of 8.5% and Lincolnshire of 9%. Lincoln which is 
the other city in the county has a projected growth rate of 3% and is projected to have a 
population of 102,514 in 2043. 
 
Boston has become home to a settled population of successful migrant workers and almost half 
(44.7%) of live births in the area are to non UK born mothers. This puts the area much more on 
a par with other major city centres of enterprise such as London, Birmingham and Manchester 
and centres of learning such as Oxford and Cambridge (both of which have over 50% live births 
to non UK born mothers), than its hinterland. (ONS 2020). 
 
A number of projects including the Inclusive Boston initiative funded by the Home Office from 
2019-2021 have identified that there are ongoing challenges of integration and inclusion arising 
from this high stock of migrant workers. 
 
Boston is also challenged by vacant town centre premises, declining footfall and a lack of 

investment in the traditional high street offer. Major High Street retailers such as Marks and 

Spencers have recently closed their operation in the area and the plans for the re-development 

of the major department store in the area- Oldrids are currently going through an evolutionary 

phase whilst the town centre role of key buildings such as Shodfriar’s Hall remain to be fully 

worked through in a contemporary context. 

More widely Boston district has a number of key service centres such as Kirton with community 

buildings and public spaces which would benefit from further investment to realise the 

potential for them to act as key community connectors outside of their traditional function. 

 
 

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE COMMUNITIES AND PLACE 
INVESTMENT PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT? 

(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible 

 

Our programme will help to manage the ongoing relative affordability of local housing in Boston 
by sustainably working on economic outcomes with those in the community who have the 
greatest challenges in terms of their housing status.  
 
Boston is an estuarine town. Water is a key part of its context. This means it is challenged in 
relation to the cost of its infrastructure and flood risk but also that its river and coastal credentials 
are a real asset from a leisure and logistics perspective.  

Page 27



 
The evolution of Boston ’s infrastructure offers good opportunity in terms of economic 
development but is likely to be challenging based on current town based development trajectories 
in terms of both housing and employment land. There is anecdotal evidence to suggest that the 
supply of utilities is a strain on growth opportunities.   
 
The port is a really important and distinctive feature of the local economy, which along with its rail 
links can be economically exploited. Our plan to maximise the sustainable growth and 
development of the town through effective investment in its infrastructure, linked to these assets. 
 
In terms of social cohesion we have a significant number of opportunities to develop social 
mobility and inclusion activities building on the portfolio of work supported under the Inclusive 
Boston programme. 
 
The following Towns Fund projects provide a great starting point for activities which address the 
challenges in the context of the communities and place agenda: 
 

• St Botolphs investments 

• Blenkin Memorial Hall refurbishment 

• Healing the High Street Grants and Shodfriar’s Building Development 

• The Leisure Centre development (which also has real synergies with the Mayflower Skills 
Project) 

• The refurbishment of Boston Railway Station 
 
We also currently have a well-developed Levelling Up Bid pending submission which will focus on 
the West Street area of the town and will involve the creation of new retail, town living and urban 
green space activities all of which are relevant in the context of this agenda. 
 
Boston has a mixed performance in terms of the environment and sustainable behaviours. Boston 
has a relatively low level of CO2 emissions per head compared to similar towns. It performs 
moderately well in terms of % of the population using public transport.  
 
We plan to consolidate the town’s relative environmental strengths, delivering significant 
environmental improvements enabled in part through the growth of walking and cycling options 
in the town and the enhancement of its railway station.  
 
We plan to make Boston a more attractive location for investment through stimulating a more 
diversified pattern of economic development arising from the proposed investment in its 
workforce skills and physical infrastructure. 
 
We have a pipeline of great ideas linked to the development of an inclusive growth agenda arising 
from our work to develop the Towns Fund and Levelling Up concepts in Boston and an innovative 
health on the high street focus developed with the ICB. Key players in these discussions have 
included: Centenary Church, Lincolnshire CVS and a number of other community focused groups. 
 
Boston has a very rich economic and historic significance. Transported Arts have worked 
extensively to strengthen and develop the community expression of this and we will work with 
them to build on their achievements – more information is available through their website: 
http://www.transportedart.com/  
 

Page 28

http://www.transportedart.com/


Outside of Boston as town we plan to explore fully the potential offered by the development of 
community buildings to build local capacity, enterprising people and behaviours. 
 

  

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE 
SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 

(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible 

 

The Borough of Boston’s business base by VAT/PAYE activity and size is nearly 2,200 with 1,855 
falling in the 0 to 10 employee band. However, it also has 15 businesses including Bakkavor, 
Freshtime, Turners Distribution, Mason Brothers Distribution, Pilgrim Foods that are within the 
250+ employee band, all creating opportunities in sector related supply-chain management. Other 
large employers include Boston College and the Pilgrim Hospital. There is a consistently low 
unemployment rate in Boston (lower than the national average) (source Boston Borough Council 
Corporate Plan 2020-2024). 
 
Whilst the town is a hub for food production and logistics, it does however have a relatively low 
level of economic diversity because of this very significant concentration on food. There is a major 
challenge to diversify the economy and particularly to drive up the stock of high value enterprises. 
Boston ranks as the lowest local authority in terms of education and skills in England (IMD 2019) 
and it has wages which are £100 a week lower than the national average (ASHE data). 
 
The spark of enterprise in Boston has yet to be fully ignited. The town has a very low level of 
business births just over 20 per 10,000 population – a third of the England average and has a very 
‘static’ economy with a level of business ‘churn’ 50% less than the England average (ONS). Boston 
is 18% points behind the national average when it comes to workers involved in Knowledge 
Intensive Businesses (KIBS). Using a town-based version of the Centre for Cities benchmarking 
approach and looking at 9 comparator towns based on its audit family group, we were able to 
benchmark Boston. These towns were: Carlisle, Corby, Dover, Great Yarmouth, Kings Lynn, 
Mansfield, Redditch, South Hams and Wellingborough. Boston had the smallest stock of jobs 
within this group, the lowest level of Knowledge Intensive Businesses and the lowest wages. It did, 
however, have a relatively good level of GVA per worker 4th out of 10 and came 5th in ranking in 
relation to the number of home workers and CO2 emissions. Based on these comparisons, whilst 
Boston has high rates of employment and GVA, it is challenged by low wages and fewer high paid 
jobs in KIBs, which reinforces the need to focus on upskilling and new technology to create higher 
skills, higher paying jobs. 
 
Boston College is one of the leading post-16 education providers in the county. Having strong 
relationships with local and national businesses it is integral to advancing business and workforce 
skills. It has four campuses based near the town centre. The main campus, Rochford, is a 
dedicated sixth form centre and University Centre along with workshops and industry styled 
classrooms which provide vocational courses. The Peter Paine Performance Centre is the College's 
sports centre, and the Sam Newsom Centre is a dedicated music and performing arts centre. The 
Ingelow Centre is Boston College's Foundation (Entry/SEND) purpose-built building. The college 
has a further site in the nearby town of Spalding and the re-location of East Lindsey District 
Council in a new build on Mareham Road in Horncastle is due to open later in the year. This new 
build is also a shared hub, with Boston College providing further education opportunities to those 
living and working in places out of the reach of the four campuses and Spalding. 
 

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS 
INVESTMENT PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT? 

(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible 

Page 29



 

We plan to open up routes to self employment as a means of achieving economic activity and 
employment for resourceful but currently under-supported individuals. 
 
We plan to stimulate social enterprise formation and development to provide sustainable new 
routes to employment for vulnerable and low skilled individuals who can then be supported in 
their personal development. Our consultation associated with the UKSPF has identified significant 
interest in the development of social enterprises. This model of business formation and activity is 
a potent means of addressing market failure and there are already some significant examples of 
success in the wider area to build on for example Tonic Health which provides a hub for health 
and well-being in Spalding: https://tonic-health.co.uk/ 
 
We also recognise the importance of diversifying the economy whilst also exploiting its food 
wholesale and processing specialisms. 
 
We plan to increase the number of people working in Knowledge Intensive Businesses and 
maximise the range and quality of jobs in the High Street and Heritage sectors and the number of 
digital and learning sector jobs.  
 
This will help to begin to future proof the High Street and retail core of the town against the 
ongoing impacts of the Coronavirus pandemic. Boston also has a strongly distinctive feature in 
terms of its port and associated food and logistics sector. We intend to build on this aspect of its 
economic potential.   
 
The following Town Fund projects provide a key development opportunity for local business 
development i) the Centre for Fresh Food and Logistics (being developed by the University of 
Lincoln and Boston College) and ii) the Mayflower Centre which will have a focus on enterprise 
and development as a key component within its portfolio. 
 
More widely in terms of investing in building the economic capacity of food related businesses we 
plan to strengthen links (already given a boost by Town Fund investment in the Centre for Fresh 
Produce and Logistics – which has a dual base at Boston College and with the University of Lincoln 
in Holbeach) with the National Centre for Food Manufacturing in Holbeach and the Greater 
Lincolnshire LEP led initiative the UK Food Valley which has the following objectives: 
 

• Accelerating food chain automation and digital technology adoption to deliver 
productivity growth and high value jobs; 

• Delivering low carbon food chains from farm to fork by focusing on low carbon 
technologies for production, processing and distribution; 

• Developing the market potential of naturally healthy and nutritious foods, as well as new 
sources of protein, such as fish, vegetables, salads, fruit, pulses and lean meat, in which 
Greater Lincolnshire specialises. 

 

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL CHALLENGES YOU FACE WHICH FALL UNDER THE PEOPLE AND 
SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? (In Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland this should also 
include challenges relating to Multiply) 

(If yes) Describe these challenges, give evidence where possible 

 

21% of Boston’s population is ageing compared to 18% nationally. It is in the worst 30% of 
neighbourhoods in England in Employment Outcomes and is in the lowest 10% in terms of skills 

Page 30

https://tonic-health.co.uk/


rankings across towns in England. As a local authority are it is bottom of all local authorities in 
terms of the education domain within the English Indices of Deprivation. 
 
Boston’s working population is area characterised by low skilled, low(er) paid occupations. The 
number of people qualified to NVQ3 and above in Boston is over 20% points lower than the 
national average. This tracks through into wages with the area having wage levels that are £130 a 
week lower than the England average (ASHE). Although pay is low, Boston is nonetheless a very 
hard-working town with levels of economic inactivity at 15%, 6% lower than the national average 
at 21% (Nomis, March 2020).  
 
The economic outlook for its young people is in jeopardy. Before Covid-19, the number of benefits 
claimants as a proportion of its 16-24 population was very high (over 7% compared to a national 
figure of less than 2%).  
 
The lower skills set, lower pay economy and perceptions of a disproportionate reliance on 
benefits negatively impact on aspirations of all residents, but younger local people specifically. 
There are clear linkages between employability and wider personal well-being. It is therefore no 
surprise that the town is struggling with its health outcomes and is in the lowest third of all areas 
in England for this indicator. 
 
 

ARE THERE ANY LOCAL OPPORTUNITIES UNDER THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT 
PRIORITY THAT YOU INTEND TO SUPPORT? (In Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland this 
should also include challenges relating to Multiply) 

(If yes) Describe these opportunities, give evidence where possible 

 

Boston College is one of the leading post-16 education providers in the county, having strong 
relationships with local businesses it has four campuses based near to the town centre. At the 
main campus, Rochford, is a dedicated sixth form centre and University Centre along with 
workshops and industry styled classrooms providing vocational courses. Peter Paine Performance 
Centre is the College's sports centre, and the Sam Newsom Centre is a dedicated music and 
performing arts centre. The Ingelow Centre is Boston College's Foundation (Entry/SEND) purpose-
built building, with the College having a further site in the nearby town of Spalding.  
 
In recent years there has been significant investment in Boston College through the Greater 
Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP) and the college is now ranked in the top 5 in the 
country, with a national reputation for innovation and high-quality learning. 
 
A key part of our levelling up focus will concentrate on people who are economically inactive. We 
also intend to look in some detail at the opportunities connected with the challenges around the 
high stock of older people in Boston.  
 
Boston has a higher stock of over 65s 21% compared to the national average 18%. We plan to find 
new and innovative ways to make an ageing population a strength rather than a weakness in the 
town. Boston is also home to a significant population of migrant workers. These hard working 
individuals make a major contribution to the economic dynamism of the town and we plan to 
engage them actively creating opportunities to enhance their integration and economic potential.  
 
The most recent Greater Lincolnshire Covid-19 economic recovery plan highlights that minority, 
low skill and older workers are most impacted by the economic fall out of the pandemic and we 
will recognise this in the way we target UKSPF resources to address the challenges these groups 
face. 

Page 31



 
We are particularly interested in the interface between micro-enterprise and skills. There is strong 
anecdotal evidence to suggest that enterprise is a great driver at the micro level for people with 
limited qualification or migrants with high skills but poor language competency or low investment 
resources to become economically active. This will be a key strand within our investment strategy. 
 
There is also significant interest in the development of social enterprises which have the capacity 
to support the training and development of people arising from the consultation process and we 
intend to explore further how this model of economic activity can contribute to the people and 
skills agenda. The social enterprise model has demonstrated an ability in other settings to 
overcome market failure and provide services and community development opportunities as a 
consequence of its ability to mobilise volunteers and work with community organisations as part 
of the management of its cost base. This enables it to operate successfully in areas traditionally 
affected by market failure.  

 

Interventions 

In this section, we will ask you about: 

• Interventions you’ve chosen for each year of funding 

• Outcomes you want to deliver 

• Any interventions that are not listed here 

• How these interventions fall under the UKSPF investment priorities, and your 

rationale for them 

• Interventions not included in our list will be assessed before being approved, where 

you will need to show a clear rationale, how the intervention is value for money, what 

outcomes it will deliver and how you will monitor and evaluate the intervention. This 

may include a theory of change or logic chain. 

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE COMMUNITIES AND 
PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY. 
Outcome Tick if 

applicable 

Jobs created X 

Jobs safeguarded X 

Increased footfall X 

Increased visitor numbers X 

Reduced vacancy rates X 

Greenhouse gas reductions X 

Improved perceived/experienced accessibility X 

Improved perception of facilities/amenities X 

Increased number of properties better protected from flooding and coastal erosion X 

Increased users of facilities / amenities X 

Improved perception of facility/infrastructure project  

Increased use of cycleways or paths    

Increase in Biodiversity  

Increased affordability of events/entry X 

Improved perception of safety  

Reduction in neighbourhood crime  

Improved engagement numbers X 

Improved perception of events X 

Increased number of web searches for a place X 

Page 32



Volunteering numbers as a result of support X 
Number of community-led arts, cultural, heritage and creative programmes as a result 
of support 

X 

Increased take up of energy efficiency measures X 

Increased number of projects arising from funded feasibility studies   

Number of premises with improved digital connectivity  
None of the above  

 

SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE COMMUNITIES AND 
PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE. 
Intervention 
A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.  

Improvements to town centres and high streets including better accessibility for disabled people 

Improvements to community and neighbourhood buildings and outdoor spaces 

Flood risk and coastal erosion investments 

Improvements to local greenspaces, community gardens and watercourses 

Support for cultural assets, such as the restoration of buildings or canals or outreach activities 
linked to them 

Improvements to the streetscape through activities, lighting or CCTV 

Support for local arts, culture and heritage: running programmes of events or physical 
developments such as maker spaces 

Creation and upgrading of footpaths 

Improvement of the visitor offer through campaigns to promote areas 

Volunteering support 

Funding for sports facilities 

Funding for community buildings 

Support for programmes to engage people in local decision making  

Activities to promote energy efficiency 

Investment in digital infrastructure 

 

DO YOU PLAN TO USE ANY INTERVENTIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE COMMUNITIES AND 
PLACE LIST? 

State the name of each of these additional interventions and a brief description of each of 
these 

 
No 
 
 
 
 
 

Explain how each intervention meets the Communities and Place investment priority. Give 
evidence where possible, including why it is value money and the outcomes you want to 
deliver. 

 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you consider that any of these interventions may provide a subsidy to potential 
recipients of the funding under the intervention’s planned activity? 

Page 33



All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in 
the guidance. 

Yes No N/A 

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the intervention is a subsidy and 
any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted. 

 
N/A 
 
 
 
 

 

HAVE YOU ALREADY IDENTIFIED ANY PROJECTS WHICH FALL UNDER THE 
COMMUNITIES AND PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 

Describe these projects, including how they fall under the Communities and Place 
investment priority and the location of the proposed project. 

 
No 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding 
under the proposed planned activity? 
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in 
the guidance. 

Yes No N/A 

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute 
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted. 

 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

 

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE SUPPORTING LOCAL 
BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY. 
Outcome Tick if 

applicable 

Jobs created X 

Jobs safeguarded X 

Increased footfall X 

Increased visitor numbers X 

Reduced vacancy rates X 

Greenhouse gas reductions X 

Number of new businesses created X 

Improved perception of markets X 

Increased business sustainability X 

Increased number of businesses supported X 

Increased amount of investment X 

Improved perception of attractions X 

Number of businesses introducing new products to the firm X 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities


Number of organisations engaged in new knowledge transfer activity X 

Number of premises with improved digital connectivity X 

Number of businesses adopting new to the firm technologies or processes X 

Number of new to market products X 

Number of R&D active businesses X 

Increased number of innovation active SMEs X 

Number of businesses adopting new or improved products or services X 

Increased number of innovation plans developed X 

Number of early stage firms which increase their revenue following support X 

Number of businesses engaged in new markets X 

Number of businesses increasing their export capability X 

Increased amount of low or zero carbon energy infrastructure installed X 

Number of businesses with improved productivity X 

Increased number of projects arising from funded feasibility studies  X 

Increased number of properties better protected from flooding and coastal erosion  
None of the above  

 

SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE SUPPORTING 
LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE. 
Intervention 
A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.  

Investment in open air markets 

Investment in the development of visitor tours, the upgrading of tourism attractions, 
development of visitor attractions 

Support for the development of digital technology solutions 

Research and development grants to support innovation and knowledge growth for businesses 

Business networking and growth 

New business sites and accelerator hubs 

Specialist advice for businesses 

Grants to hold events and conferences that support growth sectors 

Training for people to set up new cooperative businesses 

Funding to develop investor networks 

Export development funding 

Funding for net zero initiatives by businesses 

Business growth funding particularly in areas of high unemployment 

 

DO YOU PLAN TO USE ANY INTERVENTIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE SUPPORTING LOCAL 
BUSINESS LIST? 

State the name of each of these additional interventions and a brief description of each of 
these 

 
No 
 
 
 
 
 

Explain how each intervention meets the Supporting Local Business investment priority. 
Give evidence where possible, including why it is value money and the outcomes you want 
to deliver. 

 
N/A 
 

Page 35



 
 
 
 

Do you consider that any of these interventions may provide a subsidy to potential 
recipients of the funding under the intervention’s planned activity? 
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in 
the guidance. 

Yes NoN/A 

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the intervention is a subsidy and 
any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted. 

 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 

 

HAVE YOU ALREADY IDENTIFIED ANY PROJECTS WHICH FALL UNDER THE SUPPORTING 
LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 

Describe these projects, including how they fall under the Supporting Local Business 
investment priority and the location of the proposed project. 

 
No 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding 
under the proposed planned activity? 
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in 
the guidance. 

Yes No N/A 

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute 
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted. 

 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 

 

WHAT ARE THE OUTCOMES YOU WANT TO DELIVER UNDER THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS 
INVESTMENT PRIORITY? SELECT ALL THAT APPLY. 
Outcome Tick if 

applicable 

Number of economically inactive individuals in receipt of benefits they are 
entitled to following support 

X 

Increased active or sustained participants of UKSPF beneficiaries in 
community groups [and/or] increased employability through development of 
interpersonal skills 

X 

Increased proportion of participants with basic skills (English, maths, digital 
and ESOL) 

X 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities


Number of people in supported employment [and] number of people engaging 
with mainstream healthcare services 

X 

Number of people sustaining engagement with keyworker support and 
additional services 

X 

Number of people engaged in job-searching following support X 

Number of people in employment, including self-employment, following 
support 

X 

Number of people sustaining employment for 6 months X 

Increased employment, skills and/or UKSPF objectives incorporated into local 
area corporate governance 

X 

Number of people in education/training X 

Increased number of people with basic skills (English, maths, digital and 
ESOL) 

X 

Fewer people facing structural barriers into employment and into skills 
provision 

X 

Increased number of people familiarised with employers’ expectations, 
including, standards of behaviour in the workplace 

X 

Fewer people facing structural barriers into employment and into skills 
provision 

X 

Number of people gaining a qualification or completing a course following 
support 

X 

Number of people gaining qualifications, licences, and skills X 

Number of economically active individuals engaged in mainstream skills 
education, and training. 

X 

Number of people engaged in life skills support following interventions X 

Number of people with proficiency in pre-employment and interpersonal skills 
(relationship, organisational and anger-management, interviewing, CV and job 
application writing) 

X 

Multiply only - Increased number of adults achieving maths qualifications up to, and 
including, Level 2.  

 

Multiply only - Increased number of adults participating in maths qualifications and 
courses up to, and including, Level 2. 

 

None of the above  

 

SELECT THE INTERVENTIONS YOU INTEND TO USE WHICH MEET THE PEOPLE AND 
SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY. YOU CAN SELECT AS MANY AS YOU LIKE. 
Intervention 
A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the Prospectus.  

Support to help people enter the workforce who traditionally find it hard to get work 

Support for the development of basic skills 

Volunteering to improve well-being 

Digital inclusion 

Support for training and personal development for those in work 

Support for local areas to fund their skills needs 

Development of green industry skills 

Retraining for those in high carbon sectors 

Funding to support digital skills 
 

DO YOU PLAN TO USE ANY INTERVENTIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS 
LIST? 

State the name of each of these additional interventions and a brief description of each of 
these 

Page 37



 
No 
 
 
 
 
 

Explain how each intervention meets the People and Skills investment priority. Give 
evidence where possible, including why it is value money and the outcomes you want to 
deliver. 

 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you consider that any of these interventions may provide a subsidy to potential 
recipients of the funding under the intervention’s planned activity? 
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in 
the guidance. 

Yes No N/A 

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the intervention is a subsidy and 
any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted. 

 
No 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ENGLAND ONLY: People and Skills interventions can only be used in 2022-2023 and 
2023-2024 if you have identified a local voluntary and community provision, previously 
supported by the European Social Fund, at risk of closure. If you have not identified a 
suitable provision, you will not be able to select interventions for 2022-2023 and 2023-
2024 and your investment plan will not be approved. 
HAVE YOU ALREADY IDENTIFIED ANY PROJECTS for 2024-2025 WHICH FALL UNDER THE 
PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 

No 

Describe the projects for 2024-25, including how they fall under the People and Skills 
investment priority and the location of the proposed project. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding 
under the proposed planned activity? 
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in 
the guidance. 

Yes 

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute 
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted. 

 
 

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities


 
 
 
 
 

HAVE YOU IDENTIFIED A LOCAL VOLUNTARY PROVISION AT RISK AS PART OF YOUR 
PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITIES? 

Yes No X 

(If Yes) Describe the local voluntary provision at risk and your rationale for supporting it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Provide the European Social Fund Project Names and Project References for this voluntary 
and community provision at risk. 

 

What year do you intend to fund these projects? Select all that apply. 

2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 

Describe the projects for 2022-2023 and 2023-2024, including how they fall under the People 
and Skills investment priority and the location of the proposed project. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding 
under the proposed planned activity? 
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in 
the guidance. 

Yes No 

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute 
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

SCOTLAND, WALES & NORTHERN IRELAND ONLY 
HAVE YOU ALREADY IDENTIFIED ANY PROJECTS WHICH FALL UNDER THE PEOPLE AND 
SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 

Yes No 

Describe the projects, including how they fall under the People and Skills investment 
priority and the location of the proposed project. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities


Do you consider these projects may provide a subsidy to potential recipients of the funding 
under the proposed planned activity? 
All bids must also consider how they will deliver in line with subsidy control as set out in 
the guidance. 

Yes No 

Detail the assessment you undertook to consider whether the proposed projects constitute 
a subsidy and any specific measures you will take to make sure the subsidy is permitted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Approach to delivery and governance 

In this section, we will ask you about: 

• Structures you have in place to support delivery 

• Support you have from stakeholders and the local community 

• How you’ve engaged with MPs as part of your investment plan 

• Opportunities you have identified to work with other places 

Places need to show how MPs that cover the lead local authority have been engaged on the 

investment plan and whether they support it. More detail on the role of MPs can be found 

here. 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT 

Have you engaged with any of the following as part of your investment plan? Select all that 
apply. 

Public sector organisations Private sector organisations Civil society organisations 

Describe how you have engaged with any of these organisations. Give examples where 
possible. 

 
We have engaged with all three categories of organisations through a really extensive public 
engagement plan this has involved the following schedule of group meetings including an extensive 
portfolio of public engagement: 
 
14 June Boston Borough Council Corporate Meeting with officer core 
15 June Boston Strategic Partners Meeting – VCS, Business and Public Sector Partners 
21 & 23 June detailed briefing Boston Borough Councillors 
25 and 29 June Boston Market Public Consultation 
27 June Parish Councils Briefing 
28 June inaugural meeting of Boston Governance Group 
30 June Business Organisation Briefing 
4 July Opportunity to meet East Lindsey and South Holland Councillors for a 3 way strategic 
discussion about joint priorities 
6 July Boston Town Fund Board adopts long term governance group role. 
 
In addition to this list of direct engagements we have launched a website for the public consultation 
covering the East Lindsey, Boston and South Holland areas - https://www.selcp-
haveyoursay.co.uk/_files/ugd/092fb4_91436bf23eba4c129bd2297a7b557911.pdf  
 
We have also used the Council’s facebook page to garner responses. As of 7 July 224 Boston  
specific responses had been received to the website covering the following broad themes: 
 
 

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/complying-with-the-uks-international-obligations-on-subsidy-control-guidance-for-public-authorities
https://www.selcp-haveyoursay.co.uk/_files/ugd/092fb4_91436bf23eba4c129bd2297a7b557911.pdf
https://www.selcp-haveyoursay.co.uk/_files/ugd/092fb4_91436bf23eba4c129bd2297a7b557911.pdf


 
 

Local communities and places Supporting local businesses People and skills 

Appearance of main shopping 
areas unkept/unclean  
 
Lack of “community spirit” 
 
Crime and ASB issues, 
deprivation and lack of ‘safe’ 
space (need for reputable 
business to improve the area, 
accommodation/HMO’s). Fly 
tipping. Stronger police 
presence required 
 
Traffic and parking remain 
issues for main routes in and 
out of town centre - (creates a 
perception of place as 
disorganised and 
unwelcoming (also includes 
bypass requests and 
infrastructure improvements 
– potholes and general 
maintenance). Also, noise 
pollution in Town Centre  
Develop more green spaces 
and improved/greener 
transport options. Better lit 
environments (e.g., for those 
working night shifts) 
 
Central elements of the Town 
that could be used to Boston’s 
advantage. Includes 
underdeveloped area and lack 
of up-keep of established 
spaces (e.g., Central Park in 
Town requiring 
refurbishment) 
 
More places for families to 
socialise and for recreation – 
recent Jubilee Celebration an 
example of best practice 
 
Existing pressures on key 
services linking to a lack of 
pride in place to attract 
investment and people (to 
live)  

Shopping facilities – empty 
shops and lack of consumer 
opportunities 
 
Accessibility to business – for 
both trade and consumers 
inc. traffic congestion 
 
Too many gambling-related 
businesses 
 
Lack of business diversity – 
need to develop 
opportunities for various 
businesses to start-up and 
invest. Ranging from SME in 
the town centre shops to ‘big 
business’ 
 
Opportunities in cultural and 
recreation sector untapped – 
potential for Boston to have 
an entertainment complex 
with different services to 
engage, primarily, young 
people – e.g., skate park, 
indoor climbing walls 
 
Use of poetry and the arts to 
attract people into Boston 
and promote annual list of 
events to wider population  
 
“A focussed approach across 

public sector, third sector and 

commissioned private sector 

organisations to supporting 

people. A no wrong door 

approach- with shared 

intelligence to identify gaps in 

meeting the needs of those 

most vulnerable and at risk. 

Alongside of this funding 

would be needed to develop 

initiatives to plug the gaps, 

building on the ability of the 

community and voluntary 

Problems with homelessness 
and rough sleeping (personal 
resilience and diminished 
community resilience) 
 
Limited opportunities for 
young people (leisure and 
employment) 
 
Lack of education 
opportunities (inc for adults) 
 
Cost of living and pressures 
on people in deprived areas 
 
Lack of business diversity and 
different scalability – relates 
to lack of investment in 
infrastructure, people and 
skills and opportunities for 
progression  
 
Population diversity and 
promotion of language skills - 
support for integration 
(language, personal 
skills/confidence) 
 
Promote people and skills by 
working in collaboration with 
communities  
 
“We are looking forward for 
the help from Boston 
Borough Council to the 
Boston Lithuanian 
Community group, namely 
for our premises where we 
run most of our projects. 
Would it be possible to get 
funding for our group's 
premises, for the rent at 10-
12K.” (VC respondent)  
 
“Our premises are being used 
for various inclusive 
educational activities 
(children, teenagers, adults, 
vulnerable) - culture and 

Page 41



 
Greater utilise Boston’s 
existing assets for pride of 
place – e.g., use of the river 
for boat tours, its rich 
heritage/history 
 
More public toilets and of 
better standard   
 
“We have contributed to lots 
of local group's events, 
supported variety of 
meetings, but we are still in a 
challenging position with our 
premises” (VCS sector 
respondent)    
 

sector's experience and ability 

to respond quickly using an 

Asset Based Community 

Development Approach. This 

would support peoples' basic 

needs and lay a good social 

foundation on which to build 

an improved 

economic/enterprise culture 

through community-based 

employability initiatives that 

address key skills and soft 

skills." 

 
 

language sessions, art 
sessions, music and drama 
rehearsals, ESOL and LT 
language classes, volunteer 
meetings, training, free legal 
consultations, group's events, 
etc. Our volunteers have 
contributed to hundreds of 
local projects and events. We 
believe we have proved that 
we are a great part of the 
local life, trying to be 
supportive, friendly, 
welcoming and inclusive as 
much as we can.” 
 
Improve practical skills and 
apprenticeship opportunities 
 
Use the history of Boston and 
develop arts centre (e.g., 
Blackfriars, Boston College 
and partners – using arts as a 
point of access for engaging 
people in skills development  

 
 

Summarise the governance structures you have in place, including how any advisory panels 
or associated partnership groups are made up 

 
 
In Boston we have agreed to evolve our current structures for the delivery of the Town Fund which 
already have comprehensive coverage of the whole district and its sub-groups which help it deliver 
its mission around: 
 

• Urban Regeneration, planning and land use 

• Skills and Enterprise  

• Connectivity 
 
 
This arrangement was formally confirmed with the TF Board at its meeting on 6 July. 
 

Confirm all MPs covering your lead local authority have been invited to join the local 
partnership group. 

Yes  

Are there MPs who are not supportive of your investment plan? 

Yes  

(If Yes) Who are the MPs that are not supportive and outline their reasons why. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

PROJECT SELECTION 

Are you intending to select projects in any way other than by competition for funding? 

 No 

(If Yes) Describe your approach to selecting projects, and why you intend to do it this way. 

 
We will have a process which groups competitively sourced bids into key themes and works to 
connect bidders and identify any gaps in bids relating to our strategic priorities in relation to either 
places or intervention themes. We will partner with a number of local infrastructure organisations 
with local expertise and insight to undertake this process. 
 

 

DO YOU INTEND TO WORK WITH OTHER PLACES ON ANY OF THE INTERVENTIONS 
WHICH FALL UNDER THE COMMUNITIES AND PLACE INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 

Which interventions do you intend to collaborate on? Select all that apply. 

Intervention Tick if 
applicable 

A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the 
Prospectus.  

X 

Improvements to town centres and high streets including better accessibility for 
disabled people 

X 

Improvements to community and neighbourhood buildings and outdoor spaces X 

Flood risk and coastal erosion investments X 

Improvements to local greenspaces, community gardens and watercourses X 

Support for cultural assets, such as the restoration of buildings or canals or outreach 
activities linked to them 

X 

Improvements to the streetscape through activities, lighting or CCTV X 

Support for local arts, culture and heritage: running programmes of events or 
physical developments such as maker spaces 

X 

Creation and upgrading of footpaths X 

Improvement of the visitor offer through campaigns to promote areas X 

Volunteering support X 

Funding for sports facilities X 

Funding for community buildings X 

Support for programmes to engage people in local decision making  X 

Activities to promote energy efficiency X 

Investment in digital infrastructure X 

Describe any interventions not included in this list? 

 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

Who are the places you intend to collaborate with? 

 
We will work in a formal partnership to look at connections and linkages across the functioning 
economic geography of South and East Lincolnshire – this will involve working in a comprehensive 
way with Boston and South Holland. More widely where opportunities arise we will work with other 
Lincolnshire local authorities and potentially North and North East Lincolnshire. Our focus with 
Boston and South Holland will be deeply and strategically focused. In the other areas cited we will 
work on projects and communities of interest as projects arise and where there is a mutual benefit. 

 

Page 43



DO YOU INTEND TO WORK WITH OTHER PLACES ON ANY OF THE INTERVENTIONS 
WHICH FALL UNDER THE SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 

Which interventions do you intend to collaborate on? Select all that apply. 

Intervention Tick if 
applicable 

A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the 
Prospectus.  

X 

Investment in open air markets X 

Investment in the development of visitor tours, the upgrading of tourism attractions, 
development of visitor attractions 

X 

Support for the development of digital technology solutions X 

Research and development grants to support innovation and knowledge growth for 
businesses 

X 

Business networking and growth X 

New business sites and accelerator hubs X 

Specialist advice for businesses X 

Grants to hold events and conferences that support growth sectors X 

Training for people to set up new cooperative businesses X 

Funding to develop investor networks X 

Export development funding X 

Funding for net zero initiatives by businesses X 

Business growth funding particularly in areas of high unemployment X 

Describe any interventions not included in this list? 

 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
 

Who are the places you intend to collaborate with? 

 
We will work in a formal partnership to look at connections and linkages across the functioning 
economic geography of South and East Lincolnshire – this will involve working in a comprehensive 
way with East Lindsey and South Holland. More widely where opportunities arise we will work with 
other Lincolnshire local authorities and potentially North and North East Lincolnshire. Our focus 
with East Lindsey and South Holland will be deeply and strategically focused. In the other areas 
cited we will work on projects and communities of interest as projects arise and where there is a 
mutual benefit. 

 

DO YOU INTEND TO WORK WITH OTHER PLACES ON ANY OF THE INTERVENTIONS 
WHICH FALL UNDER THE PEOPLE AND SKILLS INVESTMENT PRIORITY? 

Which interventions do you intend to collaborate on? Select all that apply. 

Intervention Tick if 
applicable 

A full list of nation-specific interventions is available in the relevant annex to the 
Prospectus.  

 

Number of economically inactive individuals in receipt of benefits they are 
entitled to following support 

X 

Increased active or sustained participants of UKSPF beneficiaries in 
community groups [and/or] increased employability through development of 
interpersonal skills 

X 

Increased proportion of participants with basic skills (English, maths, digital 
and ESOL) 

X 

Page 44



Number of people in supported employment [and] number of people engaging 
with mainstream healthcare services 

X 

Number of people sustaining engagement with keyworker support and 
additional services 

X 

Number of people engaged in job-searching following support X 

Number of people in employment, including self-employment, following 
support 

X 

Number of people sustaining employment for 6 months X 

Increased employment, skills and/or UKSPF objectives incorporated into local 
area corporate governance 

X 

Number of people in education/training X 

Increased number of people with basic skills (English, maths, digital and 
ESOL) 

X 

Fewer people facing structural barriers into employment and into skills 
provision 

X 

Increased number of people familiarised with employers’ expectations, 
including, standards of behaviour in the workplace 

X 

Fewer people facing structural barriers into employment and into skills 
provision 

X 

Number of people gaining a qualification or completing a course following 
support 

X 

Number of people gaining qualifications, licences, and skills X 

Number of economically active individuals engaged in mainstream skills 
education, and training. 

X 

Number of people engaged in life skills support following interventions X 

Number of people with proficiency in pre-employment and interpersonal skills 
(relationship, organisational and anger-management, interviewing, CV and job 
application writing) 

X 

Describe any interventions not included in this list? 

 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

Who are the places you intend to collaborate with? 

 
We will work in a formal partnership to look at connections and linkages across the functioning 
economic geography of South and East Lincolnshire – this will involve working in a comprehensive 
way with East Lindsey and South Holland. More widely where opportunities arise we will work with 
other Lincolnshire local authorities and potentially North and North East Lincolnshire. Our focus 
with East Lindsey and South Holland will be deeply and strategically focused. In the other areas 
cited we will work on projects and communities of interest as projects arise and where there is a 
mutual benefit. 

 

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 

How have you considered your public sector equality duty in the design of your investment 
plan? 

 
 
Yes 
 
 
 

Page 45



 

How will you consider your public sector equality duty when implementing your investment 
plan, including in the selection of projects? 

 
 
 
We have a specific proforma which individual projects will be asked to complete at the bidding 
stage. When successful they will be asked to update it as part of their implementation plan. This 
proforma will be considered internally at both of these stages, by the equality and diversity lead at a 
project and programme level to ensure compliance. The results for projects and the programme as 
a whole will be grouped and shared with the Boston UKSP Governance Group, the Council and the 
Section 151 Officer. 
 
 
 

 

RISKS 

Have you identified any key risks that could affect delivery, for example lack of staff or 
expertise? 

Yes No 

(If Yes) Describe these risks or issues, including the contingency measures you have in 
place to mitigate them. 

 
 

Risk Mitigation 

Challenges in terms of staff availability We are coordinating our activities with Boston 
and South Holland and have large scale 
capacity to manage this challenge 

Lack of expertise In addition to our three authority staffing model 
we have developed an implementation model 
which works with local infrastructure bodies 
with insight and expertise in key themes within 
the VCS and private sector to enable us to 
maximise the insight and skills available to us 

Lack of demand We have established a comprehensive 
awareness and engagement strategy which 
across the three local authority areas has 
garnered over 600 outline ideas. We will also 
utilise our own networks and those of the 
infrastructure bodies above to stimulate 
demand 

Lack of capacity amongst bidders We have developed a model working in 
partnership with the infrastructure bodies and 
larger established individual agencies 
referenced above to work directly with 
individual and thematic (place of intervention 
as appropriate) categories of bidders to build 
mutual support and know how to underpin an 
inclusive model of delivery 

Underperformance in relation to spend or 
outputs 

We have developed a rigorous programme 
management approach which will identify and 
intervene to address performance challenges 
following a Prince II methodology and 
harnessing the expertise of the Board, Theme 
Groups, officer core and wider infrastructure 
partners we have incorporated into our 
approach to work with individual projects to 
address this challenge 

Page 46



Uneven distribution of activity resulting in cold 
spots 

Our approach to collating bids, assessing their 
wider coverage and implications with our 
infrastructure partners and seeking to join up 
and stimulate interest in cold spots will enable 
us to address and overcome this challenge. 

 

Have you identified any key fraud risks that could affect UKSPF delivery? 

Yes  

(If Yes) Describe these risks or issues, including the contingency measures you have in 
place to mitigate them. 

 

The management structure which will underpin our delivery will be supported, with key 
decisions being scrutinised and assured by the Chief Finance Officer at the Accountable 
Body, the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer. 
 
Each project will have a funding agreement which will provide the legal basis for its 
operation. This agreement will set out its responsibilities from a management and delivery 
point of view and will be developed to ensure the following issues are set out clearly: 
 
1. Delegated authority – including Project Board or Committee approvals: we expect each 
project sponsor to have an appropriate scheme of delegation in place which will be 
scrutinised as part of the annual financial audits we propose as part of our governance 
regime 
 
2. Financial controls – we will expect as part of the funding agreement a regime to operate 
which ensures:  
 

• The roles and responsibilities of the delivery of the project sponsor organisation for 
each project, its committees and staff for financial decision making and 
administration have been set out in writing. 

• All staff with financial responsibilities have access to and an understanding of its 
Procedure Rules 

• The financial scheme of delegation approved and reviewed annually by the 
governing body. 

• There are minutes of all meetings of the project sponsor organisation and its 
committees that include decisions taken and by whom action is to be taken. 

• There is a register of business interests for its decision makers who influence 
financial decisions. 

• Arrangements are in place to ensure financial control is maintained in the absence 
of key personnel. 

• Proper accounting records are maintained and retained in accordance with the 
document retention schedule. 

• All accounting records are retained securely and access is controlled. 
 
3. Audit – there is a schedule of regular systems and financial audits and the results of 
these are reported to the Chief Financial Officer and then onto the Project Delivery Board. 
 
4. Counter fraud, corruption, and anti-bribery – procedures are in place within each project 
sponsor in relation to these issues and form a key part of the contractual arrangements 
which are put in place with any sub-contractors and suppliers of services. 
 
5. Procedures to avoid Conflict of Interests – are clearly documented, with interests 
recorded in terms of the individuals concerned and where they are likely to represent a 
material or pecuniary interest the individuals concerned do not participate in the decision 
making or management processes concerned. 
 

Page 47



6. Cyber security, and data management – all project sponsor organisations will be 
required to have in place processes to ensure that data, no matter its form, is protected 
while in their possession and use from unauthorized access or corruption. They will need 
as a matter of national policy to follow all the GDPR requirements enshrined within 
national legislation. 
 
7. Code of conduct setting standards for ethical and professional behaviour – it will be a 
requirement for individuals associated with the management and delivery of the 
programme and their sub-contractors and suppliers where they have a substantial 
relationship with the project to follow the 7 Principles of Public Life. 
 
The cornerstone of the approach will be the 2018 Code of Conduct for Recipients of 
Government General Grants 
 
All projects will be required to participate in a systems and financial audit regime as part of 
their funding agreement and an independent annual audit of the overall prgramme will be 
scheduled and reported to the Delivery Board and Accountable Body. 
 
As part of the transactions of the project implementation group those responsible for 
delivering the projects across the whole portfolio of the UKSPF programme will be 
convened in 6 monthly meetings to develop peer interactions and mutually supportive 
connections in the context of good and responsible financial management. 
 

 

Capacity and capability 

In this section, we will ask you about: 

• The capacity and capability of your team to manage funding 

• The resources you have in place for work related to UKSPF 

Your answers here will help us know how to support you with delivery. They will not affect 

the amount of funding you will get. 

Answer as honestly as possible. 

TEAM RESOURCE 

How many people (FTE) will be put in place to work with UKSPF funding? 

 
Two 
 
 
 
 
 

Describe what role these people will have, including any seniority and experience. 

 
 

These individuals are still to be recruited. They will be deployed as part of the Economic Growth 
team for the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. This team has a strong focus on 
place with specialism in Heritage, Culture and the Visitor Economy.  
 

•       They have led the Town Deal programme for Boston, Mablethorpe and Skegness – 
supporting two town deal boards, engagement and business case development. They 
have also led the further development of two levelling up fund proposals in 2021 (Boston 

Page 48



and East Lindsey) and three for LUF round 2 (Spalding, Boston and East Lindsey). This 
experience has embedded the Levelling Up principles and missions into the team, 
ensuring a deep knowledge of geographical inequalities and experience of engaging with 
communities and businesses. 

•       The team has an established relationship with DLUHC built through the town deal 
programme as well as strong links to regional bodies (Midlands Engine, Midlands Connect) 
and locally with the LEP, LCC and through the Partnership with other stakeholders that 
support the Levelling Up principles. The team has also developed funding bids and have 
experience of working with departments within DCMS, including Arts Council England and 
VisitBritain/VisitEngland. 

•       The team will work across the three local authority areas to support management of 
delivery partners, monitoring and evaluation, as well as maximising opportunities to align 
with other funding and investment. 

•       Currently roles include Business Manager (manages all finance, monitoring and evaluation 
and servicing town deal boards), a Funding Coordinator (supporting with finance, 
monitoring/evaluation and comms/engagement), an officer that supports with Grant 
Agreements, project management and liaison with external project leads. The team also 
encompasses inward investment and skills officers, place manager and place officers. The 
team would be strengthened to manage the UKSPF programme – including a programme 
manager and place based officers for each locality – they would be integrated within the 
economic growth team to ensure alignment with levelling up, existing town deals and 
other funding. Their roles would encompass managing and working with the delivery 
partners, reporting, monitoring and evaluation and financial management. 

 

• Strong capability: Has extensive experience and/or a proven track record of delivery 

in this area. 

• Strong capacity: High degree of confidence that there is enough staffing/resource to 

manage funding in this area. 

• Some capability: Has previous experience of delivery in this area. 

• Some capacity: Confident that there is enough staffing/resource to manage funding 

in this area. 

• Limited capability: Does not have previous experience and/or no track record of 

delivery in this area. 

• Limited capacity: Limited confidence that there is enough staffing/resource to 

manage funding in this area. Additional resource may be needed to support delivery. 

CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY 

How would you describe your team’s current experience of delivering funding and 
managing growth funds? 

Very experienced   

How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for 
procurement? 

Very experienced   

How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for 
procurement? 

Very experienced   

How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for procurement? 

Very experienced   

How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for subsidies? 

Very experienced   

How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for subsidies? 

Very experienced   

Page 49



 

COMMUNITIES AND PLACE CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY 

Does your local authority have any previous experience of delivering the Communities and 
Place interventions you have select? 

Yes  

How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for Communities 
and Place interventions? 

Strong capability   

Describe the key capability challenges (if you have any) for delivering Communities and 
Place interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your 
local/regional delivery system. 

 
We have a well resourced and fully competent team, which operates across three local authority 
areas, giving us strong interdisciplinary capability and great marginal cost potential to increase the 
levels of staffing and expertise required for this task. 
 
 

Describe what further support would help address these challenges. 

 
 
None 
 
 
 
 

How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for Communities 
and Place interventions? 

Strong capability Some capability Limited capability 

Describe the key capacity challenges (if you have any) for delivering Communities and 
Place interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your 
local/regional delivery system. 

None 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Describe what further support would help address these challenges. 

N/A 
 
 
 

 

SUPPORTING LOCAL BUSINESS CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY 

Does your local authority have any previous experience of delivering the Supporting Local 
Business interventions you have select? 

Yes  

How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for Supporting 
Local Business interventions? 

Strong capability   

Describe the key capability challenges (if you have any) for delivering Supporting Local 
Business interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your 
local/regional delivery system. 

 
 
None 

Page 50



 
 
 
 

Describe what further support would help address these challenges. 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for Supporting 
Local Business interventions? 

Strong capability   

Describe the key capacity challenges (if you have any) for delivering Supporting Local 
Business interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your 
local/regional delivery system. 

 
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Describe what further support would help address these challenges. 

N/A 
 
 
 
 

 

PEOPLE AND SKILLS CAPACITY AND CAPABILITY 

Does your local authority have any previous experience of delivering the People and Skills 
interventions you have select? 

Yes  

How would you describe your team’s current capability to manage funding for People and 
Skills interventions? 

Strong capability   

Describe the key capability challenges (if you have any) for delivering People and Skills 
interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your 
local/regional delivery system. 

 
None 
 
 
 
 
 

Describe what further support would help address these challenges. 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 

How would you describe your team’s current capacity to manage funding for People and 
Skills interventions? 

Page 51



Strong capability   

Describe the key capacity challenges (if you have any) for delivering People and Skills 
interventions. This may include challenges within your local authority and/or your 
local/regional delivery system. 

 
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Describe what further support would help address these challenges. 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

 

SUPPORT TO DELIVERY UKSPF 

 

All lead authorities can use up to 4% of their UKSPF allocation to support the delivery of 

their chosen interventions but by exception, lead authorities will be able to use more than 

4%. Are you planning to use more than 4%? 

 

 No 

(If Yes) Explain why you wish to use more than 4%. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Approvals 

Before submitting your investment plan, you should have approval from your: 

• Chief Executive Officer 

• Section 151 Officer 

• Leader of your lead authority 

Do you have approval from your Chief Executive Officer for this investment plan? 

o Yes 

o No 

Do you have approval from your Section 151 Officer for this investment plan? 

o Yes 

o No 

Page 52



Do you have approval from the leader of your lead authority for this investment plan? 

o Yes 

o No 

If you do not have approval from any of these people, please explain why this is: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Additional documents 

You will have received an email giving you access to a folder where you will need to upload 

supporting evidence to your investment plan. All applicants must complete and upload the 

following spreadsheet to the folder prior to submitting their investment plan: 

- UKSPF Expenditure Profile spreadsheet 

- UKSPF Indicative Deliverables spreadsheet 

 

Your investment plan submission will be considered incomplete without the required 

documents. 

Have you completed and uploaded the two spreadsheets to the SharePoint 

folder as requested? 

o Yes 

o No 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix B  

DRAFT: South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership: UK Shared Prosperity Fund Consultation 

Summary 

The core objectives underpinning the consultation were to: 

• Present details about the UK Shared Prosperity Fund together with the Partnership’s thoughts 

about the sort of projects it is particularly interested in 

• Gather ideas from stakeholders and residents about what they would like the money to be spent 

on and what they think will work best locally  

The consultation took place between 13 and 30 June 2022. Feedback was still accepted during the week 

commencing 4 July to allow for responses being sent in via Freepost and additional meetings held.  

The consultation was widely promoted with letters to stakeholders, social media posts and adverts in the 

local press. There was also a project website which hosted information about the proposal and a newsletter 

was produced which was emailed to stakeholders and also made available at community events. 

People were invited to provide feedback via an online survey on the website, email, social media, Freepost 

or Freephone. Hard copy versions of the survey were available upon request.  In addition, the website, 

adverts and newsletter included a sentence in Latvian, Polish, Russian and Portuguese stating that 

translated versions were available. Copies of the newsletter and survey were also sent to council offices 

and selected libraries to display.   

The engagement included a series of online and face-to-face meetings with key stakeholders and a range of 

community events held at market stalls across the area.  

Engagement and consultation with stakeholders 

Key stakeholder letters 

Letters about the forthcoming consultation were sent via email to the following groups of stakeholders:  

• Matt Warman MP letter included details about the consultation together with an invitation for the 

MP to join the UKSPF Partnership Board relating to their constituency.   

• Boston Borough councillors  

• Key delivery partners  

• Boston Towns Fund Boad 

• Parish councils in Boston 

• Lincolnshire county councillors  

A letter was also sent to a range of business organisations and businesses and included an invitation to an 

online meeting and a copy of the newsletter.  

Following feedback from some councillors about it being difficult for them to attend day-time sessions due 

to work commitments, an email was sent to Boston Borough councillors on 22 June inviting them to an 

online evening meeting at 7.00 pm on 4 July.   

Promoting the consultation  

• A website was developed with information about UKSPF and the consultation: www.selcp-

haveyoursay.co.uk. Between 8 June and 7 July 2022, the site received 1,656 unique visitors. 

Page 55

http://www.selcp-haveyoursay.co.uk/
http://www.selcp-haveyoursay.co.uk/


2 
 

• A four-page consultation newsletter was sent to stakeholders and was available at the community 

events. Copies were also sent to council offices and Boston library to display.  

• Half-page adverts about the consultation appeared in the Boston Standard and Boston Target 

during week commencing 20 June 2022. 

• Consultation was promoted on Social media with Facebook posts in Boston reaching 12,221 and 

Twitter posts reaching 4,358. 

• A media release and image about the consultation was issued on 13 June 2022. 

Meetings 

A series of meetings with stakeholders were held about UKSPF and the consultation: 

• 14 June Boston Borough Council Corporate Meeting with officer core 

• 15 June Boston Strategic Partners Meeting – VCS, Business and Public Sector Partners 

• 21 & 23 June detailed briefing Boston Borough Councillors 

• 25 and 29 June Boston Market Public Consultation 

• 27 June Parish Councils Briefing 

• 28 June inaugural meeting of Boston Governance Group 

• 30 June Business Organisation Briefing 

• 4 July Opportunity to meet East Lindsey and South Holland Councillors for a 3 way strategic 

discussion about joint priorities 

• 6 July Boston Town Fund Board adopts long term governance group role. 

• 8 July briefing with Matt Warman MP 

Results / findings of the public consultation  

The key facts from the public consultation include:  

• 756 people responded to the survey: this includes those who completed it online as well as those who 

completed a printed version or emailed a scanned copy of their response. 

Community events 

Hard copies of the survey were made available at the community events and the findings from these have 

been included in the survey results below, highlight comments were: 

• “Hard to get around - lots of places outside of the town that people who don't have cars cannot get to” 

• “Community club for both young and elderly people” 

• “Free parking would bring more people shopping” 

• “An indoor market for when it's raining / bad weather” 

• “Less busy in the market as lack of shops” 

• “Make all shop fronts have the same signage that are less modern/have more character - like 

Nationwide's signage” 

• 'Better bus service needed” 

Key findings from the consultation survey  

224 responses identified Boston as the Council area and the main challenges identified were: 

• Improving the quality of the public realm 

• Financial assistance for small businesses 

• Support local business and the local economy 

• Utilise the empty shops to provide show case for local artists/crafts 

Page 56



3 
 

• Use some of the empty retail spaces in town and offer local businesses the opportunity to have a pop-

up shop for a specific amount of time at a reduced rate 

• More specialist shops – exploiting local history 

• Provision of activities in the area for all age groups including an ice rink /community hubs/mini 

golf/art/trampoline/climbing walls/escape rooms/gym that includes children’s facilities.  

• Free pitches for communities to use/community focus/gathering to include enhanced support, social 
space and encouraged cross-community interaction 

Projects or initiatives that were identified 

This was a free text question and an analysis of the responses was undertaken and a summary of the key 

themes and suggestions are shown in Appendix A. 

Feedback via social media 

Over 170 posts on social media in response to the consultation were captured. A selection of quotes for 

Boston are included below: 

• “Do regular small stalls events for small businesses. This will be profitable and helping 

means of income for locals.” 

• “Don't just paint empty buildings. How about making all market stalls free to encourage 

more small companies/businesses to come to Boston which creates foot fall which is what 

big high street stores look for.” 

• “Start by filling the potholes up it's really bad in places.” 

• “The river view photos are always used to show Boston in its best light, yet is completely 

unutilised. Other towns and cities that have rivers running through them use riverside 

space so well. Boston, well it doesn’t.  

• There is nothing quaint or appealing about Boston, it’s basically a huge car park, charging 

extortionate prices, with fast food and charity shops as dotted around the edge. All the 

attractive and historic parts fall behind cheap, garish shop signs and bad restoration.  

• Some of the old architecture in the market place, the river, the stump and the little road 

that runs behind the KFC are lost in the huge car park that dominates the town centre and 

the awful decoration that shop fronts have been allowed.” 

• “Encourage people to rent town shops by subsidising the rent for a year but make it about 

little unusual shops that add to our tourist destination. So not charity shops or pound 

shops. We want quirky little shops.” 

• “Bringing a carnival back maybe even a light pride in the river Witham and maybe make car 

park free on Wed and Saturday for the market.” 

Conclusion 

A total of 756 individuals completed either the online survey, a hard copy of the survey or returned a 

scanned version of the survey to us via email.  

 

Frequent suggestions via the survey were as follows: 

 

 

Page 57



4 
 

• Invest in tidying up Boston town 

• Help for small businesses and market stalls to help boost the town 

• Provision of activities in the area for all age groups 

 

Appendix A 

Boston Borough Council  Number of Responses 

 Local Community 
& Places 

Supporting 
Local 

Businesses 

People & Skills 

Invest in tidying up Boston town/less litter/power washing 
cobbles/tidy up and clean and paint shop fronts/no on-street 
drinking – making it more attractive with planting, outdoor 
tables, and activities 
 
Create a sense of pride. Fulltime/Additional street cleaners 
required 
Replacement of existing benches 
Regular grass cutting 
Support Wyberton Wombles 

40 20 15 

Reduce the rent for market stalls and business rates to 

encourage more stall holders and shops in the town 

Financial assistance to attract small businesses 

Require more local economy into the town 

Utilise the empty shops to provide show case for local 

artists/crafts 

Introduce a youth market enterprise twice a year for schools 

to be involved in 

Use some of the empty retail spaces in town and offer local 

businesses the opportunity to have a pop-up shop for a 

specific amount of time at a reduced rate 

More specialist shops – exploiting local history 

31 27 17 

Provision of activities in the area for all age groups including 

an ice rink /community hubs/mini 

golf/art/trampoline/climbing walls/escape rooms/gym that 

includes children’s facilitiles. Provide activities in woods  

https://www.willenlake.org.uk/ 

Free pitches for communities to use/community 
focus/gathering to include enhanced support, social space 
and encouraged cross-community interaction 

22 14 11 

Provide Town Rangers/policing across Boston town centre – 
Visitors and shoppers would feel safe again, the streets 
would be clean, and the Town Centre would return to a 
welcoming safe place to visit, encouraging shoppers and 
visitors 

20 7 7 

Invest in better road infrastructure 
Bypass for Boston 
Improvements to A16. Traffic calming measures for Kirton 
Better access into Boston town centre 

19 10 8 

Page 58



5 
 

A suggestion of providing a road crossing the river from 
London Road to Skirbeck Road  
 

Provide good quality shoes and clothes shops that cater for 

all needs/age groups and sizes  

Attract more family-owned businesses  

Suggestion for more retail outlets near Oldrids Downtown, 

M&S Food and Primark 

(No more gambling shops nor charity shops) 

17 12 7 

Reduce parking fees 
 
Suggestion of a trial free car parking for 10 min - 1hr a day for 
Boston town centre or on set days 
 
Increase parking facilities – a lot of unoccupied space that 
can be used 

17 8 7 

Regenerate the market / Introduce a farmers’ market – keep 
the market area pedestrianised. Increase the number of days 
the market is on 

12 7 5 

Provide waste centre nearer to Boston town centre. Extend 
opening hours/open every day 
 
More investment is required to stop fly tipping 
 
Advertise where recycling and refuse disposal places are 
using social media  
 
A suggestion of providing communal bin areas within the 
town for those that do not have access to transport 

12 6 5 

Increase CCTV around the town, especially West Street and 
other typically unsafe area. Also assist addressing the 
drinking in the street issues and fly tipping 

11 1 2 

Provide more entertainment/live performance/presentation 

to freely showcase community music, dance, theatre and 

voluntary organisations. Cultural square. Public art and trails. 

1940’s weekend/beach weekend that is free of charge 

Suggestion of a permanent fixture to host such events 

Provisions of a large tv screen and seating/eateries screening 

large events 

Purchase of Cheers building to drive Cultural 
Quarter/Blackfriars offering helping to turn the cultural 
quarter into a destination for locals and visitors 

8 3 5 

Improved public transport 

Provision for buses to run between other local towns 

8 5 4 

Reintroduce centrally located public toilets which are easily 

accessed. Increase the amount available. If chargeable 

include a change machine and/or card payment facilities  

Provide/update toilets at the Assembly Rooms 

Better signage for public toilets 

8 4 1 

Provision of more opportunities for the younger generation 
/schools/colleges to be involved in such as voluntary work 

7 5 4 

Page 59



6 
 

Provision of a cycle ‘highway’ linking around the town of 

Boston, including to Pilgrim hospital  

Provide more cycle paths – Dutch style. Example of Kroller 

Muller park in Netherlands was given. Encourage sustainable 

transport 

Offering of cycle proficiency courses for all age groups 

7 2 1 

Provision of green open space – suggestion provided to be 
located next to the rowing club 

6 3 2 

Provide more advertising, posters and signage in and around 
the town, especially advertising events 
 
Suggestion of an Information Point in Boston centre that is 
accessible seven days a week, face to face and online, 
including availability in other languages 

4 3 2 

Update the children’s play area in the centre of the park 4 2  

Provide support to churches & existing organisations to 
diversify and build community hubs in existing buildings that 
can be refurbished and made attractive to be used by the 
community for activities, training, wellbeing and assisting 
entrepreneurs 

4 1 1 

Provision of youth clubs 4   

Provide employment support   

Funding for businesses to train staff 

Adult evening classes 

4 2 4 

Repair potholes 4 2 2 

Highlight the local history - for example Wormgate, Red Lion 

Street and Widebargate. Revamp the streets leading to the 

stump make it a nicer area to visit like “the shambles in York” 

4 2 1 

Provide funding to both encourage use of the waterways for 

pleasure 

3 3 3 

Restore empty shops and replace with housing  3 1 1 
 

Involve local groups covering all members of the public to 

determine exactly what is needed 

2 2 2 

Provisions for Yoga & Pilates classes/wellbeing centre 2 1 2 

Investment required to obtain ‘chain’ eateries in Boston 

town/independent restaurants/cafes 

2 2 1 

Improve rail provisions 

Provide rail transport and connections to as many towns as 

possible to the network, providing sustainable passenger 

transport. In turn to move the maximum amount of 

Lincolnshire's farm produce by rail, to reduce pressure on 

and damage to the road network 

2 1 1 

Provide a water feature to the town centre – with seating 2   

Page 60



7 
 

Provision for people with disabilities and mental health 

issues available in Wide Bargate 

2  1 

Provide an annual funding of £10k to Boston Lithuanian 

Community Group for their community centre and the venue 

which provides variety of activities including educational, 

language school, arts, music, dance activities & ESOL classes 

Funding for the help for the consultations of the vulnerable, 

lonely and the elderly of the group and community events 

Communications/liaison person/agency led by BLC £25.000 

as a communication bridge should be considered  

2 1 1 

Funding for a community Cafe and bookshop, staffed by 

professionally qualified Christians, for counselling, advice, 

debt management and ministry. The objective is to provide a 

safe environment for people to come to discuss their 

problems and share their concerns in privacy, confidence and 

comfort 

1   

Mother and toddler facilities 1 1 1 

Provide funding to the local police force 1  1 

Provide funding to allow waste bins to be stored and kept off 

the streets 

1   

Revision of speed limits and crossings – especially near 

schools 

1   

Monthly car boots throughout the summer months 1   

Open up council buildings to allow photocopying/printing for 

community groups 

1  1 

Provide funding to restore West Street to become an 

attractive place, vibrant with the businesses it supports- 

‘little Krakow’ type innovation like a ‘China town’ or ‘Turkish 

quarter’ - included would be a style guide and consultation 

with local Europe shops helping them remodel shops, 

branding and appearance to be more familiar, inviting to and 

in keeping with the local area and local people - this is an 

easy win- restoring shop fronts, introduce more traditional 

signage and display. A fund to support this would turn the 

‘foreign looking’ shops into attractive shops, delis and 

bakeries akin to ‘The Lanes’ in Brighton  

1 1 1 

Installation of some careful lighting of Boston’s lanes and 

looking at how to restore places you want to visit and shop. 

Example of Emery Lane and Dolphin Lane 

1 1 1 

Use empty units in the town for college catering students to 

open a shop 

1   

Provide funding to be ring-fenced for flood risk management 

that RMA’s can bid for as and when required as they develop 

their own plans and implement works programmes 

1   

Page 61



8 
 

Give each taxpayer £100 voucher to spend in town on 

independent businesses only  

1 1 1 

Organise events to encourage women and girls to exercise 

and socialise in public spaces and employ park keepers and 

wardens to provide a safe presence in these areas 

1   

Create a local UKSPF funding mechanism that matched or 

complemented public and other grant funds to incentivise 

collaboration, enable longer-term aligned vision and 

workforce/financial planning   

Provide resources to fully realise the long-term ‘layering’ 

benefits that the VCSE local infrastructure organisation (LIO) 

can deliver   

This would be co-designed and co-produced with local 

government and VCSE partners and evidence driven   

Inclusive growth governance and delivery could be adopted 

quickly as a model for involving the third sector, nurturing 

collaboration and delivering a range of long-term benefits     

It would require some investment into establishing effective 

programme management, but this is realistic and achievable 

and is an appropriate role for the LIO   

1 1 1 

Boston United in the community is helping and a great 

organisation that makes a difference 

1   

Support Pilgrim Hospital 1  1 

Support Boston dance school 1 1 1 

Provisions for a 'poet-in-residence' appointed on a yearly 

basis for a small retainer (say £1000+ expenses) who would 

describe the events, people, and atmosphere of the town via 

words 

1 1 1 

Support the Transported arts programme 1 1 1 

Provide an urban regeneration of the docks and riverside 1   

Provisions of a new swimming pool – with spectator facilities  1   

More funding for care homes 1 1 1 

Funding to support The Ball House Pub (Wainfleet Road) – 

already provide support for the community including 

meetings to help mental health and loneliness 

1 1  

Funding for the Blackfriars Theatre for refurbished and to 

assist funding of shows, plays, music etc. providing education 

of young people in theatre arts 

1 1  

Support for farming business in the local area to support 

retention of business who employ a lot of people 

 1 1 

 

Page 62



1 
 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 27 July 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

Cultural Framework for Investment 

 

Approval of the Cultural Framework (Strategy) for Boston and East 

Lindsey and the Action Plan for Boston. 

KEY DECISION: YES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Richard Austin 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Deputy Chief Executive - Growth 

Lydia Rusling, Assistant Director for Economic Growth 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This reports seeks to provide background information on the development of a new Cultural 

Framework for Boston and East Lindsey. The Cultural Framework for Investment sets an 

ambitious vision for culture, which connects to heritage and the visitor economy and 

contributes to people’s health and well-being, as well as supporting environmental sustainability 

and the local cultural ecosystem. 

The Framework document is shared with the Cabinet for constructive comment and feedback 

prior to Boston Borough Council’s approval and adoption. 

It also notes that during the development of the Framework there has been an opportunity to 

submit an Expression of Interest for National Portfolio Organisation status with Arts Council 

England. 

 

  

Page 63

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Members are requested to support the formal adoption of the Cultural Framework for 

Renewal and approve the final document. 

2. In consultation with the portfolio holder, Cllr Richard Austin, that final amendments are 

incorporated and the final document be published on the Council website. 

3. Support the extension of the work to reflect the Partnership with South Holland. 

4. Note the submission of the Expression of Interest for National Portfolio Organisation 

status with Arts Council England. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

A formally adopted Cultural Strategy and agreement of priority actions will provide Boston 

Borough Council with the cultural principles we want to see reflected in each place. In addition, 

the Cultural Framework will support funding applications, increase engagement with art and 

culture and facilitate greater connectivity with Art and Cultural organisations.  

It has also already provided the Partnership with the opportunity to submit an Expression of 

Interest to seek to secure National Portfolio Organisation status and associated funding. 

The ambition of the Framework and associated NPO status supports a wider cultural and place 

based approach to regeneration, in line with the Government’s Levelling Up White Paper and 

links culture with community engagement to support our Partnership objectives. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Arts Council England has provided the funding to create the Cultural Framework, therefore it is a 

requirement of the funding to produce the strategic document. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Arts Council England (ACE) awarded funding to both East Lindsey District Council and 

Boston Borough Council to support the development of cultural strategies. 

 

1.2 Following the Strategic Alliance with Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District 

Council in August 2021 we agreed to align the two strategies.  

 

1.3 An extension to the work was granted to ensure a connected approach to both projects. We 

proposed a joint strategy or framework, which provides both authorities with the cultural 

principles we want to see reflected in each place.  

 

1.4 The work was informed by the current research and engagement which has been led by 

Magna Vitae, whilst engaging with Transported (and other partners) to ensure a solid and 

robust foundation for the area.  

 

Page 64



3 
 

1.5 Each grant has enabled a place-focused approach for culture in Boston and East Lindsey. A 

timeline was agreed to produce a cultural strategy adopted by the Alliance with place-based 

plans for each area to support funding applications, increase engagement with art and 

culture and facilitate greater connectivity.  

 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1 Set against a backdrop of Covid recovery and a new South and East Lincolnshire Councils 

Partnership, the new Cultural Framework seeks to build on the significant progress in recent 

years to support cultural activity, build capacity, and demonstrate commitment to 

excellence and innovation in cultural infrastructure, partnership and programming. 

 

2.2  The Framework aligns with the Government’s Levelling Up White Paper and funding 

opportunities of Cultural Investment through Town Deals and Levelling Up Funds. It is also 

symbiotic with recent policy for the visitor economy and the ambition for Culture to 

support communities’ health and well-being.  

 

2.3  Both Boston and East Lindsey have been designated Arts Council Priority Places – areas 

where there is significant potential but also one where multiple barriers have historically 

stood in the way of system-wide cultural renewal.  

 

2.4 Consultation through a programme of workshops and interviews has informed the draft 

document. An online survey across East Lindsey and Boston gathered a wider range of 

opinions. Key points included: 

 

2.4.1 50% felt there weren’t sufficient or appropriate venues, with cost or administrative 

barriers cited alongside the lack of purpose built cultural infrastructure for some 

types of cultural activity. 

2.4.2 The importance of collaboration and creative organisations to freelancers was 

clearly seen with 82% having worked with a cultural organisation in the area, 68% 

outside the area, and 16% internationally and 63% with an organisation in another 

sector (e.g. technology, health, wellbeing and tourism). 

2.4.3 67% felt there weren’t enough live events indicating an appetite for more. They felt 

cultural activity was affordable (53%), open and inclusive (54%) which reflects the 

community nature of much activity. 

2.4.4 Transport, size and the rural nature of the area were frequently cited as barriers. 

 

2.5 The draft Cultural Framework at Appendix A has proposed Four Strategic Themes emerging 

from the Consultation and Research: Culture for All; Health and Wellbeing; Cultural 

Infrastructure and Cultural Places. 

 

2.6 Multiple barriers have historically stood in the way of system-wide cultural renewal. The 

area’s ageing population and sustained loss of younger talent, limited transport links, health 

and wellbeing indicators, fragmented communities, and lack of critical mass in a range of 

industries, are commonly identified as challenging features or as barriers to cultural 

development. However, there is significant potential through an asset-based perspective 

Page 65



4 
 

with heritage, natural and built environment, building on our existing cultural offer and 

taking full advantage of the ambition and aspirations of the people. 

 

2.7 The Cultural Framework for Renewal sets out the context for the strategic approach to 

Culture across the Partnership and the Consultation feedback. Four strategic themes 

identify the barriers, opportunities and priorities. East Lindsey and Boston have place-based 

priority actions. 

 

2.8 Feedback from Arts Council England has recently been formally provided and has been 

integrated into the latest version of the Cultural Framework at Appendix A. These 

amendments have included a refreshed vision, further alignment with ACE strategy Let’s 

Create, definition of culture to include everyday culture, emphasis on data and a refined 

governance model to reflect the NPO EOI. 

 

2.9 Feedback from the informal Cabinet and member briefing included the following points: 

Alignment with the Boston Historic Place Panel recommendations; reference the NPO 

group led by Magna Vitae; add case studies; provide hard copies; share with High Street 

Task Force support; reference the Local Listing project and improve references to the Buoy 

art work trail and the need for further promotion. These recommendations require 

integrating into the final document. 

2.10 During the development of the Cultural Framework and its Council adoption process, there 

has been further opportunity through meetings with Arts Council England to extend this 

piece of work to reflect the new geography of the Partnership and incorporate the South 

Holland District Council area.  

 

2.11 The lack of NPO applications was also highlighted to the team during their last meeting with 

Arts Council England - being a National Portfolio Organisation provides opportunities for 

creative and cultural organisations to plan and deliver over the long term. It is the bedrock 

of ACE funding and the work of all NPOs is seen as vital to the success and development of 

the cultural sector. An ‘Introductory Conversation’ was held on Thursday 21 April to 

indicate an intention for the South and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership to submit an 

application for National Portfolio Organisation funding. A lead authority would be required 

to be the accountable body – proposed to be East Lindsey District Council. The Partnership’s 

NPO would focus on three centres – Boston Guildhall (Boston Borough Council), 

Asycoughfee Hall (South Holland District Council and the Colonnade at Sutton on Sea (East 

Lindsey District Council). 

2.12 NPO funding would support a programme of art and culture across the Partnership, as well 

as enabling an education, research and skills programme to be developed. The NPO funding 

opportunity presented an opportunity to support the priority actions arising from the 

Cultural Framework. Please see Annex B. 

2.13 The revenue funding would enable investment into people, programmes and activity, whilst 

building on the capital investment from the Towns Fund (and Levelling Up Funding bids). 

Page 66



5 
 

2.14 The application has referenced and supported the Cultural Framework for Boston and East 

Lindsey. 

2.15 The recent development of the UK Shared Prosperity Funding (UKSPF) has provided another 

opportunity to reference the Cultural Framework, particularly within the investment 

priority of Community and Place and aligning with the Missions of the Levelling Up White 

Paper to build Pride in Place. 

3. CONCLUSION 

3.1 The Cultural Framework has been developed through consultation and the agreement to 

adopt the Cultural Strategy and priority actions will provide Boston Borough Council with 

the cultural principles to support funding applications, increase engagement with art and 

culture and facilitate greater connectivity with Art and Cultural organisations.  

3.2 The adoption of the Cultural Framework aligns with Boston’s Corporate Strategy supporting 

Boston as a place where people want to live, work and visit.  

3.3 The Framework has already provided the Partnership with the opportunity to submit an 

Expression of Interest to seek to secure National Portfolio Organisation status and 

associated funding, as well as strengthening the UK Shared Prosperity Investment Plan for 

Boston. 

3.4 The ambition of the Cultural Framework and associated NPO status supports a wider 

cultural and place based approach to regeneration and inclusive growth, in line with the 

Government’s Levelling Up White Paper and links culture with community engagement to 

support our Partnership objectives. 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

A formally adopted Cultural Strategy and agreement of priority actions will provide Boston 

Borough Council with the cultural principles to support funding applications, increase engagement 

with art and culture and facilitate greater connectivity.  

It has also already provided the Partnership with the opportunity to submit an Expression of 

Interest to seek to secure National Portfolio Organisation status and associated funding. 

The ambition of the Framework and associated NPO status supports a wider cultural and place 

based approach to regeneration, in line with the Government’s Levelling Up White Paper and links 

culture with community engagement to support our Partnership objectives. 

IMPLICATIONS SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

The Cultural Framework sets out a number of specific commitments: 

• A commitment to increasing audience participation levels across all types of cultural activity 

– from the very low levels of participation which have promoted Arts Council England to 

position Boston and East Lindsey as priority places for investment in cultural development. 

• A commitment to excellence and innovation in cultural infrastructure, partnership and 

programming. 

• Commitment to the four investment principles set out by Arts Council England – Ambition 

and Quality; Dynamism; Environmental Responsibility; Inclusivity and Relevance. 

Page 67



6 
 

• The establishment of a Cultural Compact to enable the delivery of a programme of activities 

as a new National Portfolio Organisation. 

• Commitment to the Priority Actions identified in the Cultural Framework for Boston. 

These commitments do not have an associated budget and form part of funding applications and 

‘expressions of interest’, therefore the Council may wish to consider a future business case to 

financially support through match funding, or if the funding bids are unsuccessful, then selecting 

the most appropriate plans to support.  

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The Cultural Framework for Renewal reflects the Corporate Priorities identified in the Corporate 

Strategy 2020-2024 and supports its priorities. 

STAFFING 

None arising from the report. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None arising from the report. 

DATA PROTECTION 

None arising from the report. 

FINANCIAL 

None arising from the report. Please note implications above if funding applications are 
unsuccessful. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

Please note the commitments do not have an associated budget and form part of funding 

applications and ‘expressions of interest’, therefore if the funding bids are unsuccessful the Council 

may wish to consider financial and resource allocation to support the delivery of the action plans. 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

External consultation was undertaken as part of the formation of the Cultural Framework. In 

addition to a programme of workshops and interviews ranging from national partners and 

investors such as Arts Council England to local cultural organisations, schools, colleges, venues, 

community groups and artists, consultation for involved a survey to improve understanding of the 

needs and aspirations of local people. The online survey received 100 responses, split into thirds 

between creative practitioners, employees and volunteers at cultural organisations, and 

community members interested in the arts. 

In addition, the Corporate and Community Committee reviewed the draft Cultural Framework on 

26 May. See 2.9 of the report for their comments. 

REPUTATION 

None arising from the report. 

 

Page 68



7 
 

CONTRACTS 

None arising from the report. 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None arising from the report. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None arising from the report. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

The Cultural Framework references The Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Lincolnshire (2018). In 

many of the areas it prioritises, arts and culture are already making a difference, with the potential 

to do much more in the future.  

We are committed to aligning the Framework and the Action Plans with the recently established 

Healthy Living Board, which is tasked with delivering a leisure and culture offer for the sub-region.   

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Cultural Framework aligns with Arts Council’s four investment principles, which incorporates 

Environmental Responsibility. 

The Framework references connecting culture to the natural environment through projects and 

infrastructure, and positioning this Framework as a vital tool for sustainable and responsible 

cultural development. 

We are committed to aligning the Framework with the Partnership’s Climate Change Strategy and 

the newly established Climate Action Network. 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Skills By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills 
training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In 
England, this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing 
high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people 
completing courses in the lowest skilled areas. 

Health By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas 
where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will 
rise by 5 years. 

Wellbeing By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every 
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas 
closing. 

 

Page 69



8 
 

ACRONYMS 

• ACE: Arts Council England 

• NPO: National Portfolio Organisation  

• EOI: Expression of Interest 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Cultural Framework for Renewal 

APPENDIX B NPO Briefing 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

Corporate and Community Committee 26 May 2022 

Cabinet Briefing 13 July 2022 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Lydia Rusling, Assistant Director Economic Growth 

Signed off by: Michelle Sacks, Deputy Chief Executive 

Approved for publication: Cllr Richard Austin 

 

 

 

Page 70



EAST LINDSEY & BOSTON
A CULTURAL FRAMEWORK 
FOR RENEWALP

age 71



FOREWORD
Nam imus, que voluptur aut facero veniendem 
quis es sit qui volut es aut et hillut vendi 
acimporit omniae. Ita con rereptam ex eaquia 
doluptate num explam landandandel expe 
dolecuptis autem que cusapides acerit 
harchicia dolore moluptatur atium lat et 
fugitatum si odi aces et, volorepuda iur, si 
culla nemolorrovid estis eium rem que quiam 
velecto vendaecupta quae nulpa ideruptam 
aliquam vel idebist ruptat es dolut et reped et 
ea coresciatest il in et et aut pa num et ut velis 
aspicillatio et qui dolupicto omnimus volorro 
eum ipsuntion pration sequatur rent.

Elecabo. Ovitatia aut fugit hilit pro eossum 
arum in porepudit es sam verferibusa nonsequ 
oditatiur abo. Aqui quia esciam rem eosam, 
odione labo. Omnimus esciis mos eventor 
eptatem essunt, corestotat viducias verro quas 
dolluptatum rem quat.

Postotati core, offic te quaecae cum quiderro 
es dus magnis ne con cum re et qui sectotate 
eatiandempos et por rem laboratem venit 
voluptam event aut fuga. Catet essimolorro 
mil ipidunt quassitiori duciamenis perrovid 
moluptatus.

Tem vit odis a quia consend ucimolupti ullia 
cori core nusa santissit, cus re doluptati dolupta 
sperore periae. Ces pore, culliquidem ipsapid 
quae volorrum a quisque pliquid erferumqui 
berro offic to occullit porrovidusae lit velessediti 
vendelis dem aces pe dolor am faccate 
mollabo. Aximet volorrovid ut exercit quam 
explabo. Im fugia quiscipsum eum expelessim 
eossume ndenden tectio officabori dolupta 
sperumquam siti con estis sandici beate provid 
quame nitinve lenditate nihit omnist, consequat 
faccae. Ut resed quaspienis quid est, sit, opta 
prepe verum autesto temquis ea illesto et lis 
aut quia cum sinciisqui dolorae et eate ma velit 

ad modit, conest, tota est, aruptam, sam que 
natis aspit, qui blabo. Nam eicatquae prorro 
consequias dolupta spicatur modit harum, 
quation sequis magnimet harunt occab in 
re, quas eos eic toriatur, optat ped ut et esto 
et ex eum ut hicat ut pro moloreperum fuga. 
Nequisitat.

Nam imintur aute simo eostis dolumenda des 
escimolest quia nis nus.

2

P
age 72



CONTENTS
Vision  .................................................................................................................................... 6

Context .............................................................................................................................. 7-19

Four Strategic Themes for Cultural Renewal .......................................................... 20-21

100 Voices from Boston and East Lindsey ..............................................................22-25

Theme 1. Culture, Health and Wellbeing  ................................................................26-27

Theme 2. Culture for All ............................................................................................. 28-29

Theme 3. Cultural Places ............................................................................................30-31

Theme 4. Cultural Infrastructure ...............................................................................32-33

Cultural Partnership .....................................................................................................34-35

A Cultural Framework and Action Plan  .................................................................. 36-41

Key   .....................................................................................................................................42

This Cultural Framework for Boston and 
East Lindsey is commissioned by the 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership. It is supported by Arts 
Council England and project managed 
by Magna Vitae. It is undertaken by Tom 
Fleming Creative Consultancy.

The Cultural Framework is informed by 
extensive collaboration and engagement 
with communities across Boston and 
East Lindsey. Multiple workshops, 
interviews and a survey enabled the co-
creation of a shared vision and agenda for 
culture-led renewal.

This sets out core themes and a set of 
strategic priorities for culture to drive 
renewal in this distinctive, compelling 
and culturally rich part of Lincolnshire. 
It focuses on long-term impact and 
provides an action plan for the next 3 
years (2022-2025).

Thank you to all who have contributed to 
this Cultural Framework for Renewal. 

4 5

P
age 73



VISION
Boston and East Lindsey will be known as beacons of 
inclusive cultural dynamism. Both councils will work 
together with an ambitious programme to drive local 
impact through culture. They will foster opportunities for 
culture-led renewal: where every community takes part 
to create a distinctive cultural ecosystem which connects 
heritage to a shared future, drives innovation in the visitor 
economy and other key sectors, contributes to health and 
wellbeing and supports environmental sustainability.

CONTEXT
This Cultural Framework for Boston and East Lindsey presents an
opportunity to shape a shared strategic approach to culture while re-
taining a focus on their distinctive qualities. The establishment of the 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership¹ lays a platform for 
new collaboration and exchange and provides opportunities to build 
scale and drive impact through culture, with ambitious plans for town 
centre renewal, rural renaissance, a revitalised tourism offer, and a 
diverse and inclusive economy. This new partnership also provides 
opportunities for coordinating the development of cultural capacity 
and facilitating innovation through culture which can bring communi-
ties together and enhance wellbeing as we recover from the Covid-19 
pandemic and look to the future.

Covid-19 has caused immense suffering and generated uncertainty
across every area of society. It has also brutally exposed the fragility of
core economic sectors, including tourism and the cultural and cre-
ative industries, which depend on micro enterprises and freelancers 
and which thrive through interactions with audiences. In a 2020 
Report² , the RSA estimated that one in three jobs are at risk due to 
the pandemic with East Lindsey one of the most exposed areas due 
to its dependence on hospitality and seasonal tourism. Culture plays 
an important role in the visitor economy of Boston and East Lindsey, 
with festivals and events a key element of the overall experience and 
cultural organisations and artists dependent on a blend of income, 
including that generated through tourism. Covid-19 has proved dam-
aging in the capacity for income generation. But it has also, through 
the uplift in domestic tourism experienced between lockdowns, ben-
efited from UK audiences looking again at local opportunities for days 
out and short stays.

The pandemic has changed the way we live, work and connect. While 
many have missed the joy and richness that taking part in live and in-
person cultural activity brings, the ability to create meaningful interactions 
digitally brings many new opportunities to reach new audiences in new 
ways. The shift towards increasing self-employment and working from 
home, including the move some have made from cities to small towns 
and villages, provides opportunities for Boston and East Lindsey to build a 
talent pool of artists, cultural producers and small creative businesses. 

The pandemic has also required us all to reconsider what we value 
and what we need, with culture increasingly recognised as a vital part 
of a healthy, fulfilled life and as critical to a more balanced and diverse 
economy. The connection between culture and wellbeing is increasingly 
well understood, as demonstrated through a recent report by Arts Council 
England which monitored the role of culture in supporting health and 
wellbeing during the pandemic and its role in our recovery³.

76

P
age 74



WHAT DO WE MEAN BY CULTURE?
For this Framework, culture refers to a wide-range of activities and assets – from everyday 
activity to professional cultural practice. We cover the full range of activities supported by 
Arts Council England and are mindful of the need to connect with all age groups and cultural 
identities.

Culture is our lives, identities and communities. It is the way we see ourselves and 
our place in the world. It is where we live, who we are and how we learn. It is how we live 
our lives. It is how we dress, communicate, eat and drink. It is how we build and decorate our 
homes. It is how we express ourselves – from music to sport. It is how we design and inhabit 
our streets and open spaces. It is what we do and why we do it. 

Culture is heritage. It is our memories and stories, lived through our friends and relatives 
here and elsewhere. It is what we imagine ourselves to be. It is our possessions and artefacts. 
It is the built and natural landscape. It is our story and how we re-tell it. It is who we were and 
who we are becoming.

Culture is museums, galleries, cinemas, music venues, theatres, libraries, 
festivals and events. It is how we record, collect, curate and present our identities and 
how we understand others’ identities. It is how we preserve and bring to life our stories. It is 
how we express our world to others. It is about the conscious experience of culture. 

Culture is practice. It is the applied imagination of artists, writers and performers. It is the 
act of making – ideas, text, code, objects, paintings, sound and vision. It is performance. It is 
active participation. It is innovation and renewal.

Culture is industry. It is the economic value generated by culture. It is the jobs and 
revenue. It is the added value – to innovation, productivity and brand. It is the creative and 
digital businesses. It is the design, production and trade of intellectual property (IP). It is 
tourism and retail. It is the competitiveness of the wider economy.

Culture is our shared future. It is how we connect and exchange. It is what we have in 
common and how we differ. It is our neighbourhood, ethnicity, gender, age, sexuality, religion, 
values and politics.

However, this Framework is not just about post-Covid recovery through 
culture. It is about long-term renewal: building stronger, safer, happier 
communities; enhancing quality of life and quality of place; diversifying the 
economy and nurturing opportunities for all. This includes a commitment 
to increasing audience participation levels across all types of cultural 
activity – from the very low levels of participation which have promoted Arts 
Council England to position Boston and East Lindsey as priority places for 
investment in cultural development. 

This Framework builds on the existing cultural assets in Boston and 
East Lindsey: a rich heritage with each settlement deeply connected to 
its past; a varied cultural landscape, from seaside entertainment to lively 
village halls, innovative festivals to inspirational public art; an increasingly 
diverse population contributing to cultural dynamism and bringing fresh 
international connections; and a distinctive geography of waterways and 
Wolds, villages and market towns, coastal dunes, arable landscapes and 
woodlands. Boston and East Lindsey are already places of culture.

This Framework also builds on significant progress in recent years to 
support cultural activity, build capacity, and demonstrate commitment 
to excellence and innovation in cultural infrastructure, partnership and 
programming. This is evidenced in the growth of festivals and events, 
which connect local communities to international best practice (e.g. SO 
Festival and the work of Transported in Boston); in the work of artists and 
cultural producers; and in the ambition for excellence in both urban and 
rural cultural infrastructure and programming, with Magna Vitae playing 
an important facilitating role and fresh partnerships (such as with the 
University of Lincoln) are connecting the coast to the county. The seeds 
have been sown for this Framework to provide a structured approach to 
long-term culture-led renewal which will build pride, connect communities, 
and contribute to the area’s renaissance.

Levelling Up And Inclusive Growth
The strategic context for this strategy includes the heightened national 
focus on investing in areas which have missed out on the economic growth 
that other more prosperous areas have enjoyed. For Boston and East 
Lindsey, this is already translating into Towns Fund deals which will bring 
in over £70 million to support new and improved infrastructure, develop 
transport links, nurture skills, increase employability, grow businesses and 
enhance the overall quality of place. Culture is an integral theme across 
all three Towns Fund Deals – in Boston, Skegness and Mablethorpe, 
recognised for the role it can play in placemaking, regenerating historic 
buildings, attracting visitors, boosting the economy and building civic pride.

The area is also hopeful that it will be successful in applications to the next 
round of Levelling Up and the UK Shared Prosperity Fund in 2022. Culture 
can play a major role in levelling up for Boston and East Lincolnshire: 
supporting talent development and employability, galvanising town 
centres, diversifying and innovating across the visitor economy, and 
building capacity and confidence for all communities. In turn, this will build 
a dynamic cultural ecosystem for Boston and East Lindsey which supports 
sustainable long-term development.

The Corporate Strategy for East Lindsey 2020-2030⁴ sets out an ambitious 
agenda where “everybody has a chance to thrive”. This includes priorities 
for the revitalisation of town centres, enhanced health and wellbeing, 
environmental sustainability, an uplift in entrepreneurship and business 
development, and a focus on a dynamic and resilient visitor economy. 
Culture is the golden thread which connects these priorities and will be 
central to the area’s sustainable and inclusive development. 

Boston’s bid for City Status to coincide with the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee 
will draw from the area’s compelling cultural heritage and describe the 
ways culture continues to drive renewal, with diverse influences from 
Eastern Europe and beyond continuing a long history of international in- 
and out-migration. 

8 9

P
age 75



A Greater Lincolnshire – County wide initiatives
This Cultural Framework also builds from and connects to a range of 
local strategies and strategic partnerships where culture is increasingly 
to the fore of agendas in skills, tourism, economic growth, social care, 
health and wellbeing and environment. 

In 2017 Lincolnshire’s Cultural strategy was launched with five core 
themes each of which is still relevant to the area and very much inform 
the thinking of this Framework⁵ :

 � Inspiring Children & Young People 

 � Nurturing, Attracting, & Retaining Talent 

 � Growing Participation & Wellbeing 

 � Supporting the Economy 

 � Strengthening Places & Communities 

In 2019, the Creative Lincoln Shire Project, led by the Lincoln University 
of Lincoln and local partners including the Greater Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) and the County Council, identified 
priorities for investment and support to drive inclusive growth through 
culture. Many of its findings are relevant to this Cultural Framework – not 
least the overall finding:

“Lincolnshire has emergent, but undeveloped, cultural 
and creative industries. The County has not significantly 

benefitted from the very high growth of the creative industries 
nationally and internationally and lacks the hubs and 

associated agglomeration effects seen elsewhere. The quality 
of place, access to talent relatively low cost of living, and 

strong local culture, all point to the potential of establishing a 
high growth and high value creative economy:”

The Creative Lincoln Shire research identified coastal Lincolnshire as 
growing in terms of cultural tourism, festivals and events, all of which 
provide talent pathways for a strong and sustainable cultural ecosystem. 
In addition, the research outlined how: 

“Market towns and villages across the County are becoming 
micro-hubs for creative businesses which can, with the right 

network and support infrastructure, build capacity for growth 
and innovation”.

The research cites festivals as key drivers for innovation, talent and 
market development, and as catalysts for inward investment and place-
making. 

The Greater Lincolnshire LEP’s Strategy for Inclusive Growth prioritises 
the visitor economy and a tourism offer that attracts higher spending 
visitors throughout the year underpinned by a vibrant creative and 
cultural offer, demonstrating how critical the sector is. It also highlights 
the importance of the creative industries – identifying over 3,000 
businesses across the county – as a small but growing sector, with an 
important role to play in skills development and employment growth⁶.

The LEP is focussed on skills with particular priorities being addressing 
the skills challenges of the next decade, including the need to replace 
people leaving work through retirement and the need for more people to 
fill technical and professional jobs. It prioritises inspiring and supporting 
young people to stay and work in the area. This Cultural Framework can 
kickstart a process of strategic development for the creative industries, 
focusing on nurturing talent, boosting creative employment and self-
employment, and building strategic partnerships with key employers 
(from Butlins to Batemans), establishing the Midlands Coast as a hub for 
creative practice.

The establishment of a new Visitor Economy Board for Lincolnshire 
and the expansion of Visit Lincoln to cover the whole County as the 
business-led Destination Lincolnshire reflects a new strategic approach 
to growing tourism. The new Board will seek to grow the tourism sector 
estimated to be worth £2.39 Billion and employing 30,000 people. As 
well as Skegness, the UK’s 4th most popular holiday resort, Boston and 
East Lindsey’s diverse tourism offer stretches from the natural beauty 
of the Wolds and coastline to aviation and second world war heritage. 
With culture and heritage integral to growing the tourism sector and 
encouraging visitors to take-in a wider footprint of the area, Boston and 
East Lindsey can become hubs for new types of cultural tourism based 
on shared itineraries which interweave contemporary culture, heritage, 
nature and wellbeing.

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Lincolnshire (2018) sets out an 
ambitious agenda for improving health and wellbeing throughout the 
County. In many of the areas it prioritises, arts and culture are already 
making a difference, with the potential to do much more in the future. 
These include the focus on improving mental health – something that 
organisations including Transported in Boston have been focussed on. 
Prevention – across health and care – is an overarching theme along 
with supporting people to get work and stay in employment. Engaging 
with arts and culture has been shown to be as vital to preventing ill-
health as physical activity.

10

P
age 76



The 3 strategic outcomes for Let’s Create are also highly 
relevant to this Cultural Framework:

Creative People: ensuring we are open, inclusive 
and supportive of everyone, championing 
participation and working to ensure no one is left 
behind. This includes a focus on what makes East 
Lindsey and Boston distinctively diverse – such 
as through our Eastern European population, our 
higher than average older population, our military 
communities, our caravan communities, and our 
rural population. 

Cultural Communities: nurturing cultural renewal 
through our places and infrastructure, and 
embracing wider notions of community, including 
those linked to senses of shared purpose and 
identity. 

A Creative and Cultural Country: championing 
artists and cultural practitioners, driving 
excellence and innovation and growing a dynamic 
ecosystem which reaches across the Midlands 
Coast and contributes to the regional and national 
cultural offer.

Arts Council England - Support for Priority 
Places
Arts Council England’s 10-year Strategy, Let’s Create, and its Delivery Plan 
for 2021-2024, set out priorities for future work

which will help drive the impact that culture can deliver across

the country. This includes a renewed commitment to a place-based 
approach (and levelling up) which will see investment

targeted at ‘left-behind places’ which include Boston and East Lindsey 
as well as other nearby places: North East Lincolnshire, Fenland and 
Peterborough. While the mechanisms through which support priority 
places will be delivered are still being finalised, there will be increased 
support to ensure that areas which currently receive less than average 
grant funding can grow their cultural capacity. The approach will also see 
closer working between Arts Council England and other strategic bodies 
such as English Heritage and the National Lottery Fund for Heritage: to 
coordinate approaches and maximise shared investment.  

The four investment principles set out by Arts Council England provide a 
good framework for prioritising investment and support for Boston and 
East Lindsey:

Ambition and Quality: a commitment to supporting ambitious 
cultural organisations and artists committed to quality, connected to 
the public and investing in training and skills. This is already a priority 
for organisations in Boston and East Lindsey, something that the 
Town’s Fund investment will help deliver and which will connect the 
culture sector to the broader strategies at a Lincolnshire level.

Dynamism: a commitment to invest in organisations strengthening 
their governance and leadership, developing the skills and wellbeing 
of their workforce, improving their data culture and adopting 
appropriate new technologies across their business. New dynamic 
ways of working, including utilising digital technology, rural touring 
and the reanimation of heritage for contemporary cultural practice, 
all feature across Boston and East Lindsey, while networks such as 
the SOcial are bringing opportunities for new and emerging cultural 
leaders. There is clearly much to be done here in terms of growing 
the support for artists and producers of all ages. Joining together 
organisations and programming, and generating new types of 
innovative cultural practice. 

Environmental responsibility: a commitment to cultural 
organisations and individuals leading the way in their approach to 
environmental responsibility. In an area where the risk of flooding 
and wider effects of climate change are already experienced, this is 
already a priority for Boston and East Lindsey, and connecting culture 
to the natural environment through projects and infrastructure is 
understood to be critical. Furthermore, opportunities to catalyse 
green tourism and partner green economy priorities across 
the Midlands Coast⁷ , position this Framework as a vital tool for 
sustainable and responsible cultural development.

Inclusivity and relevance: a commitment to equality and fairness, 
and encouragement to cultural organisations which draw on a wider 
range of views and experiences. Organisation’s such as Transported 
in Boston have national reputations for community led cultural 
development, while smaller organisations across the area are driven 
by volunteers working in community settings. With the impact of the 
Brexit referendum still very raw, with challenges of talent loss and 
bridge-building for the area’s diverse population, cultural renewal 
can only be achieved if every community feels shared and equal 
ownership of the area’s cultural future. This includes a targeted 
approach to put culture to the fore in tackling health inequalities and 
supporting diverse talent to prosper, including people of disability. 

12 13

P
age 77



Wider Opportunities
As well as hopefully seeing the worst of the pandemic end in 
2022, a number of events and festivals present opportunities for 
collaborative cultural development in Boston and East Lindsey. 
For example:

Unboxed: Creativity in the UK⁸ , which runs from March 
to October will be the largest creative programme ever in 
the UK with 10 nationwide programmes mixing science, 
technology, engineering, mathematics and the arts which 
will engage audiences in person, online on tv and radio. 

The Commonwealth Games in Summer 2022 will be 
backed up by Birmingham 2022 – a £12 million cultural 
programme of 250 commissioned projects and 150 
community events.

The Boston Massachusetts 400th anniversary 
commemorations provide a platform for international 
collaboration which nurtures local engagement and 
participation. This is building toward a major programme 
of activity in 2030. Alongisde the work of Transported, So 
Festival and cultural anchors such as Boston Blackfriars 
and Skegness Embassy Theatre, there are growing 
opportunities to position the area as a hub for partnership 
working and touring which tests new types of cultural 
practice, connects creative making to heritage, and fosters 
local pride. 

Digital innovation provides opportunities to create amore 
dynamic, interactive and accessible tourism and cultural 
offer. Improvements in digital capacity and connectivity can 
open-up, deepen and extend cultural programming. For 
example, the BFI-supported Midlands Film Hub  is bringing 
film to community centres and village halls and supporting 
audience engagement via connections to archives, access 
to film-makers and film-making and storytelling. Digital 
can also help mobilise young people’s participation in 
the cultural ecosystem – e.g. via opportunities in creative 
technology, in programming interactive and immersive 
cultural experiences, and in supporting networks and 
exchange. 

The Queen’s 70th Jubilee will see community centred 
cultural activity in June 2022, supported by the £5 million 
Let’s Create Jubilee Fund⁹. 

Kaunas, Lithuania, will be European Capital of Culture 
in 2022¹⁰  – offering ‘One Big Stage for Europe’, including 
multiple collaborations with arts and cultural organisations 
from different countries. With such strong Lithuanian 
connections in this part of Lincolnshire, opportunities for 
cultural exchange are possible, even if the UK is now a 
‘third country’ to the European Union. 

Tourism renewal. The Government’s Tourism Recovery 
Plan (DCMS 2021) sets out a commitment to re-build and 
reinvigorate tourism, with a focus on recovering domestic 
overnight trip volume and spend to 2019 levels by the 
end of 2022, and inbound visitor numbers and spend 
by the end of 2023. To deliver this will involve a regional 
focus – levelling up impact, with a focus on extending the 
average visitor stay, increasing resilience, enhancing the 
visitor experience and increasing accessibility. The cultural 
sector of Boston and East Lindsey stands to benefit from 
this programme and can contribute to its effective delivery. 
Events, festivals and cultural development activities 
across Lincolnshire and in nearby North Norfolk, present 
opportunities for collaboration and exchange. By building 
capacity across this wider geography, Boston and East 
Lindsey can become hubs of cultural development with a 
scale and sustainability unavailable by just working locally. 
The emergent concept of the ‘Midlands Coast’ – from the 
Humber to the Wash, can provide a strategic narrative 
for large-scale cultural renewal, providing opportunities 
to connect and collaborate with Grimsby Creates and the 
Norfolk and Suffolk Culture Board. Shared activities can 
include audience development, professional exchange and 
coordinated programming. 

15

P
age 78



BOSTON
Sample Of Cultural Highlights
The market town of Boston has a remarkably rich history. In the 13th 
Century it was the second largest port in the country, ranking it is part 
of the Hanseatic League – of which it is one of five UK members today. 
Many of the original Pilgrims on the Mayflower set off from the town, 
including the founder of the city of Boston in Massachusetts. The wider 
borough (population 65,000) today is notable for its football club, diverse 
population, port, and the importance of food production to the local 
economy. Boston also has a strong voluntary cultural sector and an 
active cultural life from heritage enthusiasts to a wide variety of activities 
programmes in village halls and community spaces. The town deal, worth 
£21.9 million will:

“achieve sustainable economic growth and 
pride of place through bold urban design, 

digital solutions and connected communities. 
This will launch Boston into the future, build 
on its unique heritage and make our town an 

exciting place to live, work, invest and visit for 
generations to come.”

Blackfriars Arts Centre – home to two 
local amateur groups and host to a varied 
programme of professional productions.

Savoy Cinema – Modern facility screening films 
and live theatre with a café-bar.

Shodfriars Hall – Adjacent to Blackfriars, will 
be brought back into use as a cultural centre 
through the Towns Fund.

Battle of Britain Memorial Flight Visitor Centre 
– Provides public access to the Memorial Flight 
at RAF Coningsby.

We’ll Meet Again WW2 Homefront Museum 
– award winning museum based at Freiston 
Shore, with a collection of WW1 and WW 2 
artefacts.

The Bubblecar Museum – with 50 microcars 
including Bond, Isetta, reliant and Bamby.

Museums & 
Galleries

Natural  
Environment

Boston Central Park - Formerly a private deer 
park and now a focal point for the town it 
houses a bird aviary, café and skate park.

Freiston Shore – a naturally regenerated salt 
marsh, that benefits wintering, passage and 
nesting birds.

Frampton Marsh – An RSPB reserve and 
one of Europe’s most important locations for 
freshwater wildlife.

Libraries
Boston Library – Housed in the County Hall, 
hosts activities for adults and children including 
arts and crafts, IT skills, music and drama 
groups.

Notable 
Projects

Boston Buoys Art trail a series of artworks 
created on former working buoys, Boston 
Book Festival championing diverse authors, 
Illuminate Boston, 1620 lanterns to celebrate 
the 400th anniversary of the Pilgrims, Emerge 
Festival a free family event with games, 
performance and music, Aerial Dance Classes 
for the adventurous.

Venues &  
Community Spaces

Include the Gliderdrome, a unique concert 
venue, The Beonna at All Saints, a focal point 
for the community, Centenary Methodist 
Church, a venue used for community meals, 
concerts, homeless housing project and much 
more.

Heritage
St Botolph’s Church – known as the Boston 
Stump and for being the largest Parish Church 
in the UK, its size reflecting the importance 
of the town. As well as being used worship it 
hosts a range of arts activities.

Hussey Tower – A Scheduled Ancient 
Monument built in the 15th century and once 
part of a large manor house.

Boston Guildhall – Built in the 1390s, a symbol 
of Boston’s power at the time, now housing a 
museum and used for weddings.

The Old Kings Head – in Kirton, a rare 16th 
Century example of the Fenland Artisan 
Mannerist style

Transported – A strategic, community focused 
programme part of the Arts Council England’s 
National Portfolio programme, driving cultural 
development across Boston and beyond. This 
includes a focus on boosting everyday cultural 
participation.

Boston Sinfonia – Founded in 1996 to give 
a platform to local professional standard 
musicians and orchestra in residence at the 
Stump.

Boston Hanse Group – The New Hanse brings 
together 197 towns and cities from across 
Europe in the spirit of the original Hanseatic 
League

Bos Musical Theatre Group – an award-winning 
performing society based in Boston.

Arts & Cultural  
Organisations

16

P
age 79



EAST LINDSEY 
Sample Of Cultural Highlights
Bigger than many counties and geographically the fifth largest district in 
England, East Lindsey’s 137,000 residents are spread between a mix of 
market towns, coastal towns, villages and rural locations including Manby, 
Alford, Wragby, Spilsby, Woodall Spa, Mablethorpe, Skegness, Horncastle, 
Chapel St Leonards and Louth. Its coast is renowned for its natural 
environment as well as home to the 4th largest holiday resort in the 
country. The Lincolnshire Wolds is an area of outstanding Natural Beauty. 
The economy is dominated by tourism on the coast and agriculture 
inland. Magna Vitae play a vital role in supporting culture and leisure 
activities across East Lindsey, with plans to extend their role in rural areas. 
Skegness and Mablethorpe have secured £48.4 million Town Deal so they 
can: 

“make their distinctive contributions to a 
Connected Coast, renewed and refreshed 

as settlements through a programme which 
diversifies their economies, builds their skills 

base and establishes them as national test 
beds for future living and natural resource 

management.”

Alford Manor House – the largest thatched 
manor house in the country, build in the 17th 
Century, adjacent to the museum of Rural Life.

Woodhall Spa Cottage Museum - housed in a 
rare 19th Century corrugated iron bungalow, it 
tells the unique history of the village.

Louth Museum – award-winning museum with 
4 galleries and a library.

Other museums include Magdalen College 
in Wainfleet, Lincolnshire Aviation Heritage 
Centre, Magdalen College Museum, Sir Joseph 
Banks Centre Museum and The Village Church 
Farm.

Museums & 
Galleries

Networks
Networks include the SOcial, SO Festival’s 
creative network, attracting over 60 members. 
Alford Hub with 90 active volunteers, Louth Art 
Trail and Horncastle Together.

Natural  
Environment

Highlights include the North Sea Observatory, 
and its programmes in culture and 
environment, Hubbard’s Hills, wonderful 
beaches, Saltfleeby-Theddlethorpe Dunes, 
Chapel Marsh pit and Hufton Bank for wildlife, 
Woodhall Spa Woods, Snipe Dales Country 
Park

Libraries
There are five County Council-led libraries in 
Skegness, Mablethorpe, Louth and Woodhall 
Spa; plus a portfolio of small community-led 
libraries. Village halls and community hubs 
are also vital parts of the community cultural 
infrastructure. 

SO Festival – a major international street 
art festival offering a variety of outdoor 
entertainment in Skegness and Mablethorpe. 
Other festivals include Zero degrees in Louth 
and Beyond the Woods.

Magna Vitae – a charitable trust running 
cultural, leisure and health facilities across 
Lincolnshire (including the SO Festival).

Live and Local – Facilitates high-quality 
professional performance in small venues 
across the district (as well as nationally).

Choral Societies – there are numerous local 
groups including in Louth, Horncastle, Alford.

Louth 13+ Youth and Community Centre – a 
hive of activity for young and old since 1992.

Zero Degrees Festival, Louth – an exemplar 
community-led festival working across the arts. 

Arts & Cultural  
Organisations

Arts Venues
Skegness Embassy Theatre – Managed 
by Magna Vitae, with multiple adaptable 
auditoriums, it is central to the Skegness Town 
Deal plans to create a cultural hub

Riverhead Theatre – Run by the Louth 
Playgoers, puts on frequent amateur 
productions and runs workshops for all ages.

Spilsby Sessions House – Currently undergoing 
restoration once funds are secured it will be a 
community venue and heritage asset.

Other notable assets include Louth Jazz Club,  
Neverland Theatre and Arts Centre, Grubby 
Knees Theatre Company, Horncastle 

Notable 
Projects

The SOvember Weekender in Skegness for 
digital arts encounters, Skegness Beach race 
attracting crowds of 30,000, Halloween at 
Hildreds shopping centre, Festive Fabuloso 
which toured 5 towns in winter 2021with a 
repurposed organ and light show.

Heritage
Britain Memorial Visitor Flight Centre – a 
popular rheritage attraction. 

Gunby Estate – An 18th Century country house 
set in a landscaped 100-acre park.

Tatershall Cottage – The ruin of a grammar 
school, then later a brewery, saved for the 
nation in 1974.

Other highlights include Alford Windmill, the 
work of Louth Navigation Trust, Claythorpe 
Watermill, St Wilfred’s Church, Bolingbroke 

18

P
age 80



FOUR STRATEGIC THEMES FOR 
CULTURAL RENEWAL
Consultation for this Cultural Framework has brought into sharp 
relief both the opportunities for cultural renewal in Boston and East 
Lindsey and the challenges. As recognised by Arts Council England in 
the allocation of Boston and East Lindsey as priority places, the area 
is one of significant potential but also one where multiple barriers 
have historically stood in the way of system-wide cultural renewal. 
The area’s ageing population and sustained loss of younger talent, 
limited transport links, health and wellbeing indicators, fragmented 
communities, and lack of critical mass in a range of industries, are 
commonly identified as challenging features or as barriers to cultural 
development.

But the area can also be understood from an ‘asset-based perspective’, 
where its heritage, natural and built environment, existing cultural 
offer, and the ambition and aspirations of its people, provide a set of 
cultural resources which can be nurtured as part of a holistic process 
of cultural renewal. The distinctive geography – as part of the Midlands 
Coast and with a network of villages and market towns – provides 
opportunities for a networked and coordinated approach (e.g. building 
from the Vital and Viable Towns Network in East Lindsey). 

In exploring what is possible, what is needed, and also what is 
most challenging, this consultation for this Cultural Framework 
has identified 4 interconnected strategic themes. These provide the 
thematic architecture for culture-led partnership and investment:

CULTURAL 
RENEWAL

CULTURAL  
INFRASTRUCTURE

CULTURAL 
PLACES

HEALTH & 
WELLBEING

CULTURE 
FOR ALL

HEALTH &  
WELLBEING

Culture makes a strong 
contribution to improved 
health and wellbeing for 
the whole population. As 

well as boosting individual 
mental and physical health 
outcomes, culture helps to 
build resilient and cohesive 
communities. Culture plays 

a vital role in post-Covid 
recovery, supporting a 

process of healing, of re-
emergence, and of new-

found confidence. Culture 
helps to build positive 
relationships between 

people and place, reducing 
depression, anxiety and 

loneliness. 

CULTURE  
FOR ALL

Boston and East Lindsey 
prioritise culture for 

everyone, residents and 
visitors alike. For children 
and young people, culture 
is part of everyday life, with 
opportunities to participate 
inside and outside school, 
with the chance to grow 
and develop skills and 

with progression routes to 
employment and education. 
For families, culture provides 
for more attractive, healthy 
places to live and activities 

for all ages. For communities, 
this helps build cohesion, 
animate places and build 

pride.

CULTURAL  
PLACES

The area’s unique mix of 
towns, coastal resorts, 

villages and rural hamlets 
are connected through 
shared cultural activity 

that animates high streets, 
attracts visitors on- and off-

season, and connects people 
to heritage and the natural 

environment. Culture plays a 
leading role in regenerating 

and revitalising town centres 
and supporting the recovery 
of tourism; culture connects 
communities through new 

touring models; and culture 
links with leisure and sport to 
support active participation in 

civic life

CULTURAL  
INFRASTRUCTURE

Boston and East 
Lindsey are a model 

for innovative, inclusive 
cultural infrastructure of all 
kinds – including venues, 
outdoor spaces, festivals 
and networks to support 

a vibrant, high-quality, 
community-centred cultural 

ecosystem. Heritage and 
natural assets are re-

imagined and re-modelled 
as spaces for cultural 

production and expression. 
The area becomes a hub for 
innovative cultural practice 
– including in outdoor arts, 

rural touring and community 
engagement.

20 21

P
age 81



100 VOICES FROM BOSTON &  
EAST LINDSEY
In addition to a programme of workshops and interviews ranging from 
national partners and investors such as Arts Council England to local 
cultural organisations, schools, colleges, venues, community groups 
and artists, consultation for this Framework involved a survey to improve 
understanding of the needs and aspirations of local people. We distributed 
a online survey across East Lindsey and Boston to gather a wider range 
of opinions. Close to 100 local people responded, split into thirds between 
creative practitioners, employees and volunteers at cultural organisations, 
and community members interested in the arts. 

In terms of their views on the area as a place to be based as a creative 
practitioner, respondents were generally positive. On average they felt there 
were creative opportunities in the area, that they can network with others, 
that their work was valued by communities and cultural organisations. 
However nearly 50% felt there weren’t sufficient or appropriate venues to 
accommodate their work in the area, with cost or administrative barriers 
cited alongside the lack of purpose-built cultural infrastructure for some 
types of cultural activity.

The importance of collaboration and creative organisations to freelancers 
was clearly seen with 82% having worked with a cultural organisation 
in the area, 68% outside the area, 16% internationally and 63% with an 
organisation in another sector (e.g. technology, health, wellbeing and 
tourism). 

People working for organisations were particularly keen to develop new 
audiences (86% strongly agreeing), were happy with their venues (57% 
tending to or strongly agreeing) and increase volunteering activities (48% 
strongly agreeing). 

In terms of audiences, survey respondents were unsurprisingly heavy 
attenders - 60% had attended 6 or more cultural activities in last year and 
30% 2-5 cultural activities. 60% knew where to find information on events 
but 67% felt there weren’t enough live events indicating an appetite for 
more. They felt cultural activity was affordable (53%), open and inclusive 
(54%) which reflects the community nature of much activity. However, work 
is not as local as it could be with 60% of respondents saying they had to 
travel more 20 minutes to attend an event. 

In terms of what they thought of East Lindsey and Boston as places 
of cultural activity there were a real mix of responses. On the 
negative side, people reported a lack of activity or variation:

“Not enough going on.  Could be 
much more going on.”

“There is a lot of opportunity to 
create cultural activities with 

these areas - I just rarely see such 
events in the area.”

“East Lindsey tends to be quite 
samey with the same events, 
same people etc. A bit of variation 
would be nice.”

22 23

P
age 82



Transport, size and the rural nature of the area were frequently cited 
as barriers:

“It is difficult to secure higher 
quality performers due to the 
excess costs and lower audience 
numbers. In the past there have 
been higher levels of subsidy 
available.” 

“The long distances people have 
to travel limits participation in 

cultural events and activities, and 
particularly the very limited public 

transport.  In Louth we now have 
no long-distance coach service (to 

London etc), no railway, no local 
buses in the evenings, and no 

Sunday buses.”

There were several more positive comments, though they mention a lack of overarching cultural 
partnership, limited venues, and challenges with engaging people from different parts of the 
community:

“Transported is exceptional, what a difference they 
have made.”

“What goes on in Boston already is great, but 
there is massive potential to invest in people and 
their talents and especially our beautiful heritage 

buildings, so everything comes alive for the benefit 
of all.”

“Obviously as rural places they will always have 
limitations in terms of availability and accessibility 
for cultural events. As a creative I don’t have a 
problem with that, it is just a challenge that I am 
happy to have for the privilege of living in this area. 
There is lots going on:  e.g., theatre, arts cinema, 
music. Visual arts less so as no dedicated venues.”

Finally, a quote which really sums up the challenge and opportunity for this Cultural Development Framework:

“The area is so huge and so spread out with such a range of 
small centres of population that it is sometimes hard to get 

a handle on what is going on. There are some real pockets 
of cultural excellence for sure, but an arguable lack of 

coordination sometimes makes it hard to understand the overall 
direction of travel. 

The Cultural Framework is perhaps an opportunity not only 
to raise the profile of arts & cultural activities across the area, 

but also develop the understanding of its significance amongst 
potential partners (such as businesses, local councillors etc.”

24 25

P
age 83



THEME 1. CULTURE, HEALTH  
& WELLBEING
The Vision
Culture makes a strong contribution to 
improved health and wellbeing for the whole 
population. As well as boosting individual 
mental and physical health outcomes, 
culture helps to build resilient and cohesive 
communities. Culture plays a vital role in 
post-Covid recovery, supporting a process of 
healing, of re-emergence, and of new-found 
confidence. Culture helps to build positive 
relationships between people and place, 
reducing depression, anxiety and loneliness.

The Challenges and Opportunities
In common with Lincolnshire as a whole, improving health 
and wellbeing in East Lindsey and Boston is a priority. Due to 
a range of factors, including pockets of multiple deprivation, 
low income and skills levels, demographic profile (with an 
ageing population), parts of the area suffer from poor health 
outcomes with people suffering more years of physical 
and mental ill health, lifestyle-related illnesses and chronic 
conditions and shortened lifespans. Issues to do with rural 
isolation, transport and poor housing, particularly for some 
coastal communities, makes the problem more acute. Added 
to this has been the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
which has disproportionately affected poorer and vulnerable 
communities here as it has nationally and internationally.

Culture is already playing an important part in helping people 
to live happier, healthier and more fulfilled lives. Whether it is 
providing people with the transferable skills and confidence 
that can help them gain employment or stay in employment 
(a vital driver of better health), helping tackle the problems 
caused by loneliness or isolation through active participation 
and volunteering or bringing communities together through 
major events that encourage a sense of cohesion and civic 
pride.

In addition, opportunities to connect cultural provision and 
participation to the provision of health and wellbeing services 
can be explored as a strategic priority for the area. This 
can leverage incoming investment – such as the proposed 
Wellbeing Hub in Skegness. There is a growing body of good 
practice in cultural and social prescribing – e.g. targeting 
health conditions caused by loneliness or frailty; or supporting 
people to build culturally active lives as a preventative 
intervention. Plus opportunities to boost volunteering in 
cultural activities can attend to a range of personal and 
collective challenges, not least the ways community 
confidence and trust are weakened due tot the lack of 
community engagement and dialogue. 

Priority Areas for Action

Build on the current work being done at a 
County level through the One You Lincolnshire 
programme which supports healthy living. 
This presents opportunities to work with 
commissioning services do culture can deliver 
positive health and wellbeing outcomes in 
deprived wards. Support Lincolnshire, the online 
directory of available support and services, 
can feature cultural provision as a vital part of 
the portfolio of resources available to deliver a 
healthier Lincolnshire.

Connect the proposed Wellbeing Hub in Skegness 
and Campus for Future Living in Mablethorpe 
(both featured in successful Towns Fund bids) to 
a culture and wellbeing programme. This can be 
part of an ambitious R&D project on culture and 
wellbeing – partnering local cultural organisations 
and local health and wellbeing infrastructure to 
national and international best practice. It can test 
and model approaches to cultural prescribing and 
mobilise volunteering as a wellbeing priority.

Expand and scale up the work of groups including 
Transported, which have used the arts to help 
tackle physical and mental health issues.

Increase the connections between culture and 
heritage, using culture as a means to encourage 
new visitors to the area’s physical and cultural 
heritage, building pride and confidence for all 
communities.

27

P
age 84



THEME 2. CULTURE FOR ALL
The Vision
Boston and East Lindsey prioritise 
culture for everyone, residents and 
visitors alike. For children and young 
people, culture is part of everyday life, 
with opportunities to participate inside 
and outside school, with the chance 
to grow and develop skills and with 
progression routes to employment 
and education. For families, culture 
provides for more attractive, healthy 
places to live and activities for all ages. 
For older people, cultural activity helps 
reduce loneliness and enhance health 
and wellbeing. For communities, this 
helps build cohesion, animate places 
and build pride.

The Challenges and Opportunities
Boston and East Lindsey cover a large geographic 
area, with an extraordinarily rich natural and 
heritage landscape. However, with this comes 
the challenge of connectivity: communities can 
feel isolated and presents the logistic difficulty 
of delivering high-quality arts across a dispersed 
community of villages, market towns and rural 
areas. Across the area, rural touring, festivals and 
shows, amateur groups, village halls, small venues 
and galleries abound. The SO Festival, now seen as 
a model of good practice in Outdoor Arts with an 
international focus, is one of the few organisations 
with the capacity to produce work of scale, but 
funding restrictions have limited its reach into rural 
communities. 

Across the area, in spite of the great work done by 
organisations and individuals, there are still areas 
of low engagement (particularly in coastal areas). 
Such low engagement is particularly pronounced in 
areas with the greatest social and health challenges 
– i.e. the people for whom cultural participation 
can be most impactful. The pandemic has revealed 
how many have missed the life-affirming benefits 
that culture brings, as well as shining a light on 
the impacts of inequality and the vulnerability of 
sections of society.

A key challenge for long-term cultural development 
is the limited opportunities for children and 
young people to participate in cultural activities 
(particularly post-16) and to access experiences and 
networks which could further their progression – 
e.g. into the creative industries. Lincolnshire Music 
Education Hub and Lincolnshire Local Cultural 
Education Partnership are undertaking vital work 
to provide children and young people with access 
to cultural activities and working with schools 
and colleges to build provision. Engagement 
and participation for children and young people, 
including opportunities to develop skills in culture 
and the creative industries, will be critical if any 
version of ‘Levelling Up’ is to be achieved. This is 
recognised din the Government’s recent report: A 
Best Start for Life¹¹. 

Due to the strength of volunteering, amateur groups 
and community infrastructure (from hub libraries 
to churches and village halls) there is a strong 
grass roots which can be built on. Transported 
is a national exemplar in mobilising community 
participation and engagement, including 
volunteering.  The success of Live and Local 
which has been operating in the area for 30 years, 
enabling venues to stage high-quality arts in the 
smallest of places, shows the benefit of a joined up 
collective approach. Equally the success of shows 

that tour – such as the recent Festive Fabuloso and 
the increasing range of Transported, demonstrate 
opportunities to connect the cultural offer, share 
efficiencies and establish a whole place approach to 
cultural programming.

The University of Lincoln is playing a leadership 
role in connecting cultural provision which reaches 
different communities – such as via the Lincolnshire 
One Venues network, which provides opportunities 
for coordinated programming. 

There is high demand for training and skills for 
people of all ages as can be seen with groups 
including the Lough Playgoers providing classes 
and opportunities for young and old alike or Grubby 
Knees Community Theatre delivers workshops for 
young people interested in performing arts. This 
type of community capacity-building can help grow 
a distributed leadership model for the area, with 
micro-clusters of cultural activity growing access 
and participation across the wider area.

Priority Areas for Action

Prioritise projects which can tour across the area – building connections 
between communities, growing capacity and coordinating programming through 
accessible and inspiring itineraries. This includes scope for collaboration and 
coordinated programming across the Midlands Coast and inland to hubs of 
activity across Lincolnshire. It also includes accelerating digital practices such 
as through the digitalisation of archives, touring of film and other art forms, and 
innovative commissioning.

Build the cultural offer for children and young people, connecting and amplifying 
existing success stories to establish a programme of excellence and innovation 
in programming and engagement. This could be spearheaded by the move of 
The Mighty Creatives to Skegness and the development of the Local Cultural 
Education Partnership and Music Education Hub, which will help coordinate 
activity between schools, organisations, further and higher education as well as 
ensuring that cultural skills development is prioritised at a LEP level. 

Focus on talent development pathways for young people in culture and the 
creative industries. For example, develop activity spaces for culture outside of the 
school / college, in town centre locations (such as old shops) – to build confidence 
and enhance vitality. Make links between the further education sector and the 
local and regional cultural ecosystem – to raise the profile of opportunities for 
cultural and creative work in the area and to build progression pathways for 
young people.

Prioritise cultural activities which link to areas of existing interest and activity. For 
example, food and drink, walking and cycling, nature and heritage, are all areas 
for which there is significant existing participation. Cultural programming which 
explores these acts of everyday participation can bring more people into cultural 
activities and support new areas of work for professional artists and cultural 
producers. 

Diversity advantage: the distinctive nature of cultural diversity in Boston and East 
Lincolnshire is rarely viewed as offering the area an advantage, whether in terms 
of economic development or social cohesion. But the talent and aspirations of 
the area’s diverse communities provides a renewable resource which can add 
to the vitality and innovation of the cultural sector. The area, and in particular 
Boston, has thrived through its links to the rest of the world. Culture in Boston 
and East Lindsey will only thrive if the area’s diversity is viewed as an opportunity: 
for a new type of culture built on exchange, trust and a shared future. 28

P
age 85



THEME 3. CULTURAL PLACES
Priority Areas for Action
To ensure that culture can playing a leading role in making the whole area and all its places more attractive, 
more prosperous and more liveable, will mean helping all parts of the ecosystem to flourish. There are three 
main ways this can be achieved:

 � Firstly, by enabling larger, established organisations to use their scale and capacity to work even 
more effectively with local groups, producers and artists. This includes developing rural touring, 
cultural programming based on connected itineraries, and partnership with even larger cultural 
organisations in the wider region, encouraging them to come to Boston and East Lindsey to 
develop and test new work, innovate and grow. 

 � Secondly, by providing more support for smaller groups and grassroots organisations, through 
networking, mentoring and skills, support with applications and helping them connect to key 
local services. 

 � Thirdly, by supporting and promoting local events in a coordinated way so that residents and 
visitors alike can easily find out about events, exhibitions and performances and view this as 
part of an area-wide cultural programme. This will put culture to the centre of Visitor Economy 
Resilience Plans and provide a focal point for the work of Destination Lincolnshire.

Other key priority areas for place-based cultural renewal include:

Heritage renewal and activation: Boston and East Lindsey have a portfolio of heritage assets which 
are under-utilised as contemporary resources for culture. Boston’s Townscape Heritage project has 
illuminated the town’s considerable heritage assets and also highlighted the need to actively pursue 
new uses for heritage buildings. Plus, the intangible heritage assets of the area provide a rich seam 
of inspiration for new cultural programming – from the Hanseatic League to the agricultural history, 
cultural renewal can draw on the resources of the past. 

Environmental responsibility: There is an opportunity, indeed necessity, to position culture as an 
enabler for community responses to climate change – e.g. building environmental literacy and 
responsibility; delivering carbon neutral solutions; seeding national and international collaborations 
which pioneer ‘slow’ and sustainable cultural exchange, agile cultural production and green 
tourism. Boston and East Lindsey can build partnerships into North East Lincolnshire, where there 
is considerable investment in off-shore energy, to develop a Midlands Coast cultural offer which 
champions environmental sustainability and works with nature as a cultural resource. There is much 
to build from – such as the work of the North Sea Observatory, which has led successful programmes 
such as Bathing Beauties and Structures on Edge, linking cultural practice to the fragility and beauty 
of the natural environment. 

The Vision
The area’s unique mix of towns, coastal resorts, 
villages and rural hamlets are connected through 
shared cultural activity that animates high streets, 
attracts visitors on- and off-season, and connects 
people to heritage and the natural environment. 
Culture plays a leading role in regenerating 
and revitalising town centres; culture connects 
communities through new touring models; and 
culture links with leisure and sport to support 
active participation in civic life. East Lindsey and 
Boston can pioneer a distributed community 
leadership model for cultural provision, building 
capacity in community centres, village halls, 
heritage settings, libraries and other settings to 
coordinate programmes of cultural activity and 
impact-facing provision.

The Challenges and Opportunities
The proliferation of small towns and villages and rural 
nature of much of the area has always posed a challenge 
in ensuring that everyone can easily access culture. 
Tightening resources has historically necessitated the 
concentration of investment in key organisations and 
larger towns, meaning that some places feel they have 
not had access to the resources they need.

The cultural ecosystem of Boston and East Lindsey is 
made up of a mix of relatively established organisations 
usually based in bigger settlements with a larger 
number of smaller, grassroots groups, venues and 
spaces geographically dispersed. These include local 
museums and heritage sites, community groups, village 
halls, churches and libraries, which are often reliant on 
volunteers. While some receive funding, they are often 
heavily reliant on small grants and the local community 
for resources. Established larger organisations such as 
Transported and the SO Festival successfully work with 
local groups and venues to bring work to new areas, 
while Live and Local has a long history of enabling 
even the smallest of venues to put on high quality and 
innovative work. 

Incoming investment through the Towns Fund provides 
a major opportunity to align cultural development 
to social and economic transformation. Imaginative 
enhancements to the public realm, new routes for leisure 
and culture, and new or revitalised cultural infrastructure 
will lead a period of sustained regeneration in Skegness, 
Mablethorpe and Boston. Each place is leveraging its 
heritage assets to deliver contemporary cultural, social 
and economic impact. There is much to play for here – 
such as via the momentum of the Boston Massachusetts 
400 celebrations, which will shine a light on the area’s 
deep roots and international connections. For Skegness 
and Mablethorpe, heritage as seaside destinations with 
intimate links to big cities in the Midlands and North, 
provides a compelling opportunity for renewal – e.g. in 
cultural programming, independent retail and as centre 
of cultural production. 

To achieve sustained cultural renewal in these towns, 
it will also be important to build connections across the 
wider area, with local hubs in smaller places feeding 
into a network of cultural development, benefitting 
from the scaling up of capacity in the larger towns and 
contributing themselves to the area’s overall vitality. 

30

P
age 86



THEME 4. CULTURAL INFRASTRUCTURE Priority Areas for Action
New investment will lead to significant improvements in the area’s 
cultural infrastructure. The Town Deals in Boston, Mablethorpe 
and Skegness will provide much needed investment into facilities 
– providing new and updated cultural facilities as part of wider 
plans which will boost the local economy, improve skills and place 
attractiveness.  Sutton-on-Sea Colonnade will see the construction of 
landmark building that will introduce new café, restaurant, gallery and 
exhibition spaces, with viewing decks overlooking the beach. This has 
the potential to be a new type of culture house for the area – a base 
for international exchange and dynamic cross-art-form development. 
The Embassy Theatre will be a central part of plans to regenerate 
Skegness Foreshore as it becomes a true ‘hub’ providing homes to 
artists and producers (including The Mighty Creatives). Alongside 
townscape and heritage improvement projects, Boston will bring 
back Shodfriars Hall as a cultural centre next to Blackfriars Art Centre 
and there will be a dynamic re-birth of heritage assets in the town 
centre – to promote and present the area’s creative talent base (e.g. in 
partnership with the College)

An uplift for performing arts infrastructure. The area’s strengths 
in theatre and performance, which will be boosted by these 
investments, could be developed by further support for local 
creative producers, training and mentoring for young producers and 
performers, building stronger connections outside the region (but in 
the Midlands and East of England but also internationally through 
established connections such as the Hanseatic League (Boston), 
Helsingør (East Lyndsey) and Eastern Europe (area-wide). With a 
focus on specialisation in theatre and performance, and in particular 
outdoor arts, an opportunity exists to test the feasibility of establishing 
a creation centre in East Lindsey – to establish the area as a hub for 
innovation, production and exchange, housing a cluster of companies 
and building international residency opportunities. 

The Midlands Coast. By working together in new ways, East Lindsey 
and Boston can scale-up and connect their cultural offer. This also 
presents the opportunity for stronger and more structured partnership 
with the rest of the County and beyond. The stretch of coast from the 
Humber to the Wash is, in effect, the Midlands Coast. It has been a 
place of escape from the cities in the East Midlands and Yorkshire, 
a place of discovery for nature-lovers, and a place of arrival and 
departure. Yet the coast lacks a unified cultural offer, which in turn 
diminishes its identity at a regional and national level. This Cultural 
Framework prioritises stronger partnership along the coast and inland 
to kickstart a cultural renewal of scale and reputation. This includes 
NPOs in large cities inland such as Nottingham and Leicester; plus 
with infrastructure close by such as The Hub in Sleaford and Usher 
Gallery, Lincoln. It also prioritises positioning the Midlands Coast as 
an area for testing new types of cultural programming – inviting NPOs 
from across the region to develop new work, build innovative cultural 
practice, and in turn help nurture a local cultural workforce toward a 
sustainable cultural ecosystem.

Reinvigorating green cultural tourism. While already of vital 
importance to the region, cultural tourism can be boosted. Unique 
and popular assets, as diverse as The Battle of Britain Memorial 
Flight Visitor Centre or the hidden gems of Woodhall Spa including 
`Jubilee Park and the Kinema in the Woods, need to be placed within 
narratives that better capture the extraordinary richness and diversity 
of the area in ways that capture wider attention. There is also an 
opportunity to interweave leisure and wellbeing assets such as cycle 
routes with cultural programming and infrastructure, including public 
art. This – aligned with a Midlands Coast narrative – can establish 
accessible and compelling itineraries for culture which attract locals 
and visitors to enjoy the area in new and enriching ways. This can 
involve a focus on green and sustainable cultural programming and 
tourism, including pioneering work with natural materials, activities 
which encourage longer-stay or ‘slow’ artistic residencies, and cultural 
activities which promote volunteering and activism in environmental 
sustainability. 

The Vision
Boston and East Lindsey are a model 
for innovative, inclusive cultural 
infrastructure of all kinds – including 
venues, outdoor spaces, festivals and 
networks to support a vibrant,  
high-quality, community-centred cultural 
ecosystem. Heritage and natural assets 
are re-imagined and re-modelled as 
spaces for cultural production and 
expression. The area becomes a hub for 
innovative cultural practice – including 
in outdoor arts, rural touring and 
community engagement.

The Challenges and Opportunities
While home to some excellent individual infrastructure 
ranging from larger festivals like SO Festival, catalysts 
of community engagement Transported, much loved 
theatres such as the Embassy or Riverhead, or distinctive 
venues such as the recently listed Gliderdrome and the 
contemporary architecture of the North Sea Observatory; 
overall the cultural infrastructure landscape of Boston and 
East Lindsey needs a re-boot. The many smaller venues 
and spaces are heavily reliant on volunteers, often lacking 
in resources and capacity. Larger venues will benefit from 
modernisation and a process of re-imagination to explore 
a range of uses. And, as previously mentioned, heritage 
assets are under-utilised as spaces for contemporary 
cultural activity. 

Boston and East Lindsey have also begun to explore other 
types of cultural infrastructure, recognising that it is not 
just venues or festivals which deliver cultural renewal. For 
example, explorations in public art such as Time and Tide 
Bell in Mablethorpe or Transmission’s Boston Buoys Trail 
or their Art on Lorries project, demonstrate the possibility 
of inspiring audiences through the connection of heritage, 
landscape, and art. These interventions play an important 
social role, building identity and pride, as well as catalysing 
cultural tourism. Opportunities to re-imagine identity and 
place through public art and public realm interventions will 
play a role in the area’s long-term cultural renewal. 

32 33

P
age 87



As a cultural sector, partners in Boston and East Lindsey will  flourish through ever stronger collaboration. To achieve the vision set out in this Cultural 
Framework, it is recommended Boston and East Lindsey set up a Cultural Reference Group or Board to offer dynamic leadership and a collective voice for 
culture. One option is to establish this as a whole place cultural partnership or Culture Compact – as part of a network of place-based cultural boards with 
a mission to attract and coordinate investment in and through culture. It is also desirable for a new place-based partnership to deliver a programme of 
activities as, potentially, a new National Portfolio Organisation for Arts Council England. A bid for such a programme has been submitted – in an attempt to 
boost capacity and develop an ambitions long-term programme of culture-led renewal.

This Culture Board will involve representation from both Councils and the County, leading cultural organisations, education providers and representation 
from freelancers and micro creative enterprises. It will work to identify opportunities for a more coordinated cultural offer and it will work to advise on 
the delivery of this Framework – such as with regard to priority actions supported by Towns Funds and forthcoming Levelling Up and Priority Place 
investment. 

The Culture Board will work to champion, connect and challenge the cultural sector of Boston and East Lindsey. It will:

CULTURAL PARTNERSHIP

Play a strategic leadership role to position culture to the area’s 
renewal.

Connect the distinctive cultural strengths and assets of the area to 
ensure stronger partnership, imaginative collaboration and effective 
skills and knowledge exchange.

Be an advocate for cultural investment and provide a shared front 
door for new types of cross-sector partnership.

Connect with and broker relations across the region’s networks 
and hubs of cultural practice, which includes multiple place-based 
partnerships, sector groups, and a diverse cultural workforce of 
freelancers and micro-enterprises across the Midlands Coast an 
inland.

Lead on public and sector engagement to ensure strategic priorities 
remain relevant and to grow the profile of culture across the area. This 
can include a place-based cultural and creative campaign – to boost 
awareness of the area’s cultural qualities and grow confidence in the 
role of culture for positive place-making. It can also include targeted 
further engagement to ensure culture-led change is given due 
attention over the long term. For example, engagement with children 
and young people should be prioritises to ensure cultural renewal is 
relevant to their needs and that they recognise the positive impact 
being made. 

SPECIAL PROJECTS
The Boston and East Lindsey Culture Board will prioritise objectives set out in this 
Framework for Cultural Renewal. It will also lead on three special projects:

Annual Culture Workshop: the AGM for the area’s cultural sector. This event 
will review impact over the year and reflect on new opportunities for cultural 
renewal. It will bring local councillors to the table to describe how culture is 
supporting renewal and it will provide a platform to showcase good practice 
in the area. This workshop would work well as part of a festival programme 
– to coincide with a calendar cultural highlight for the area, perhaps involving 
national and international cultural experts to help position Boston and East 
Lindsey as open to innovation and learning. It can also be co-led by children 
and young people, supporting them to shape and influence the process of 
cultural renewal. 

 Evaluation and Impact Narrative-building: The Board will work with an 
evaluation partner to establish a measurement framework to track progress 
and impact – based on the priorities of this Framework. This will be informed 
by the Theory of Change set out below. A set of SMART objectives and KPIs 
will need to be developed by the Culture Board as part of its inception and set 
up process.

 Data Innovation: Linked to the above, it will be important to monitor, measure 
and benchmark progress and impact in dynamic and engaging ways. This 
is to go beyond basic data on engagement levels - for which there is need 
for some initial baseline research, especially to understand how cultural 
participation varies across distinctive communities (such as caravan or 
military communities). For example, qualitative data on talent development 
pathways for children and young people, sector resilience and sustainability, 
and environmental impact; will help position the area as a place which 
underpins its ambitious vision with an ambitious approach to understanding 
impact and working long-term to genuinely deliver culture-led renewal. 

35

P
age 88



A CULTURAL FRAMEWORK &  
ACTION PLAN
Vision
Boston and East Lindsey will be known as beacons of inclusive cultural dynamism. Both councils 
will work together with an ambitious programme to drive local impact through culture. They 
will foster opportunities for culture-led renewal: where every community takes part to create a 
distinctive cultural ecosystem which connects heritage to a shared future, drives innovation in 
the visitor economy and other key sectors, contributes to health and wellbeing and supports 
environmental sustainability. 

FOUR THEMES FOR CULTURAL RENEWAL
Culture Health 
and Wellbeing Culture for All Cultural Places

Cultural  
Infrastructure

MAIN OUTCOMES
Enhanced health and wellbeing 
through culture.

Improved confidence and reduced 
loneliness and isolation.

Improved perceptions on quality of 
life.

Increase in audiences for culture 
and active participation in a range of 
cultural activities.

Improved community cohesion.

Uplift in coordinated cultural 
provision across the area.

Increase in opportunities to work in 
culture and the creative industries.

More opportunities for diverse 
communities to participate and drive 
cultural renewal.

Growth in the local cultural economy 
– enhancing vitality and increasing 
cultural tourism volume and spend.

Enhanced public spaces and 
integrated cultural, leisure and 
heritage itineraries.

Heritage assets revitalised for 
cultural use.

Increase in environmental 
responsibility and sustainable 
practice in culture.

Increase in partnership for 
programming and cultural 
development.

Re-vitalised cultural infrastructure to 
the heart of transformed towns.

New innovative cultural 
infrastructure – feasibility and 
development.

Growth of festivals (number and 
scale) as catalysts for cultural 
renewal.

Increase in high quality public art 
which enhances the heritage and 
natural landscape.

Established collaboration and 
exchange programmes across the 
Midlands Coast – establishing the 
area as a hub for regional cultural 
development.

36 37

P
age 89



EAST LINDSEY PRIORITY ACTIONS
“A place where everybody has a chance to thrive” (East Lindsey Strategic Plan 2020-2030).

Culture Health 
and Wellbeing Culture for All Cultural Places

Cultural  
Infrastructure

1. Develop a cultural prescribing 
and commissioning model to align 
with the two proposed infrastructure 
developments featured in the Towns 
Fund: Wellbeing Hub in Skegness 
and Campus for Future Living in 
Mablethorpe. This is to be pitched as 
a culture, health and wellbeing R&D 
project.

2. Introduce cultural itineraries 
/ wayfinding as part of a wider 
boost in wellbeing and healthy 
living activities – e.g. public art 
commissions integrated into 
walking and cycle routes; and 
culture / heritage and natural 
environment routes established.

1. Introduce shared cultural 
programming, touring and visitor 
itineraries which connect the coast 
to inland East Lindsey. This is to 
enhance the reach of activity into 
all communities, scale-up cultural 
programming, and build a stronger 
overall cultural tourism package. 
A priority action here is to boost 
digital capacity across the arts and 
cultural sector, attending to digital 
connectivity issues, supporting 
digital literacy and growing the 
digital capacity of artists and 
organisations.

1. Position culture to the heart of 
town centre renewal – prioritising 
the development of festivals and 
events and utilising old retail 
and heritage assets as spaces 
for culture – e.g. for events, pop-
up creative markets, and for 
community dialogue. The ‘urban 
rooms’ model can be adapted to 
East Lindsey – with spaces set up for 
community engagement, cultural 
commissioning and showcasing 
local talent. This can tour across 
the District, connecting different 
urban centres through coordinated 
programming and engagement.

1. Prioritise the core cultural 
infrastructure interventions set out 
in the Connected Coast Towns Fund 
Bids: 
- Establish the Colonnade as a hub 
for contemporary culture – linking 
learning, enterprise and experience. 
Develop a vision and strategy for this 
intervention. 
- The flagship foreshore 
development in Skegness, including 
a rejuvenated Embassy Theatre as a 
hub for cultural learning, enterprise 
and innovation; and re-inventing 
Skegness Illuminations to become 
a platform for innovation in light 
art and digital projection. Develop 
a vision and strategy for this 
intervention.

Culture Health & Wellbeing Culture for All Cultural Places Cultural Infrastructure
3. Boost the capacity of cultural 
organisations and artists to work 
with partners in social care to 
develop cultural experiences for 
harder to reach communities – e.g. 
elderly people and / or people with 
long-term health issues. This is 
to reduce isolation and enhance 
mental health. This can commence 
with targeted capacity-building 
and training activities to support 
cultural practitioners to work in such 
settings.

2. Work with education providers to 
co-design a ‘work in culture and the 
creative industries’ campaign – to 
raise the profile of creative work, 
build connections with employers, 
and provide targeted support to 
promote enterprise and showcase 
local talent. This includes connecting 
the  flagship Skegness Learning 
Campus and Skegness Grammar to 
support arts and cultural education; 
creative enterprise and events.

3. Intercultural exchange and 
capacity-building. Work to 
establish East Lindsey as an open, 
tolerant, and trust-based cultural 
ecosystem. This means brokering 
connections between different 
communities through arts and 
culture; commissioning new work 
which breaks down barriers; giving 
different cultures a platform for 
cultural expression; and supporting 
new cultural activities based on a 
combination of cultural influences 
which reflect the distinctive cultural 
mix of the locality.

2. Public realm revitalisation: 
ambitious and radical public art 
commissions, the development 
of amenities for outdoor arts (e.g. 
future-proofing public spaces for 
events and festivals), and ‘smart’ 
infrastructure such as innovative 
lighting, interactive bus shelters, and 
an overall re-think where design and 
creativity are central to the provision 
of new public realm and transport 
infrastructure.

3. Heritage renewal: activating 
heritage sites as spaces for cultural 
production and consumption – on 
both a meanwhile basis and as part 
of regular cultural programming. 
Develop a list of priority heritage 
assets which can be used for 
cultural activities and promote them 
to the cultural sector as resources to 
be activated.

2. Boost sector networking, 
knowledge exchange and data 
insight gathering. This includes 
working with National Portfolio 
Organisations and international 
organisations to work more in the 
area and develop and grow existing 
organisations to build capacity and 
expertise and in turn support local 
people to participate in culture.

3. Prioritise capacity-building 
and growth in the festival sector, 
establishing the District as a centre 
for production with key specialisms 
(e.g. outdoor arts and young people). 
Position this growing hub as an 
internationally-facing opportunity, 
connecting East Lindsey to Europe 
and beyond. To activate this, set up 
a festival and events working group 
(with Boston) to explore growth and 
innovation opportunities.

4. Boost cultural leadership across 
the ecosystem – underpinned by a 
distributed leadership model where 
each place has a venue, project or 
activity which has grown in capacity, 
connectivity and confidence, and 
which feeds into the approach and 
priorities of the Culture Board.

3938

P
age 90



Culture Health & Wellbeing Culture for All Cultural Places Cultural Infrastructure
2. Boost the capacity of cultural 
organisations and artists to work 
with partners in social care to 
develop cultural experiences for 
harder to reach communities – e.g. 
elderly people and / or people with 
long-term health issues. This is 
to reduce isolation and enhance 
mental health. This can commence 
with targeted capacity-building 
and training activities to support 
cultural practitioners to work in such 
settings. 

3. Build connections between 
healthy living, food and culture, 
linking the Borough and environs’ 
agricultural and trading history to 
explore the culture of food. This also 
opens-up opportunities to engage 
with and connect the Borough’s 
diverse communities to explore the 
culture, social history and future of 
food.

2. Intercultural exchange and capacity-
building. Work to establish Boston as an 
open, tolerant, and trust-based cultural 
ecosystem. This means brokering 
connections between different 
communities through arts and culture; 
commissioning new work which breaks 
down barriers; giving different cultures 
a platform for cultural expression; and 
supporting new cultural activities based 
on a combination of cultural influences 
which reflect the distinctive cultural 
mix of the locality. This provides an 
opportunity to link Boston’s ancient 
international connections (e.g. the 
Hanseatic League and links to Boston 
Massachusetts) with more recent 
cultural connections to Eastern Europe, 
Portugal and other countries. A key 
action is to present Boston’s diversity as 
an asset in its bid for city status.

3. Develop cultural programming which 
makes more of the Borough’s parks and 
natural assets as spaces for inspiration 
and inclusive participation. Sites such 
as Central Park, village greens and 
natural landscapes such as Freiston 
Shore and Frampton Marsh provide 
resources to focus on art and the 
environment, boosting environmental 
literacy and responsibility and providing 
inspiration to both participants and 
artists. An art and environment 
programme could be an initial action 
– positioning culture as a catalyst for 
environmental responsibility and the 
enjoyment of nature and green spaces.

2. Heritage renewal – Boston’s 
heritage cluster: activating heritage 
sites as spaces for cultural 
production and consumption – on 
both a meanwhile basis and as part 
of regular cultural programming. 
Develop a list of priority heritage 
assets which can be used for 
cultural activities and promote them 
to the cultural sector as resources to 
be activated.

3. Public realm revitalisation: 
ambitious and radical public art 
commissions, the development 
– building on the success of 
Transported’s Boston Buoys. This 
includes opportunities to provide 
heritage and cultural itineraries for 
the town – connecting key assets 
such as the Guildhall and Blackfriars 
to lesser known heritage sites. 
Utilise digital technology to provide 
interactive itineraries which connect 
the heritage and contemporary 
cultural life of the Borough.

2. A re-imagined FE College ‘in the spirit 
of the Mayflower’ – via two new buildings 
for Boston College as:

“an inspirational space to raise 
aspirations and super-charge community 
and employer engagement with the 
other critical investments that have been 
made at the College – specifically the 
Institute of Technology, the Engineering, 
Manufacturing and Technology Centre 
and the Digital, Transport, Logistics 
Academy”

Culture can be central to the success 
of this new facility: in the vision and 
concept, linking heritage to the town’s 
future; in the potential for new cultural 
programming; and in the potential for 
a dedicated STEAM programme which 
puts the arts to the heart of approaches 
to science, technology, engineering and 
maths. With concept development and 
a strategic plan, Boston can lead the 
‘STEAM revolution’ for towns and cities 
across the country.

3. Undertake feasibility and scoping work 
to establish the Gliderdome as a mixed-
use centre for cultural activity – with a 
focus on live music, entertainment and 
events. It is a distinctive heritage asset 
which can become a dynamic centre 
for medium-scale programming. This 
can help boost the local festivals sector 
and provide opportunities for Boston to 
feature on tours for live music, circus, 
performance, and a range of leisure-
focused trade and cultural events (e.g. 
antique fairs, roller-skating etc.). A 
preliminary action is to scope options 
and undertake feasibility for a preferred 
option(s).

BOSTON PRIORITY ACTIONS
“…Launch Boston into the future, build on its unique heritage and make our town an 

exciting place to live, work, investand visit for generations to come.” (Boston Town Investment Plan).

Culture Health 
and Wellbeing Culture for All Cultural Places

Cultural  
Infrastructure

1. Introduce cultural itineraries 
/ wayfinding as part of a wider 
boost in wellbeing and healthy 
living activities – e.g. public art 
commissions integrated into 
walking and cycle routes; and 
culture / heritage and natural 
environment routes established. 
Transported is already leading 
activities in this area, connecting the 
town to outlying communities.

1. Work with education providers (in 
particular Boston College and via the 
Youth Ambassadors Programme 
and the Holy Trinity Initiative) to co-
design a ‘work in culture and the 
creative industries’ campaign – to 
raise the profile of creative work, build 
connections with employers, and 
provide targeted support to promote 
enterprise and showcase local talent. 
This can include options appraisal 
for a town centre hub / venue (see 
cultural infrastructure theme) which 
can showcase creative talent and 
develop Boston town centre as a hub 
for culture and the creative industries. 
This links to the Boston Mayflower 
concept. – to upskill and nurture future 
leaders, prepare young people for 
the job market and enable a strong 
local culture and shared community 
activities. One additional action is to 
leverage the proposed Mayflower facility 
as a centre for STEAM learning and 
creative entrepreneurship (see Cultural 
Infrastructure theme).

1. Enhance pride of place and drive 
economic activity by positioning 
culture to the heart of town centre 
renewal – utilising old retail and 
heritage assets as spaces for 
culture – e.g. for events, pop-
up creative markets, and for 
community dialogue. The ‘urban 
rooms’ model can be adapted to 
Boston – with spaces set up for 
community engagement, cultural 
commissioning and showcasing 
local talent. This aligns with the 
Town Investment Plan priories for 
Holy Trinity, Townscape Heritage 
Project, and Wide Bar Gate Shop 
Front Scheme

1. Prioritise the core cultural infrastructure 
interventions set out in the Towns Fund 
Bid 
- St Botolph’s - Medieval Library, Lighting 
and Blenkin Memorial Hall Shodfriar’s 
Hall: creation of a new internationally 
significant heritage attraction which 
utilises innovative lighting to operate 
as a visual attraction after dark and 
an interactive heritage centre (and 
enterprise centre) by day. Shodfriar’s 
Hall in particular offers opportunities for 
cultural use – with scope to operate as an 
arts centre, studio and rehearsal hub and 
community space. A preliminary action 
is to develop the vision and feasibility 
/ business model for this to include 
contemporary cultural activity. 
- The repair, renovation and 
redevelopment of the Blenkin Memorial 
Hall for multi-purpose community 
use, with a focus on culture and 
entrepreneurship (e.g. potential for 
creative industries). This central historic 
building can be a beacon of culture-
led renewal. This also needs action to 
develop the vision, feasibility and strategy.

40

P
age 91



KEY
1 //  This also includes South Holland District. 

2 // https://www.thersa.org/press/releases/2020/one-in-three-jobs-in-parts-of-britain-at-risk-due-to-covid-19-local-data-reveals

3 // The Role of Arts During the Covid-19 Pandemic, Alexandra Bradbury, Katey Warran, Dr Hei Wan Mak & Dr Daisy Fancourt, Arts 
Council England 2021.

4 // https://business.visitlincolnshire.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/11/ELDC-Corporate_Strategy_2020_to_2030_single_pages.
pdf

5 // Placing Culture & Creativity at the Heart of Lincolnshire: Lincolnshire’s Cultural Strategy 2017

6 // Also see the LEP’s Industrial Strategy: https://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk/priorities-and-plans/strategies-and-plans/local-
industrial-strategy/

7 // https://www.midlandsengine.org/sector/green-growth/

8 // https://unboxed2022.uk/

9 // Applications open in January 2022 for small grants between £750 and £10,000.

10 // https://kaunas2022.eu/en/

11 // https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days

42

P
age 92



P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Project brief: Partnership NPO Proposal  

(Submission of an Expression of Interest for Funding) 

Portfolio Holders:  

• Boston – Cllr Richard Austin 

• South Holland – Cllr Gary Taylor/Cllr Liz Sneath 

• East Lindsey – Cllr Steve Kirk/Cllr Adam Grist 

Date: 15th May 2022 

 

Introduction:  

Arts Council England (ACE) has launched its application guidance for organisations wishing to 

become a National Portfolio Organisation (NPO) for the period 1 April 2023 until 31 March 2026.  

Being a National Portfolio Organisation provides opportunities for creative and cultural organisations 

to plan and deliver over the long term. It is the bedrock of ACE funding and the work of all NPOs is 

seen as vital to the success and development of the cultural sector. 

The investment provides organisations with three-year financial support as they recover from the 

impact of the pandemic.  

Organisations are required to put the public at the heart of their work and be committed to working 

collaboratively with each other and with other individuals and organisations within communities. 

All National Portfolio Organisations will play a central role in helping Arts Council England deliver 

their strategy, Let’s Create. The NPO application needs to clearly demonstrate how we would 

support at least one of the strategy outcomes and what plans we have to imbed their investment 

principles.  

The ‘Let’s Create’ Strategy has three Outcomes: Creative People, Cultural Communities and A 

Creative and Cultural Country. Their Investment Principles are Ambition and Quality, Dynamism, 

Environmental Responsibility, and Inclusivity and Relevance. 

A National Portfolio Organisation will take a lead in realising the vision which Let’s Create sets out: 

‘By 2030, England will be a country in which the creativity of each of us is valued and given the 

chance to flourish and where everyone has access to a remarkable range of high-quality cultural 

experiences.’ 

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership: 

Historically ACE investment in some areas of England has been too low, so ACE has set out lists of 

Levelling Up for Culture Places and Priority Places that they’ll prioritise working with. These include: 

• Priority Place: East Lindsey and Boston 

• Levelling Up for Culture Places: South Holland, East Lindsey and Boston 

In 2021, East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council received ACE funding to develop a 

Cultural Strategy. A Cultural Framework with two place based action plans has been created and is 

currently in draft form ready to proceed through the Council adoption process. ACE was receptive to 

extending this piece of work to reflect the new geography of the Partnership and incorporate the 

Page 95



South Holland District Council area. The lack of NPO applications was highlighted to the team during 

their last meeting with ACE. 

An ‘Introductory Conversation’ was held on Thursday 21 April to indicate an intention for the South 

and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership to submit an application for National Portfolio 

Organisation funding. A lead authority would be required to be the accountable body – proposed to 

be East Lindsey District Council. The Partnership’s NPO would focus on three centres – Boston 

Guildhall (Boston Borough Council), Asycoughfee Hall (South Holland District Council and the 

Colonnade at Sutton on Sea (East Lindsey District Council). 

NPO funding would support a programme of art and culture across the Partnership, as well as 

enabling an education, research and skills programme to be developed.  

The proposition is focussed on our heritage and internationally and nationally significant stories. The 

growth of the Partnership area from its Maritime, Coast and Fens location continues to impact and 

influence migration, trade and our ‘places’. We boast a very rich base of recognisable, high status 

events, episodes, histories and critical individuals that sits equitably across all the Partnership areas. 

The revenue funding would enable investment into people, programmes and activity, whilst building 

on the capital investment from the Towns Fund (and future Levelling Up Funding bids). 

The application will reference and support the draft Cultural Framework for Boston and East Lindsey. 

The Consultation and the drafting of the document was commissioned to Tom Fleming Creative 

Consultancy, who has also supported the team with the creation of the NPO proposal, supporting 

the bid development process through: 

• Support and advice on gathering key data to feed into the bids, 

• Helping to shape the narrative and strategic direction and ambition for the bids, 

• Reviewing and advising on the activities for the first year of the programmes 2022/23 that 

must be included within activity templates. 

Project objectives(s):  

• Secure National Portfolio Organisation status and associated funding 

• Support a cultural and place based approach to regeneration, in line with the Levelling Up 

White Paper 

• Link culture with community engagement to support our Partnership objectives 

NPO application: 

Activity Plan: 

• Bring to life the history and international connections of trade through a programme of light 

installations/displays developed through engagement with schools/educational providers 

and community groups working together with artists. 

• Develop a 21st Century Digital Assets Collecting Policy to ensure that today’s stories around 

cultural diversity, migration and community inclusion is captured.  Working with people 

from lower socio-economic backgrounds and minority groups. 

• Work with local businesses to share stories from across our Maritime, Coast and Fens and 

the heritage of the wider food industry across the districts. Increasing engagement of low 

skilled and diverse workforces with the arts through food. 

Page 96



• Create opportunity for intercultural exchange to develop a cultural ecosystem brokering 

connections between communities through arts and culture - providing an opportunity to 

build the international relationships and connections ahead of 2030. 

• Support collaboration and exchange programmes across the Midlands to establish the area 

as a hub for regional cultural development, with an exemplar approach to the inclusion of 

heritage within arts and culture. 

• Develop a programme of mentoring for local artists with nationally recognised leaders 

within their media to enable a legacy of learning through arts and culture to connect our 

Places and Stories across the partnership and bring to life our heritage to instil Pride of Place 

across our Communities. 

• Celebrate the Victorian Heritage of our coastline through nostalgic engagement sessions and 

festivals to develop cultural trails in the form of traditional seaside heritage. 

• Expand the outdoor experiences of our natural heritage and landscapes throughout the 

seasons linking the districts to international seasonal activities and engage all nationalities 

within our communities to share their cultural heritage. 

• Introduce stronger cultural programming through working with partners to develop touring 

and visitor experiences to enhance and increase the reach of activities into all communities 

and create a stronger cultural package for all. 

Governance: 

We have set out that Culture underpins our approach to place‐making and renewal in our new 
(draft) Cultural Framework. It sets out the following themes: Culture for All, Health and Wellbeing, 
Cultural Infrastructure and Cultural Places. As part of the NPO Proposal, the delivery of actions for 
each theme will be overseen by a new Culture Board for the South & East Lincolnshire Council 
Partnership. This will offer dynamic leadership and a collective voice for culture. This involves 
representation from each of the three Councils and the County, leading cultural organisations, 
education providers and representation from freelancers and micro creative enterprises. The SELCP 
Culture Board is of a similar model to the Creativity Board being established in North East 
Lincolnshire. This will facilitate joint working from the Humber to the Wash: an unprecedented 
cultural partnership opportunity for Greater Lincolnshire. 
 
Timeline:  

• Deadline for EOI 18 May 

• Spring to September 2022: Assessment, balancing and decision-making 

• October 2022: Sharing funding decisions  

• October 2022 – February 2023: Funding agreements 

• 1 April 2023 - The 2023-26 Investment Programme will come into effect 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 27th July 2022 

SUBJECT: General Fund Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22 

KEY DECISION: 

  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

N/A 

 

Councillor Jonathan Noble 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

Chris Ayriss (Strategic Finance Manager PSPS) and Peter Davy 

(Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Client) PSPS) 

N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report sets out the draft financial position for Boston Borough Council for 2021/22.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
That Cabinet: 

1 Notes the provisional year end position, variations to the 2021/22 approved budget and 
resulting effect on the Council's balances and reserves as shown in Appendix A.   

2 
 
  

Recommends to Council to transfer £1,830,999 to the Funding Volatility Reserve to fund 
the 2022/23 budget, this being the Section 31 grant allocated to the Council in 2021/22 but 
required in 2022/23. 

3 Notes and approved the use of reserves in Table 3 at Appendix A 

4 Recommends to Council to drawdown £1,864,887 from the Funding Volatility Reserve 
which is the Section 31 grant set aside in 2020/21 to cover the reduced Business Rates 
received in 2021/22.  

5 Recommends to Council that the final revenue surplus (currently estimated to be £165,024) 
be transferred to the Transformation Reserve to fund future projects which will help realise 
future revenue savings and service improvements.  

Page 99

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

 6. Cabinet notes the 2021/22 capital position shown in Table 4 and agrees the changes 
required to the Capital Programme for 2022/23.  

7 Recommend to Council the carry forward of Capital Budget of £3.55m as detailed in Table 6 
of Appendix A. 

  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To ensure the Council’s provisional financial position for 2021/22 is considered and related 

decisions approved. It is important that cabinet are aware of the financial position of the 

General Fund to ensure that they can make informed decisions that are affordable and 

financially sustainable for the Council 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

To not approve the reserve movements outlined. 

 

REPORT 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The 2021/22 year has seen the country move out of the pandemic response into a recovery 

phase. The Council is still seeing the effects of the pandemic on its finances which have 
been both positive and negative. This combined with the squeeze on household finances 
which has been seen in the latter part of the financial year, has meant it has been more 
difficult than usual to budget and forecast the financial position of the Authority. The draft 
underspend for the year is mainly as a result of increased one off government support and 
the review of its provisions. The details of the outturn are attached at Appendix A and show 
the full financial position of the Council which includes revenue, capital, treasury and 
collection fund. 

 
2. Quarter 3 to Quarter 4 
 
2.1 Throughout the year, quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 

year end outturn against the budget.  This report provides a summary on the provisional full 
year outturn at 31st March 2022, as illustrated in the Appendix, for the following areas: 

 

• The General Fund Revenue Budget, 

• The General Fund Reserves Position, 

• The Capital Outturn for 2021/22, and 

• High level Treasury Management Performance for the year. 
 
2.2 Members will recall that in the report to Cabinet at Quarter 3 a release of the covid Loss of 

Income Contingency took place of £729,000, offsetting losses in income across a variety of 
headings. It was also recommended that £256,000 be draw down from the Transformation 
Reserve that had been agreed for service improvement over the two years of initial 
investment. It should be noted that if these one-off funds had not been available the 

Page 100



3 
 

position at the year end would have been £1.198m worse off. Covid income grant of 
£469,000 was also received in year which has significantly assisted the revenue account. In 
the Quarter 3 report the forecast deficit was £299,000. 

 
2.3 The changes since then, which due to the uncertainty of this period could have been a 

worsening or an improvement in a variety of areas, have been overall a further 
improvement although some service areas also saw reductions in income: 

 

• Improvement in investment income from that expected due to rate rises; 

• Underachievement of car parking income from that anticipated; 

• Reductions in income – Bereavement; 

• Salary savings due to vacancies in certain areas; 

• The impact of year end adjustments – a review of bad debt provision levels 

• Planning services income was higher than anticipated and staffing vacancies have 
contributed to an improvement of £176k. 

 
2.4 In total, these further adjustments and as stated above the overall favourable position is 

mainly due to the receipt and use of one-off grants and reserves to smooth covid impacts. 
 
2.5 It is proposed (at recommendation 5) to transfer the proposed Revenue Surplus to the 

Transformation Reserve to fund future revenue projects. This will assist in making 
investment into services to facilitate change in a post-pandemic landscape and to fund 
‘Invest to Save’ initiatives which will ultimately realise savings. This will help to meet the 
Council’s savings targets and to ensure it has more resilience to deal with the further 
budgetary challenges we are already facing.  

 
2.6 Other reserves are also available, such as the Capital Reserves (£5.6m), Funding Volatility 

(£4.99m) and Covid-19 reserve (£0.851m) to assist as needed during the year depending 
upon the pressure or type of investment required. 

 
2.7 In the attached Appendix A, specific detail is provided in respect of the following areas: 
 

General Fund Provisional Outturn 
 

The forecast outturn position by Assistant Director is detailed at Table 1 together with an 
analysis of service variations. Net spend by Assistant Directors for 2021/22 was reported to 
be £7,423k which is £524k below the budgeted figure. The variances are explained in Table 
1. 

 
Reserves  

 
General Fund Specific Reserves have seen a reduction in balances of £2.067m. Further 
specific details are set out in Appendix A – Table 3 with associated narrative and members 
are requested to note and approve the use of reserves detailed in that section. 
 
The General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.000m. 

 
As previously featured in the 2020/21 outturn, government grant is received and applied in 
different financial years and as a result it is proposed at recommendation 2 to transfer 

Page 101



4 
 

£1,830,999 to the Business Rates Volatility Reserve in order to fund the 2022/23 revenue 
budget. This is a section 31 grant in order to fund discounts to Non-Domestic rates bills to 
businesses. Due to the way the income is accounted for in the Collection Fund the loss of 
income will impact on the Council’s revenue budget in 2022/23 and therefore the monies 
received in 2021/22 are required to fund this shortfall. 

 
Capital – General Fund 

 
The total revised General Fund Capital programme for 2021/22 is £5.593m, detailed in in 
Table 4 of Appendix A. 

 
The total budget carry forward due to slippage on the GF Capital Programme is £3.550m as 
detailed in Table 6 which is recommended for approval. This is mainly due to Towns Fund 
Projects which are now being reprofiled in line with latest expectations for spend. 

 
Treasury Management 

 
Section 2.4 provides details of the Council’s Treasury Investments, investment income 
earned at the end of March 2022 was £775k.  

 
The Council has external loans held with Public Works Loans Board totalling £20m. Interest 
costs on this external borrowing was £382k for 2021/22. 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
To ensure that the end of year position is scrutinised, year end transactions are approved and the 

budget underspend is set aside for future service initiatives. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
As contained in Appendix A 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

Page 102



5 
 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Outturn Report 2021-22 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Q3 Performance Report Cabinet 30th March 2022 Agenda 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Chris Ayriss, Strategic Finance Manager, PSPS and 

Peter Davy, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Client), 

PSPS 

Signed off by: Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director Finance 

Approved for publication: Councillor Noble Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

 

CONSULTATION 

None 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

Boston Borough Council – Q4 Finance Report 2021/22 
 
Finance Summary 

• The revenue outturn shows a surplus position of £165k 

• Specific and general reserves of the Council are forecast to be £18.612m at 31 March 2022. 

• Capital spend at the end of Quarter 4 was £2.047m against a full year budget of £5.593m 

• After funding the 2021/22 Capital Programme the capital resources are: 
o Capital Reserve - £5.626m 
o Capital Receipts - £0.695m 

• The Council held investments of £24.7m as at 31 March 2022. 

Section 2 – Finance 

Section 2.1 Key Financial Issues in Quarter 4 of 2021/22 
Section 2.2 Revenue Budget 
Section 2.3 Capital Budget 
Section 2.4 Treasury Update 
Section 2.5 Insurance 
Section 2.6 Debt Collection 
Section 2.7 Business Rates and Council Tax Collection 
  

 

Section 2.1 – Key Financial Issues in Quarter 4 of 2021/22 

• On 7th January, HM Treasury issued a press release to announce new grant funding for business affected by 

the pandemic. The £700m will be delivered to affected businesses by local councils, with hospitality, leisure 

and accommodation businesses able to apply for one-off cash grants of up to £6,000.  

• On 15th February, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities issued a press release 

announcing £125m for councils to provide support services for domestic abuse victims during 2022/23. This 

funding is to go towards healthcare, social workers and benefits, interpreters, immigration advice and other 

specialist services. The funding will be issued as a non-ringfenced grant to councils, who will then be 

responsible for making decisions on how the funding is spent to benefit those in need. 

• On 20th March, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities published a collection of 

documents regarding the Traveller Site Fund 2022/23. The fund is £10m of capital funding to support local 

authorities in building new transit and permanent traveller sites, to refurbish existing permanent traveller 

and transit sites and provide temporary stopping places and facilities for travellers. 

• On 23rd March the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities published a prospectus providing 

guidance on submitting bids for local areas. The £4.8 billion fund will support town centre and high street 

regeneration, local transport projects, and cultural and heritage assets. 

 

 
Inflation 

January (%) February (%) March (%) 

CPI 5.5 6.2 7.0 

RPI 7.8 8.2 9.0 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



APPENDIX A 
 

Section 2.2 – Revenue Budget 

Table 1 details the outturn by Assistant Director.  This shows an underspend position of £165k.  

Table 1 – Net Spend by Assistant Director 

Assistant Director Area 

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£’000 

Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
  

£’000 

Comments on main variances 

Corporate 1,505 1,890 385 

Restructuring of budgets in line with 
PSPS contract costs which finance 
service improvements £344k these 
have been factored into the MTFS for 
2022/23 onwards.  

Economic Growth 119 247 128 
Economic Development Expenditure 
Funded from Reserves £142k. Staffing 
changes £30k. 

Finance 1,296 1,170 (126) 

Covid 19 grants from the government 
£(404)k and sales, fees and charges 
claim £(104)k for quarter one, less 
costs £186k. Restructuring of budgets 
in line with PSPS contract costs which 
finance service improvements saving 
£274k, these have been factored into 
the MTFS for 2022/23 onwards 

Governance 
796 608 (188) 

Election Costs Lower than expected 
£(42)k and savings on democratic 
services service £(99)k 

General Fund Assets (971) (825) 146 

Reduction in Car Parking Income and 
Income at PRSA. These have been 
partially offset by Covid Reserve 
Release. Release of grant funding held 
in reserve £142k. 

Leisure and Culture 761 761 - 

Reduction in Leisure Income which is 
not yet at pre-covid levels which is 
being regularly monitored. These have 
been offset by Covid Reserve Release 

Neighbourhoods 1,368 1,657 289 
Increased Recycling & Refuse costs 
£202k due to increased number of 
rounds.  

Planning & Strategic 
Infrastructure 

194 (133) (327) 

£(264)k additional income across the 
service area coupled with reduced 
costs. £176k of income has been 
transferred to reserves.   

Regulatory 507 (76) (583) 
Green Homes Grants and COVID 
funding received in year not fully 
expended, transferred to reserves. 

Wellbeing and 
Community Leadership 

1,656 1,487 (169) 

Housing Reserve Adjustments. 
Restructuring of budgets which has 
seen PSPS Contract Service 
improvements, these have been 
factored into the MTFS for 2022/23 
onwards 

Page 106



APPENDIX A 

Table 1 – Net Spend by Assistant Director 

Assistant Director Area 

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£’000 

Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
  

£’000 

Comments on main variances 

BTAC 716 637 (79) 
The £79k underspend transferred to 
the BTAC Reserve, this is not part of 
the Council Reserves. 

Sub Total – Assistant 
Director – net costs 

7,948 7,423 (524)  

Internal Drainage 
Boards/Parish Precepts 

2,468 2,482 14 
Precepts £459k were shown in External 
Financing in Q3. 

Impairment Allowance 0 (193) (193) 
Reassessment of levels of bad debt 
provision required 

DRF 1,088 832 (256) 
This reflects capital programme activity 
and is offset by reserves. 

MRP 15 30 15 
The increase of MRP is as a result of 
valuations at 31st March 2022 and is 
funded from revenue resources. 

Interest Payments 
Received / Return on 
Property Funds 

(326) (475) (149) 

Budget reduced £196k in year to more 
accurately reflect investment predicted 
returns, investment income has 
increased in quarter four due to 
interest rate rises. 

Reserves (1,499) (1,987) (488) 

Use of reserves includes the following: 

• capital programme expenditure 

• release of previously received 
section 31 grant to cover the 
business rates deficit shown below 

• Release to offset income pressures 
due to Covid 

Transfer to reserves includes: 

• Housing Reserve Adjustment 

• Additional planning income  
£79k underspend on BTAC has been 
transferred to the BTAC Reserve, this is 
separate from the Council Reserves 

Non Service 
Expenditure 

1,745 689 (1,057)  

Total Expenditure 9,694 8,112 (1,582)  

Council Tax (5,042) (5,042) - 
Parish Precepts were shown here in Q3 
now moved above to non-service 
expenditure. 

Business Rates (1,327) 538 1,865 
This shortfall is covered by section 31 
grant received in 2020/21 and released 
from reserves above. 

Non Ring Fenced 
Government Grant 

(3,325) (3,773) (448) 
Section 31 grant received in 2020/21 
budgeted for here but released from 
reserves above 

Total Funding (9,694) (8,277) 1,417  

Total Budget -  
(Surplus)/Deficit 

0 (165) (165)  

 

 

 Page 107



APPENDIX A 

Recommendation: 
1 Notes the provisional year end position, variations to the 2021/22 approved budget and resulting effect on 

the Council's balances and reserves as shown in Appendix A. 

 

Additional revenue budget notes 

Income 

The Council has a number of demand-led budget areas which are reliant on income for services provided. 

Table 2 – Trading Income Budgets 

Income Area 
Revised 

Budget to 31 
March 2022 

 
£’000 

Actual 
Income to 
31 March 

2022 
 

£’000 

 
 

Variance 
(above)/ 

below 
budget 

 
£’000 

Comments 

GF - Car Parking, 
Bereavement, and Property  

(1,926) (1,655) 271 Income has suffered in Parking 
requiring £225k smoothing from the 
Covid Reserve, reduced income in 
bereavement £47k which improved 
on the Q3 position. 

Leisure Pool, and Markets 

(1,002) (638) 364 

Leisure Pool has seen a £352k 
shortfall of income, with Markets 
experiencing a £14k shortfall due to 
Covid 

Neighbourhoods – Office 
Cleaning, Recycling 

(959) (1,044) (85)  

Additional resources for DWP, 
Garden Waste income above budget 
£16k. Cleaner Income up £57k 

Development Management 
(566) (690) (124)  

Application income has exceeded 
full year budget expectation. 

Regulatory – Land Charges, 
Licences 

(391) (373) 18 

Vacant Post, reduced Income, 
Tranche 1 of land charges income 
due before 31.03.2022 

Bed & Breakfast (54) (68) (14)  Increase in Income 

Total (4,898) (4,468) 430  

Page 108



APPENDIX A 
Reserves 

At 31 March 2022 specific reserves are forecast to be £16.612m, after a net transfer from reserves of £2.067m to 

cover revenue and capital expenditure.  Table 3 reflects the outturn position. 

Table 3 – Specific and General Reserves Balance 

Reserve 
Balances at 1 April 

2021 
£’000 

Contributions into 
Reserves 

£’000 

Use of Reserves 
 

£’000 

Balances at 31 
March 2022 

£’000 

Capital Funding 5,339 995 (708) 5,626 

Transformation 1,745 769 (1,058) 1,457 

Repairs and 
Renewals 

725 54 (82) 697 

ICT 276 - (188) 88 

Housing 1,247 297 (31) 1,513 

Controlling 
Migration 

14 - - 14 

Insurance 274 - (14) 260 

Property Fund 
Returns Risk 
Mitigation 

1,116 - - 1,116 

Funding Volatility 6,521 1,831 (3,361) 4,991 

Covid 19 1,422 197 (768) 851 

Specific Reserves 
Total 

18,679 4,143 (6,210) 16,612 

General Fund 2,000 - - 2,000 

Total 20,679 4,143 (6,210) 18,612 

 

Please note the following reserve movements that have taken place in 2021/22: 

• Capital Funding 

o Additions to – New Homes Bonus, property fund interest, investment payback and revenue payback 

for previous purchases. 

o Use of reserve – for the capital projects: vehicle replacements, noise monitoring equipment, 

resurfacing and footpaths, recycling bin purchases and ICT upgrades. 

• Transformation 

o Additions to – cover costs of future council elections and planning fees 

o Use of reserve – Community Champion funding, Sport England and refuse rounds review. 

• Repair and Renewals 

o Additions to – CCTV contributions from other local authorities 

o Use of reserve – Town centre heritage ongoing capital project 

• ICT 

o Use of reserve – ICT infrastructure refresh 

• Housing 

o Additions to – Homelessness funding, rough sleeper initiative and funding from partners for Healthy 

and Accessible Homes Lincs 

o Use of reserve – DASH funding and housing strategy capital project.  

• Insurance 

o Use of reserve – to cover insurance claims made in year 

 

• Funding Volatility  

o Additions to – additional Section 31 grant above budgeted level and CARF funding to be utilised in 

future years. Page 109



APPENDIX A 
o Use of Reserve – to fund business rates deficit and Economic Development Expenditure. 

• Covid 19 

o Additions to – New Burdens funding 

o Use of Reserve – Test and Trace, and to fund income pressures during the year. 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
2 
 
 
 
3  

Recommends to Council to transfer £1,830,999 to the Funding Volatility Reserve to fund the 
2022/23 budget, this being the Section 31 grant allocated to the Council in 2021/22 but required in 
2022/23. 
 
Notes and approved the use of reserves in table 3 at Appendix A.  

4 Recommends to Council to drawdown £1,864,887 from the Funding Volatility Reserve which is the 
Section 31 grant set aside in 2020/21 to cover the reduced Business Rates received in 2021/22.  

5 Recommends to Council that the final revenue surplus (currently estimated to be £165,024) be 
transferred to the Transformation Reserve to fund future projects which will help realise future 
revenue savings and service improvements.  

  

 

Section 2.3 – Capital Budget 

This section covers: 

• Revisions to the Capital Programme 

• Progress against the 2021/22 approved capital programme and the anticipated outturn 

• Financing of the Capital Programme 

  

Page 110



APPENDIX A 

Table 4 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q4 Outturn Expenditure 

 Capital Programme 2020/21 Funding of the Capital Programme 

Scheme Approved 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£000 

Actual 
2021/22 

 
 

£000 

Variance 
(Under)/over  

 
 

£000 

External 
Grants  

 
 

£000 

Revenue 
Funding 

 
 

£000 

Other 
Reserves 

 
 
 

£000 

Capital 
Reserve 

 
 

£000 

Capital 
Receipts 

 
 

£000 

Total 
 
 
 

£000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 949 778 (171) 778     778 

Housing Strategy 56 - (56)      - 

Noise Monitoring 
Equipment 

10 10 -    10  10 

Resurfacing and Footpath 
Improvements 

82 
12 (70)    12  12 

Town Centre Heritage 
Scheme (PSICA 2) 

1,397 154 (1,243) 92  62   154 

Multi Use Games Area 23 6 (17) 6     6 

Information Technology 
Refresh 

200 187 (13)   187   187 

ICT Finance Upgrade via 
PSPS 

634 362 (272)    362  362 

Ford Transit Tipper Van 
2.0 TDCi x 2 

22 - (22)      - 

Refuse Vehicle 170 172 2    172  172 

Ransomes Mower 20 - (20)      - 

Ford Vans x 2 23 - (23)      - 

Recycling Bin Purchase 24 28 4    28  28 

Total Non-Towns Fund 
Schemes 

3,610 1,709 (1,901) 876 - 249 584 - 1,709 

          

Boston Town Deal – 
Accelerated Funding 

400 
148 (252) 148     148 

Towns Fund – Leisure - 86 86 86     86 

Towns Fund – Mayflower 108 6 (102) 6     6 

Towns Fund – St 
Botolph’s Library 

228 
6 (222) 6     6 

P
age 111



APPENDIX A 

Table 4 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q4 Outturn Expenditure 

 Capital Programme 2020/21 Funding of the Capital Programme 

Scheme Approved 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£000 

Actual 
2021/22 

 
 

£000 

Variance 
(Under)/over  

 
 

£000 

External 
Grants  

 
 

£000 

Revenue 
Funding 

 
 

£000 

Other 
Reserves 

 
 
 

£000 

Capital 
Reserve 

 
 

£000 

Capital 
Receipts 

 
 

£000 

Total 
 
 
 

£000 

Towns Fund – Centre for 
Food and Fresh Produce 
Logistics 

401 
18 (383) 18     18 

Towns Fund – Blenkin 
Memorial Hall 

808 
62 (746) 62     62 

Towns Fund – Healing the 
High Street 

35 
6 (29) 6     6 

Towns Fund – Boston 
Station 

3 
6 3 6     6 

Total Towns Fund 
Schemes 

1,983 338 (1,645) 338 - - - - 338 

          

Total 5,593 2,047 (3,546) 1,214 - 249 584 - 2,047 

 

  

P
age 112



APPENDIX A 
 

Table 4 – Capital Programme – Comments on Delivery  

Scheme Comments 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants 

2021/22 grant allocation fully delivered, slippage required of prior year 
grant. 

Noise Monitoring 
Equipment 

Scheme fully delivered. 

Resurfacing and 
Footpath 
Improvements 

Continuation of previous scheme across various sites although 
predominantly around Boston Cemetery and Crematorium. Slippage 
required into 2022/23. 

Town Centre Heritage 
Scheme (PSICA 2) 

Delivery of projects continuing, slippage required into 2022/23. 

ICT Finance Upgrade 
via PSPS 

Project to be finalised in July 2022, slippage of remaining budget 
required. 

Fleet Replacement 
Order placed, vehicles expected to be received in year. Long lead times 
for vehicle orders which are subject to delays. Slippage required into 
2022/23. 

Recycling Bin Purchase Year’s quota of bins delivered. 

Towns Fund 
Business Cases were signed off in March 2022 leading to slippage of 
various schemes. 

 

Capital Receipts 

None to report this period. 

Capital Financing 

The current Capital Programme is financed from reserves and external borrowing in line with the Capital Strategy. 

Table 5 indicates the forecast capital resources available to the Council at the end of 2021/22.  The estimated 

position for the following two years is also provided. 

Table 5 – Capital Resources 

 
2020/21 

£’000 
2021/22 

£’000 
2022/23 

£’000 
Capital Resources* available at start of each year 5,822 5,578 6,320 

Capital Investment (estimate in future years) (3,436) (2,047) (6,862) 

Additional Sources of Finance    

- New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years) - 456 - 

- Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing 193 249 170 

- External Grants 1,449 1,214 4,974 

- Revenue Contributions - - - 

- External borrowing - - - 

- Budgeted contributions to capital reserve 1,565 995 333 

- Minimum Revenue Provision (15) (15) (15) 

- Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects - (110) (100) 

Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year 5,578 6,320 4,820 

* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts 

As a result of the variances shown in Table 4 and Table 5, changes are required to the 2022/23 Capital Programme. 

These are reflected in the revised Capital Programme shown in Table 6. The slippage of expenditure into 2022/23 

will be funded in line with the approval already obtained for the relevant project.  

 

 
Page 113



APPENDIX A 

Table 6 – Revised Capital Programme 2022/23 

Scheme 

Approved Budget (as 
per Council) 

 
£’000 

Changes to 
approved 

budget 
 

£’000 

Revised Capital 
Programme  

 
 

£’000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 280 171 451 

Housing Strategy - 56 56 

Resurfacing and Footpath Improvements - 70 70 

Vehicle Replacement Programme 215 63 278 

Town Centre Heritage Scheme 42 1,243 1,285 

Multi Use Games Area - 17 17 

Information Technology Refresh 170 13 183 

ICT Finance Upgrade via PSPS - 272 272 

NON TOWNS FUND PROJECTS 707 1,905 2,612 

Boston Town Deal – Accelerated Funding - 252 252 

Leisure 2,935 (86) 2,849 

Mayflower 720 102 822 

St Botolph’s Library - 222 222 

Centre for Food and Fresh Produce 
Logistics 453 

383 836 

Blenkin Memorial Hall 99 746 845 

Healing the High Street 283 29 312 

Boston Station 1,565 (3) 1,562 

TOWNS FUND PROJECTS 6,055 1,645 7,700 

GRAND TOTAL 6,762 3,550 10,312 

 

Recommendation: 
6 
 
7 

That Cabinet notes the 2021/22 capital position shown in Table 4 and agrees the changes required to the 
Capital Programme for 2022/23. 
That Cabinet Recommend to Council the carry forward of Capital Budget of £3.55m as detailed in Table 6. 

 

Section 2.4 – Treasury Management 

Investments at 31 March 2022 

During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy. 

Detailed in Table 7 are the investments held by the Council at 31st March 2022 excluding accrued interest.  Note this 

represents the position at this one point in time.  The peaks and troughs in cash flow are managed on a daily basis.  

Because the Council collects money on behalf of other organisations which are paid out at future dates (e.g. Council 

Tax and Business Rates) the value of investments held at any point in time does not represent the value of Boston’s 

own resources. 

Table 7 – Investments as at 31 March 2022 

Financial Institution Amount (£) Maturity Date Yield 

HSBC Bank  10,740,000 Instant Access  0.01% 

CCLA Money Market Fund  3,000,000 Instant Access   0.58% 

Barclays Bank 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.95% 

Lloyds Bank 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.10% 

Santander 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.55% 

Bank of Scotland  2,000,000 175-day notice 0.11% 

TOTAL 24,740,000   

 Page 114



APPENDIX A 
 

Maturity Structure at 31 March 2022 

Duration Amount (£) Percentage of Total 

Less than one week 13,740,000 30% 

Less than one month -   0% 

One to three months -   0% 

Three to six months 11,000,000 24% 

Six to nine months - 0% 

Nine to twelve months - 0% 

More than twelve months 20,989,786 46% 

 

The Council has purchased property fund units and the table below provides a breakdown in relation to the purchase 

of these units: 

Fund Date of 
Purchase 

Net Asset 
Value at Date 
of Purchase 

£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
% 

Total Cost 
 
 

£ 

Black Rock UK Property 
Fund  

 

 

05/08/16 
30/12/16 
28/09/18 

TOTAL 

255,085 
255,085 

3,945,592 
4,455,762 

(5,102) 
(5,103) 
54,449 
44,244 

(2.00) 
(2.00) 
1.38 
0.99 

249,983 
249,982 

4,000.041 
4,500,006 

Schroder UK Real Estate 
Fund 

05/08/16 
03/09/18 

TOTAL 

250,000 
4,020,006 
4,270,006 

- 
(20,000) 
(20,000) 

 

- 
(0.50) 
(0.47) 

250,000 
4,000,006 
4,250,006 

Threadneedle Property 
Unit Trust 

31/08/16 
31/08/18 
28/09/18 
31/10/18 

TOTAL 

263,549 
2,902,441 

483,966 
483,930 

4,133,886 

(13,177) 
86,572 
16,116 
16,357 

105,868 

(5.00) 
2.98 
3.33 
3.38 
2.56 

 

250.372 
2,989,013 

500,082 
500,287 

4,239,754 

M&G Investments UK 
Property Fund 

 
14/09/18 

 
3,911,980 

 
88,020 

 
2.25 

 
4,000,000 

AEW UK Core Property 
Fund 

 
31/10/18 

 
3,745,319 

 
254,681 

 
6.80 

 
4,000,000 

TOTAL  20,516,953 472,813 2.30 20,989,766 

Page 115



APPENDIX A 

Property Fund Investments as at 31st March 2022 

 

The Projected Annualised Distribution Yield is the projected yield for the year based on dividends already received during the current financial year.  

The 2021/22 Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss is the projected gain/loss in the capital value of the fund since the start of the financial year calculated by 

reference to the change in the Net Asset Value from 31 March 2021 to the period end. 

The estimated combined return is the total of the Projected Dividend Distribution Yield and the Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss. 
Please note that this is the position as at 31 March 2022 and the capital values will fluctuate year on year. 

Financial Institution Purchase 
Cost 
(£) 

Estimates 
Revenue 
Received 

2021/22 (£) 

Projected 
Annualised 
Distribution 

Yield 
2021/22 

 

Net  Asset 
 Value  

(£) 

Total 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 
Purchase (£) 

2021/22 
Annual 
Gain/ 
(Loss) 

(£) 

2021/22 
Annualised 

Fund Capital 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 1/4/21 

2021/22 
Estimated 
Combined 

Return 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  4,500,006 127,996 2.95% Estimate 5,191,286 691,280 787,809 14.81% 17.76% 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  4,250,006 132,465 3.22% Estimate 4,903,231 653,225 648,380 15.23% 18.45% 

Threadneedle Property Unit 
Trust 

4,239,754 163,473 3.96% Estimate 4,476,361 236,607 
646,040 

 
16.87% 20.83% 

M&G Investments 

UK Property Fund 
4,000,000 131,012 2.49% Estimate 3,699,460 (300,540) 221,662 6.37% 8.86% 

AEW UK Core Property Fund  4,000,000 155,301 3.49% Estimate 4,065,606 65,606 539,619 15.30% 18.79% 

         

TOTAL 20,989,766 710,247  22,335,944 1,346,178 2,843,510   

P
age 116



APPENDIX A 

An analysis of dividend distributions received and borrowing costs incurred since the purchase of the property funds to 31 March 2022 can be found in the 

table below: 

 

Financial Institution Actual   Dividend 
Distributions 
Received Pre 

2021/22 

Budgeted 
Distribution  
for 2021/22 

Estimated 
Dividend 

Distributions 
Received 2021/22 

Total 
Distributions 

Received Since 
Purchase 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  400,232 159,997 135,025 535,257 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  336,300 159,998 142,395 478,695 

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust 467,273 178,005 169,123 636,396 

M&G Investments UK Property Fund  342,569 120,000 115,993 458,562 

AEW UK Core Property Fund 441,967 144,000 181,001 622,968 

Total Revenue 1,988,341 762,000 743,537 2,731,878 

Borrowing Costs   (903,772) (382,389) (382,389) (1,286,161) 

Net Revenue Position 1,084,569 379,611 361,148 1,445,717 

P
age 117



APPENDIX A 
Return on Investments 

The Council’s 2021/22 budget for investment income is £820k. At the end of March 2022 investment income earned 

was approximately £775k which was £45k below the profiled budget. 

Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.133% compared to the benchmark average 3-month SONIA rate 

of 0.087%. 

Property fund investments are estimated to have achieved an estimated average rate of 3.542%. 

The combined rate achieved on all investments was estimated to be approximately 1.74%. 

Borrowing 

The Council has £15.449m of external PWLB borrowing as per the table below. 

 

Entity Amount (£) Start Date Maturity Date Rate 

Public Works Loan Board 10,000,000 10/12/2018 10/12/2068 2.54% 

Public Works Loan Board   4,000,000 13/12/2018 13/12/2068 2.42% 

Public Works Loan Board 
 

  1,449,000 27/03/2019 27/03/2069 2.18% 

TOTAL 15,449,000   2.475% 

Average 

 

Interest costs for 2021/22 on this borrowing are £382,388. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



APPENDIX A 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates 

PWLB borrowing rates have risen in March in line with the Bank of England Base rate rise to 0.75% on 17th March. 

There was a fall in PWLB rates in the days leading up to Financial Year End and as at 31st March 2022 the 50 year 

PWLB certainty rate was 2.05%. The PWLB increase since December 2021 reflects the inflationary pressures in the 

economy due to the Ukraine war, utility price increases and wage growth pressure. The temporary fall in PWLB rates 

w/c 28th March most likely relates to Year End and funding needs as at 31st March. 

 

Summary 

Interest rates rose but remained historically low during March 2022.  The Bank of England Base Rate rose from 
0.50% to 0.75% in March. Market expectations are for further rate hikes during 2022/23 and at the time of writing 
this report it had already increased to 1.25%. With the economy growing post pandemic, focus for the MPC will 
firmly be on tackling inflationary pressures. Retail Prices Index inflation was at 7% at the end of the financial year and 
at the time of writing this report had increased to 11.7% for May 22 with the added pressure on utilities and grain 
from the war in Ukraine.  
 
Rates on new investments with financial institutions and local authorities now range from 1.20% for one-month 
deposits through to 2.75% for one-year deposits. One year deposit rates have risen sharply, reflecting the Base rate 
rise to 1.25% and the market sentiment that rates will continue to rise to fight inflation. 
 
PWLB borrowing rates have risen during March. PWLB rates, especially long dates such as 50yrs, have risen due to 
inflationary concerns. The energy/oil price rises combined with the wage growth pressure in the UK economy are 
having a large impact on inflation indexes. The PWLB Rates dropped at the end of March but these have 
subsequently increased in the first quarter of the 2022/23 financial year and currently stands at 3.37% for a 50 year 
maturity loan. 
 
Risks prevail in the financial markets and are subject to a continued high level of scrutiny with any significant issues 
arising being reported to the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee. Changes to credit ratings of financial 
institutions are monitored daily and where required reported to the Section 151 Officer for an agreed course of 
action to be taken. 
 

Page 119



APPENDIX A 
Section 2.5 – Insurance 

2021/22 Claims Statistics 

Table 8 details the number of formal insurance claims for Quarter 4 of 2021/22 (figures in brackets are comparable 

figures for 2020/21). 

 

Table 8 – Insurance Claims 

 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total 

Public Liability 0(1) 1(1) 1(2) 2(0) 4(4) 

Employers Liability 0(1) 0(0) 1(0) 1(0) 2(1) 

Motor 1(1) 2(1) 2(2) 5(1) 10(5) 

Property 0(0) 0(0) 0(1) 0(0) 0(1) 

Officers Indemnity 0(0) 0(0) 0(2) 0(1) 0(3) 

Total 1(3) 3(2) 4(7) 8(2) 16(14) 

 

Insurance Reserves 

The Council maintains an insurance reserve for smaller value insurance claims where the losses are below the 

principal deductible of £25,000.   

At the end of 2021/22 the balance on the reserve was £260k, and this balance is monitored on a regular basis to 

ensure that the value of the reserve is sufficient to meet future liabilities. 

 

Section 2.6 – Debt Collection 

An analysis of the sundry debts the Council held as at 31 March 2022 is show in Table 9. 

Table 9 – Sundry Debt Analysis 

0-30 days 
 

£ 

31-60 days 
 

£ 

61-90 days 
 

£ 

91-120 
days 

 
£ 

121-183 
days 

£ 

184-365 
days 

£ 

Over 365 
days 

£ 

Total 
 

£ 

279,518 68,596 19,808 13,093 86,712 95,195 210,234 773,156 

 

Note: This does not include details of invoice amounts (£656,138) that are not yet due 

 

Section 2.7 – Council Tax and Business Rates 

Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) 

Following the statutory annual review during 2020/21, the 2021/22 scheme remains unchanged from the previous 

year, allowing for national up-ratings.  This scheme continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda 

to bring further reductions to the national benefits bill. The scheme sustains the required protection of those of 

pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment.  

Quarter 4 collection rate remains lower than pre-covid.  The Council Tax Support caseload is now lower than pre-

covid levels. There remains some uncertainty of the overall ongoing impact on collection and recovery as a result of 

covid.  In recognition, we continue to remain prudent in setting the bad debt provision in this area. 

Page 120



APPENDIX A 
Council Tax – Quarter 4 In-Year Collection 

The collectable debit for 2022/23 was £38m with a collection rate of 94.01% achieved at 31 March 2022 (94.23% at 

31 March 2021). 

 

Business Rates 

Table 10 – 2021/22 Business Rates Retention 

 

Base Estimate 
included in 

2021/22 budget 
£ 

Forecast position 
at 31 March 2022 

 
£ 

(Surplus)/Deficit 
in 2021/22 – will 

impact next year’s 
budget 

£ 

Non Domestic rating income for the year (20,507,213) (16,080,480) 4,426,733 

Less: LCC share (10% for 21/22) 2,050,721 1,608,048 (442,673) 

Less: Government Share (50% for 21/22) 10,253,607 8,040,240 (2,213,367) 

Boston Borough Council’s income (excluding 
renewables) (40% for 21/22) 

(8,202,885) (6,432,192) 1,770,693 

 

The position in Table 10 shows a large deficit against the base estimate, the main reason for this is the retail discount 

offered by the government in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to assist retailers. This discount is reimbursed 

by the government however due to the way the Collection Fund is accounted for the income is received in 2021/22 

but the Business Rates deficit will not be seen in the Council’s accounts until 2022/23. As a result of this £1.8m of 

additional income was received in 2021/22 and this has been transferred into reserves at the end of the financial 

year for use in the 2022/23 budget. The difference between this income and the deficit above is due to a reduction 

in gross rates across all businesses which is being closely monitored. 

 

Business Rates Appeals 

Except in certain circumstance, new appeals can no longer be made against the 2010 list. 

As at 31 March 2022 the Rateable Value amount for properties under appeal in 2010 list (excluding multiple appeals 

for the same property) was £2.1m, relating to 8 properties on the latest list of outstanding appeals. 94% of this value 

comes from just 1 property and does present some significant risk to the overall level of collectable debit should 

these appeals be successful, leading to significant reductions in rateable value. The appeals provision (£1.660m) is 

considered sufficient to cover the potential impact of these appeals. 

Business Rates – 2021/22 In-Year Collection 

The collectable debit for 2022/23 was £17.3m with a collection rate of 94.08% achieved at 31 March 2022 (95.82% at 

31 March 2021).  Due to the continued application of some COVID related additional reliefs in 2021/22 the 

collectable debit remains lower than usual.  This makes comparison to pre-covid collection rates less meaningful. 

 

The Covid Additional Relief Fund (CARF) scheme will provide rate relief support against 2021/22 financial year for 

businesses impacted by covid but who have not been supported through other relief schemes.  This relief will be 

awarded in June 2022. 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	3 UK SHARED PROSPERITY UPDATE (UKSPF) INVESTMENT PLAN
	Appendix 1 - UK SHared Prosperity Fund - Draft Investment Plan
	Appendix 2 - Summary Boston UKSPF Consultation Report 002

	4 CULTURAL FRAMEWORK FOR INVESTMENT
	Appendix A - Cultural Framework for Renewal
	Appendix B -  NPO Briefing

	5 GENERAL FUND REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2021/22
	Appendix A - Outturn Report 2021-22


